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xv

A Note on Access

This book embodies a commitment to access, to conveying content 
with as few barriers as possible. Access is a practice, not a checklist. It is 
innovative, dynamic, and imperfect. To cultivate access:

• I intentionally use accessible language rather than technical terms to 
invite a wide range of readers. 

• In cooperation with the publisher and designer, a sans serif typeface 
was chosen to maximize legibility. 

• Committed is available in multiple formats: ebook, paper, and 
audiobook. 

• The ebook is offered for free, in recognition that financial cost also 
creates barriers. 

• Alt-text appears in the ebook version to convey transcriptions of 
photographed correspondence. 

• I also include plentiful visual descriptions of images in the 
captions and body of the book as a more inclusive option for 
access to the imagery across all formats. 

The access practices in Committed hopefully reduce common obstacles 
to engaging with historical scholarship. At the same time, I recognize 
that access is an incomplete process, in general and in this book. I hope 
that this work ultimately serves as an appeal to others to cultivate more 
accessible histories and more accessible futures.
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1

Introduction: Committed

The story comes around, pushing at our brains, and soon 
we are trying to ravel back to the beginning, trying to put 
families into order and make sense of things. But we start 
with one person, and soon another and another follows, 
and still another, until we are lost in the connections.
—Louise Erdrich (Turtle Mountain Band of Chippewa 
Indians), The Bingo Palace

Saturday, May 29, 1915, began like most other days for Elizabeth and Jesse 
Faribault. Summer had started off cold and wet, but the land in South Dakota 
had thawed enough to put seed in the ground.1 The Sisseton-Wahpeton Da-
kota couple prepared for the day: Jesse, heading to work their farmland with 
eldest son Solomon, left Elizabeth at their home with their two youngest chil-
dren, Howard and Annie. But when Jesse returned with Solomon at the end 
of the day, Elizabeth was gone, and his daughter and son were there alone.

It is unclear how long it took Elizabeth’s husband to discover that she had 
been forcibly removed from the Faribaults’ home by representatives of the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA).2 They had taken her to Canton, South Dakota, 
where the federal government operated a psychiatric institution specifically 
intended to contain Native Americans.3

Once Jesse learned that Elizabeth was incarcerated at the Indian Asylum, 
he immediately reached out to kin and others to seek her release. John Noble, 
a lawyer hired by the family months into her detention, surmised that the 
Sisseton woman had been institutionalized because of an altercation with 
a BIA agent earlier in May. As Noble explained to the commissioner of In-
dian Affairs, Elizabeth had appeared at the local agency office, which was 
about a mile from her home, “clad only in a ‘camisole’ and did some vulgar 
talking.”4 According to Jesse, Elizabeth “was only drunk” at the time. Noble 
challenged the justifications for taking the thirty-two-year-old mother from 
her home. “There were no known proceedings had to establish insanity in 
this case,” the legal advocate argued, and Jesse, being away from the house 
at the time, was unable to prevent the wrongful intrusion into their home and 
life. Consequently, Faribault’s lawyer reasoned, Elizabeth should be returned 
immediately to her family.5

BIA representatives at Sisseton described their confrontations in 1915 
with Elizabeth Faribault this way: she was “violently insane” and ran “amuck 
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near [the] agency” but resided “on patented land.” According to a clerk, Fari-
bault had “threaten[ed] to kill” and caused “great anxiety.”6 A telegram from 
headquarters in Washington, D.C., informed agency officials that medical 
examinations were required to declare a reservation Indian insane. A swift 
reply came from Sisseton on May 12: “Agency physician pronounces Eliza-
beth Faribault allotted Sisseton Indian insane. Wire authority to place her in 
government or other insane asylum at government expense.”7 That authority 
was granted the next day. Two weeks later, on May 29, an agency doctor and 
police officer went to the Faribault home and removed Elizabeth to the fed-
eral asylum in Canton. U.S. government reports generated months afterward 
suggested that the Dakota woman had “hallucinated” and was “delusional 
probably due to use of alcohol.”8

No other records remain to explain what did or did not actually occur 
between May 8 and May 29.9 Faribault’s medical files over the next thirteen 
years show various diagnoses along with wide-ranging justifications for sus-
taining her institutionalization: Materially deteriorated. Incapable of looking 
after herself. Alcoholic. Chronically insane. Duplicitous. Eugenically unfit. 
Depressed and emotional. Abusive of Asylum privileges. Better off at the 
institution.

The story of what happened to Elizabeth Faribault and to her kin before, 
during, and after her internment reveals violent entanglements of settler 
colonialism, racism, ableism, and sexism. These forces continue to shape 
and distort histories of Native nations and families. While distinctive in many 
ways, the Faribault family’s story is not unique. Their history, and those of 
other Indigenous people confined at the Indian Asylum and other federal 
psychiatric facilities, is inextricably tied to broader stories of Native self- 
determination, kinship, institutionalization, and remembering.10 These 
stories constitute the heart of this book.

Messy and incomplete, the individual and family accounts that span the 
following chapters are not intended to coalesce into neat patterns. Their 
disorderliness is not without meaning or purpose, however. Following 
microhistories—the focused study of personal lives—enables us to understand 
better the consequences of settler colonialism, ableism, and institutionaliza-
tion, among other broad transgenerational forces. People’s lived stories also 
hold within them the potential to create, challenge, maintain, shape shift, and 
destroy. As Michi Saagiig Nishnaabeg scholar Leanne Betasamosake Simp-
son contends, stories provide resources for community and survival. Because 
of this, “storytelling is like air,” she insists. “It’s that important—especially 
as a tool of decolonization and transformation. Stories have spirit and power  
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and come to us as small gifts of wisdom, but they only have power if the ones 
that hear those stories embody them and act.”11

This book is called Committed, a title that embodies multiple meanings, 
all of which are found in this story. “Committed” entails dedication: Activ-
ists are committed to their causes; they are committed activists. It also can 
involve perpetration of crimes or misdeeds, as when someone commits an 
act of violence. In institutional contexts, confinement and loss of autonomy 
come to mind: Elizabeth Faribault and hundreds of others were committed to 
the Indian Asylum in South Dakota. And “committed” expresses the action 
of witnessing, transferring, or documenting, as when someone commits a 
story to memory.

Early in the research process for this book, I imagined that it would cen-
ter on community histories within the Canton Asylum. A phone conversa-
tion with writer Pemina Yellow Bird (Mandan/Hidatsa/Arikara) lingers in 
my memory. We had been discussing the unequal power dynamics between 
those who built, worked for, and protected asylums and those who were held 
in them involuntarily. Pemina challenged my use of the term “inmate” in this 
context. I explained that the word “patient” seemed wholly inappropriate, 
given the violence of the Indian Asylum and my desire to work against the 
eclipsing influence of Western biomedical frameworks. “How about calling 
them people?” she asked. Silence echoed on the phone line as the distance 
between the terms “inmate” and “people” sunk in. I am thankful to Pemina 
and to many others for the ways they remind all of us that this is fundamen-
tally a story of people. Their insight underscores a final meaning of “commit-
ted” that is tied to relationships—between people, the broader world around 
us, and to the ways we remember and respond to the connections we form 
with others.

When Elizabeth Faribault was forcibly removed to a place two hundred 
miles away from the Sisseton Reservation in 1915, she crossed a thresh-
old into a distinctly institutional space—the Canton Asylum—and into a 
distinctly non-Native process: institutionalization. Tall wire fencing fortified 
the grounds. The Asylum’s sweeping brick and concrete Main Building con-
veyed order and control under U.S. settler sovereignty.12 From its opening in 
December 1902 until its forced closure in January 1934, the BIA-run Canton 
Asylum detained nearly four hundred people from more than fifty Indigenous 
nations. Canton confined children, adults, and elders, spouses and neigh-
bors, cousins and classmates, healers and parents.
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No medical records remain to describe Elizabeth’s formal admission to 
Canton. Likely, she and her escorts were met at the Main Building by Asylum 
staff. It is possible that Dr. Harry R. Hummer, serving as both Asylum super-
intendent and sole physician, conducted a brief examination of the Dakota 
woman. Afterward she would have been led to a sex-segregated ward on 
the second floor, perhaps exchanging glances with other women and girls 
housed along the hall. During Faribault’s confinement in this federal facility, 
she was forced to provide labor on behalf of the institution, including care-
work and other domestic service to Superintendent Hummer’s family. Twice 
she escaped the Asylum grounds but was captured and returned. Faribault 
would spend the remainder of her life held in Canton’s bounded geography.

Native Self-Determination and Settler Colonialism

As the Faribault family and many others experienced it, institutionalization 
at Canton violated their Native nation’s as well as their individual family’s 
self-determination.13 Many Native American and Indigenous studies scholars 
have drawn our attention to ongoing processes that attack Indigenous au-
tonomy. An offspring of imperialism, settler colonialism involves interlocking 
structures—political, economic, and cultural—that seek to transform colo-
nized places into the settler’s home. Fundamental to this systematic practice 
is the removal and supplanting of Indigenous peoples. As anthropologist 
Patrick Wolfe has explained, “Settler colonialism destroys to replace.”14 The 
creation of the Indian Asylum, and the disruption institutionalization and 
sustained confinement wrought in the Faribault family and hundreds of oth-
ers, fit these broader patterns of settler colonialism.

Settler colonialism also entails the drive for profit and the extraction of 
resources. The economic gains that Canton Asylum provided to mostly 
non-Native staff members and local businesses embodies this typical settler 
practice.15 Repeated thefts of Native land, of people, and of cultural artifacts 
crossed generations with cumulative effect.16 These and other forms of vio-
lence fray national and kinship connections.

Settler colonialism directly involves contests over self-determination. In 
U.S. history, sovereignty is generally presumed to be self-evident: The United 
States is a sovereign nation. In contrast, Indigenous self-determination is 
denied in a variety of ways, including how Native North American history fre-
quently is told. Military conquest, forced displacements, missionary efforts, 
and reservation policies are some of the more overt forms of settler attacks 
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on Indigenous self-determination.17 Both land and people bore its mark.18

The U.S. government’s Indian Asylum and the people whose lives intersected 
with it is a microcosm of these larger forces.19

Indigenous studies scholar Linda Tuhiwai Smith (Ngāti Awa and Ngāti 
Porou, Māori) and others have shown that settler colonial tactics also have 
more subtle expressions.20 Some of the many ways settler colonialism sat-
urates North American history and contemporary society include erasing 
American Indians from mainstream U.S. historical accounts and renaming 
places and communities to align with settler viewpoints and values.21 So, 
too, are the imposing logics that primarily cast Native people as inherently 
dependent wards and settlers as primarily benevolent humanitarians.

Most archival sources about Canton Asylum and its confined members 
reflect battles over self-determination. For example, the majority of preserved 
historic documents—Asylum annual reports, medical files, BIA correspon-
dence, and the like—were generated by U.S. government representatives and 
Western medical practitioners. The viewpoints expressed in these archival 
materials by superintendents, physicians, commissioners, and other authors 
underscore their position as well-intentioned and expert authorities over In-
digenous people. This particular worldview similarly permeated most pub-
lished and public historical depictions throughout the twentieth century. More 
recent books and scholarly articles, as well as mainstream U.S. newspaper 
accounts, increasingly acknowledge widespread abuse at the Indian Asylum. 
At the same time, these studies remained anchored to popular white settler 
frameworks, which individualize injustices, emphasize the exceptional, and 
overlook systemic inequities.22 Of these accounts, the majority spotlight the 
story of an institution heralded in the mainstream press during its existence 
as “the first and only one of its kind.” Such institutional biographies especially 
foreground administrative matters and the tenures of its two superinten-
dents, former South Dakota member of Congress Oscar S. Gifford (1902–8) 
and Dr. Harry R. Hummer (1908–33).23 The abundant evidence of physical and 
sexual assaults as well as disease and high mortality rates, among other trou-
bling facets of life on the inside at Canton, similarly are portrayed as individual 
and exceptional—the failings of specific people in discrete circumstances.24

Self-Determination and Telling Histories

Attention to settler colonialism and Indigenous self-determination redirects 
historical interpretation. Committed resists a view of time and place dictated 
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by a singular institution’s material opening and closing. In other words, the 
story does not begin with the creation of Canton Asylum or follow the linear 
history of government policies or the rise of particular medical specialties 
and treatments. Rather, there are multiple origins and multiple centers to 
this story, all of which emerge long before the U.S. government broke ground 
to build the Indian Asylum. This book also extends past the final days of 
Canton Asylum’s formal existence and into the twenty-first century, drawing 
attention to the larger issues and lived experiences that travel beyond indi-
vidual brick-and-mortar structures.

The long reach of sovereignty battles shapes the production and consump-
tion of history—what is preserved and passed down, how it is interpreted, 
and by whom. Usually, historians have little if any access to sources about 
institutionalized people. Remarkably, thousands of available documents re-
lated to Canton Asylum and to the people held there have been preserved 
in national and state archives across the United States. At the same time, 
their location, organization, and management obstruct tribal histories and 
sovereignties. Technically, all of the National Archives’ holdings on Canton 
Asylum are publicly available. In actuality, barriers abound. Only visitors who 
can travel to the collection sites and navigate archival labyrinths can engage 
directly with these materials. Most often this means that comparatively privi-
leged, non-Native researchers (like myself) have actual access. Other impedi-
ments permeate the collections. National Archives indexing labels reproduce 
settler dominance, privileging Western medical practices and practitioners 
over Indigenous ones. Most of the archival sources cited in this project are 
housed in the record group for the BIA and, specifically, are collected under 
the series title “Canton Asylum for Insane Indians.”25 The folders and boxes 
are organized by a pathologizing label: insane. Amid stacks of bureaucratic 
forms—bids for steam radiators, commitment requests by reservation super-
intendents, budget updates, and the like—are letters from American Indians 
seeking reunions with their kin and, occasionally, photographs of institution-
alized people. This means that it is not possible to locate Elizabeth Faribault’s 
handwritten letters by her name, family, or tribal affiliation. This is true of all 
the archived correspondence and testimonies by Canton’s institutionalized 
people and their relatives. Dislocated from many of their intended recipients 
and separated literally and symbolically from relatives and tribes, these doc-
uments remain mostly unavailable to those for whom the materials are part 
of their family and Indigenous nation’s history. The absence of common pri-
vacy measures for medical records and other details about institutionalized 
people similarly undercuts tribal self-determination. What and how much to 
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reveal remains an ethical challenge for those with access to these sources 
and the intimate information they contain.26

Many terms used in Committed come directly from the American Indian 
people around whom this work has grown. For example, correspondence 
written by kin and the people confined at the Indian Asylum, including Eliz-
abeth Faribault, consistently refer to the place that detained them as the 
“Indian Asylum,” “Indian Insane Asylum,” “Asylum,” and “Canton Asylum.” 
I’ve followed their lead in using these terms. The grammar, spelling, and 
other features of writing in texts created by any of the Native writers also 
intentionally have not been edited. This is in recognition of the ways the En-
glish language has been used to undermine Indigenous self-determination. 
As much as possible, contextual explanations and interpretations of these 
quoted materials will be included, recognizing that some of the distance 
between the authors and myself cannot be fully bridged.

When the U.S. government named its institution the Canton Asylum for In-
sane Indians, it followed a settler logic that grouped all Native people together 
as if “Indian” was a singular identity. In related ways, broad terms like “Amer-
ican Indian,” “Native American,” and “Indigenous people” are inherently lim-
ited. Every Native nation has distinctive characteristics, life worlds, and history, 
so a person’s specific tribal affiliation, when known, will be noted in this ac-
count. The terms “American Indian,” “Native American,” and “Indigenous 
peoples” generally will be used in broader contexts. Each of these labels carry 
different legacies and valences and are not presumed to be interchangeable. 
Instead, all of these terms will be invoked as a way to reflect the varied prefer-
ences of the people whose family stories appear across the following chapters.

Sovereignty, as Native American studies scholar Amanda J. Cobb (Chicka-
saw Nation) has explained, also involves a living process and a story of peo-
plehood.27 Affirmation of Native self-determination and the ability to flourish 
and continue into the future are central to experiencing sovereignty. Letters, 
affidavits, and other writings from people incarcerated at the Indian Asylum 
and from their relatives speak to the challenges settler interventions caused 
in the lives of Indigenous people. Richly varied responses, dynamic stories 
of adaptation, resistance, setbacks, and continuance, shine through these 
accounts, showing the endurance of Indigenous identities, relationships, 
and self-determination.

Hospital records created months after her entrance to the Indian Asylum 
report that Elizabeth Faribault was diagnosed with “Intoxication psychosis.”28
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Other pathological labels appear across her medical records, such as “de-
mentia,” “dementia praecox” (schizophrenia), “alcoholic deterioration,” and 
“possibly trachoma” (an infectious eye disease) that made her “very greatly 
depressed and emotional.”29 BIA and Asylum representatives regularly in-
voked these terms as part of their rationale for keeping her separated from 
her relatives in Sisseton. Throughout the archival record, Faribault, and to 
some degree her family, were cast as a medicalized individual “case.” In 
contrast, BIA and Indian Asylum officials presented themselves as experts. In 
many institutional accounts, people confined at Canton and those associated 
with them regularly appear as concerned but misguided individuals.

For Elizabeth Faribault and her kin, pathological diagnoses obscured the 
violent disturbance of family and community life caused by her sustained 
exile. In one letter written in 1922 to Commissioner Charles Burke, for ex-
ample, the Sisseton woman emphatically states that Dr. Hummer had kept 
her unfairly at Canton. “I’ve been staying here in Asylum long enough.” At 
home, she pointed out, she could tend to her mother and her children, care 
that benefited the whole family.30 The details about Faribault’s diagnosis, and 
her own assertion that being home with her family would best support their 
collective well-being, point to radically different understandings of health.

Medical Systems and Systems of Power

Asylum and BIA staff consistently judged Elizabeth Faribault and everyone 
else in the locked wards based on one system of medicine: Western (allo-
pathic) biomedicine. At its core, this medical system centers on a concept 
of normalcy that is rooted in biology, evaluated according to function, and  
located in individual bodyminds.31 Following this system’s logic,  diagnoses—
understood as experts’ objective judgments—are borne by individuals 
alone. Achieving and sustaining normalcy is a primary goal in this practice. 
Consequently, cure (or its closest approximation) drives Western medical 
treatments.32 The power of this particular medical tradition in the twentieth 
and twenty-first centuries permeates not only the labels ascribed to each per-
son committed to Canton Asylum but also how these adults, children, and 
elders were treated at the time and remembered since. Western biomedicine 
is a dominating force but not a universal truth.

As the Faribault family and other Indigenous people have always known, 
there are many types of medicine, including numerous, distinct Indigenous 
practices and knowledge systems used across time to the present day.33
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Reflecting their individual Native nation’s worldviews, these healing tradi-
tions vary widely, but many—including that of the Great Sioux Nation, to 
which Elizabeth Faribault belonged—emphasize holistic concepts of well- 
being anchored to relationships with other living beings, the collective envi-
ronment, and spiritual realms.34 As many have written, the particular Western 
biomedical concepts of “insane” or “mentally ill” do not have full equivalents 
historically among Native nations’ systems of medicine and culture. More-
over, the practice of institutionalization runs counter to Indigenous values, 
relationships, and ways of being.35 Acknowledging various forms of healing 
conventions and the communities from which they emerge also expands 
the borders of recognized experts. Over the generations, people who inhabit 
this story have carried knowledge about the modes, impact, and meanings 
of medicine in both Indigenous and settler senses of the term.

Recognizing multiple medical systems within a broader context of settler 
domination undermines the projected objectivity and commonsense logic 
of Western biomedical diagnoses and institutionalization. As Elizabeth Fari-
bault and the many others detained at Canton experienced it, settler cultural 
values permeated medicalized judgments of them. The abundant examples 
varied in form and consequence. As just one illustration, Asylum officials and 
other settler medical professionals pathologized correspondence by Fari-
bault and other Native people written in nonstandard English, justifying sus-
tained confinement based on grammar and language. The mostly first- and 
second-generation Norwegian immigrant staff at Canton similarly described 
the Indigenous spoken communication they encountered as signs of disor-
dered minds.36 The differences between Western and Indigenous medical 
traditions and the many factors shaping judgments of peoples’ bodyminds 
challenges us to grapple genuinely with texts generated by individuals whom 
the state literally deemed incompetent. When a wide range of sources is 
seen as valid, including those that are invalidated by pathologization, our 
understanding and telling of history changes.

Acknowledging multiple sovereignties and systems of medicine resists what 
American studies scholar Jessica Cowing calls “settler ableism.”37 Ableism is 
a system of power and privilege that hierarchically organizes people and soci-
eties based on particular cultural values of productivity, competitive achieve-
ment, efficiency, capacity, and progress.38 Ableism appears in many forms, 
including social relations, institutions, and policies; its expressions include 
prejudices, discrimination, violence, and stereotyping.39 By imposing settler 
forms of medicine and knowledge practices, settler ableism actively serves 



10 i n t r o d u c t i o n

and reflects broader colonial principles and aspirations. Beliefs in superior-
ity and practices of domination—inherent aspects of settler colonialism— 
regularly invoke ableist logics. Through the lenses of normality, fitness, and 
competency, settlers have judged Indigenous people and nations. Histori-
cally, settlers have interpreted Native people’s unwillingness or inability to 
conform to colonial ideals, such as individuality, heterosexuality, and mate-
rialism, as indications of inherent deficiencies or defects.40 Ultimately, settler 
ableism is a self-affirming mechanism; ableist rationales reinforce settler 
aspirations and further actions.41

Settler colonial understandings of diagnosis have long served as a tool to 
undermine Indigenous people. Medical specialists and social scientists his-
torically have imposed settler values when judging concepts and experiences 
from other cultures, creating and enforcing pathologies in the process.42 As 
Geoffrey Reaume and many other disability studies scholars have argued, 
psychiatric categories are themselves cultural creations and reflect distinct 
historical ideas rooted in racism and sexism.43 Building on these insights, I 
intentionally use labels such as “Western biomedical diagnosis” rather than 
simply “medicine” in order to reflect particular interpretations, processes, 
and relationships. This book also resists settler colonialism’s gravitational 
pull to “rationalize or normalize suffering and trauma.”44 Rather than using 
a lens of individual pathology, collective suffering is considered within con-
texts of multigenerational kinship, settler ableism, institutionalization, and 
Indigenous self-determination.45

The terms that have been imposed, claimed, lived, and contested reflect 
a disorderly past—and present. Many descendants of people institutional-
ized at Canton have shared wrenching confusion about their relatives: Were 
they whatever the BIA and Asylum superintendents said they were?  Others 
flatly reject Western pathological labels but live with the cross-generational 
trauma and wounds of settler medical interventions.46 Some actively claim 
their institutionalized kin, seeking paths of healing for themselves and 
their ancestors. I have also met people who, until recently, never knew they 
had family held at Canton: separation, isolation, and stigma, among other 
factors,  contributed to the nearly full erasure of the person from their original 
homes and communities.

In the end, Committed does not and cannot answer whether anyone “was” 
or “was not” whatever the diagnoses in medical files and institutional reports 
suggest. Instead, I intend to reflect on how U.S.-imposed Western biomedical 
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diagnoses, the diagnostic process, and the impact of these pathologized la-
bels shaped many Native people’s lived experiences and those of their kin.

In the fall of 1926, eleven years into her detainment, Elizabeth Faribault gave 
birth to a girl, whom she named Cora Winona. At the time of delivery, Super-
intendent Hummer explained the breach of Asylum policy to his supervisors 
as an indication of her mother’s inherent defects. “Her statement to the ef-
fect that she would not have gotten into this condition if I had permitted her 
to return to her home and people is a fair index of the character of her men-
tality,” he told the commissioner of Indian Affairs.47 Despite demands from 
Elizabeth’s mother, Mary Alexis (Sisseton-Wahpeton Dakota), that her kin 
be discharged, both her daughter and granddaughter remained at Canton.

We know little about the lives of mother and child over next two years. 
Brief notes suggest daily activities inside the Indian Asylum: Elizabeth dress-
ing and feeding her daughter, brushing her hair. The elder Faribault also 
performed work not long after giving birth, cleaning the ward in addition to 
providing childcare. As Cora began walking, the pair sometimes spent time 
on the grounds, within the shadow of their locked dormitory. Conversations, 
likely in Dakota, threaded across their waking hours. At night the mother 
and daughter slept together in Elizabeth’s single bed, pulling closer to one 
another in the cold winter months. Their patterned routine ended abruptly 
eighteen months later. In March 1928, a staff member discovered Elizabeth 
Faribault’s lifeless body on the ward, the cause of her death clouded in uncer-
tainty. Cora Winona, then a toddler, remained at Canton for two more years.

Kinship

Kinship’s pivotal role in Native life and self-determination presents a differ-
ent lens through which to understand diagnoses and institutionalizations in 
history. The combined measures of diagnoses and treatments (institutional-
ization) affected extended families and Native nations as well as the pathol-
ogized people themselves. Contingent and contextual, kin relations—in all of 
their manifestations—have always varied in the ways they are expressed and 
experienced. As with Cora Winona Faribault, people around whom this story 
grows had many mothers, fathers, aunts, uncles, and cousins as well as sib-
lings and children. These kin relations did not and do not share connections 
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or bonds exclusively through white codifications, such as genetic inheritance 
or institutionally recognized marriages. Kin networks also actively include 
ancestors.48 Committed holds space for wide-ranging experiences of kin as a 
connection imbued with many meanings and obligations.49

As a foundational part of Indigenous identity, kinship has been targeted 
in settler colonial attacks on Native self-determination. BIA documents at-
test to this. Drawing on male dominance and heteronormative concepts of 
family, agency officials and Canton Asylum superintendents assigned specific 
roles to Indigenous people: references to mothers and daughters, siblings, 
and spouses appear regularly in medical records and officials’ correspon-
dence.50 Invoking these settler concepts as a criteria by which they judged 
others, U.S. authorities regularly ascribed pathological labels to explain why 
Native people did not conform to their expectations. These perceived famil-
ial connections contributed at least in part to their institutionalizations. As 
just one example, sisters from the Southern Ute Indian Tribe referred to as 
Jane and Susan Burch (no relation to the author) came under BIA scrutiny 
in 1910, when Jane had a child outside of marriage who died in infancy and 
Susan gave birth shortly thereafter to a son described as disabled. Linking the 
sisters’ perceived defectiveness to reproduction and their shared heredity, 
the Southern Ute Agency bureaucrat claimed that both women evidenced 
“insanity to some extent” and recommended that the siblings be forcibly 
committed to Canton.51 The pathologization of entire kin networks meant 
that some relatives were removed to the Indian Asylum at the same time; 
commonly, additional family members were institutionalized in subsequent 
years.52

According to archival records, dozens of Indigenous nations had mem-
bers stolen away to Canton, underscoring the compounded ramifications in-
stitutionalization had on kinship ties. For example, of the nearly four hundred 
people detained at the Indian Asylum, more than one hundred were mem-
bers of the Great Sioux Nation, people who would be both immediate and 
extended relatives of Elizabeth and Cora Winona Faribault. Some, like George 
Leo Cleveland Marlow, came from the same reservation as Elizabeth Fari-
bault. Their kin connections on the outside became more entwined during 
their shared incarceration; after divorcing Elizabeth in 1919, Jesse Faribault 
married Leo’s sister, Mary Marlow.53 Another Sisseton-Wahpeton member, 
Nellie Kampeska, likely had known and even socialized with Elizabeth’s chil-
dren before she was taken to Canton. On the inside, the two women claimed 
close bonds of kinship, providing care and support as well as other resources 
to sustain one another. Cora Winona Faribault was among the few infants to 
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survive the Asylum, in large part because of kinship obligations. In the wake 
of Elizabeth’s death, Lizzie Red Owl, a thirty-year-old Oglala Lakota woman, 
parented Cora, providing daily care and attempting to shield the little girl 
from institutional harms.

Seeking to understand people’s complicated lived experiences and the 
broader historical environments surrounding them has required looking 
beyond standard research archives. Phone conversations, oral history inter-
views, and correspondence with descendants of those detained at Canton, 
as well as with tribal leaders and activists, have provided critical, authorita-
tive knowledge in Committed. In particular, they vividly reveal the tensions 
between the long reach of institutionalizations and the tenacity of cross- 
generational kinship ties. Some people shared material artifacts with me, 
including beadwork, photographs, grave markers, piecework, clothing, 
and jewelry. These sources similarly hold stories unaccounted for in most 
archival documents—of artistry and childrearing, of empathy and symbols, 
of  committed kinship and the touch and temperatures of everyday life. Family 
members’ different types of storytelling additionally underscores a commit-
ment among Native communities to sustain and innovate their traditions.54

They also filled some of the historical absences with presence.
Over the years, some relatives of Canton’s institutionalized people al-

lowed me to visit their tribal lands, including those of Sisseton-Wahpeton  
Oyate (South Dakota); Prairie Band Potawatomi (Kansas); Standing Rock 
Sioux Tribe (North and South Dakota); Mandan, Hidatsa, and Arikara 
Nation (North Dakota); Rosebud Sioux Tribe (South Dakota); Menominee 
Nation (Wisconsin); Oglala Lakota Nation (South Dakota); and Bois Forte 
Band of Chippewa (Minnesota). These visits created different centers and 
spaces to this story. In homes and coffee shops, at tribal cultural centers 
and family cemeteries, and elsewhere, people whose family history inter-
sects with Canton made clear the powerful connections between places and 
meanings of their stories. Relationships to land, community, and home, 
they explained, centrally shape Indigenous identities, belongings and exiles, 
self-determination and wellness, erasure and remembering.55 I am indebted 
to many individuals with close personal ties to the people whose histo-
ries appear—often fragmented—in this work. Family members’ memories, 
questions, and understandings of their incarcerated kin and the conse-
quences of displacements on their lives have guided my understanding of 
this history.56
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Although the names of people held at the Canton Asylum are available to 
the public in various sources, this work only includes actual names in the 
cases when Tribal Historic Preservation officers or relatives have granted me 
permission to use them. This decision was guided by ethical considerations 
and attention to the histories of conquest, genocide, oppression, and dislo-
cation experienced by the people and communities described in this work, 
in addition to the ways that academic disciplines have contributed to this 
violence. Relatives of Elizabeth Alexis Faribault and others who figure cen-
trally in this book wanted me to use their ancestors’ names. Depending on 
what their kin remember about them, the names incorporated here might in-
clude Indigenous nicknames or formal ones, U.S.-English language glosses, 
U.S.-Christianized names, familial roles (like “grandmother” or “elder”), or 
a combination of one or more of these. Sometimes spellings of names, as 
with Elizabeth Alexis Faribault, vary in archival and family sources, including 
those written by relatives. Rather than enforce conformity, references will 
reflect these differences unless family members preferred a more consistent 
expression of names. Including qualifications such as “the person described 
in BIA documents as” also draws attention to the ways in which identities 
come from widely varied sources and carry different meanings in different 
contexts.

A “present absence” also circles around this cross-generational history.57

Some of the people I have met through this project allowed me to see pho-
tographs of their relatives, including those forcibly taken to Canton. Amid 
scrapbooks and framed portraits on living-room walls, family pictures from 
the early twentieth century, often in black and white, lock eyes with the out-
side viewer. Others capture day-to-day moments: lifespans unfolding in living 
rooms, backyards, and pow-wows, some during birthdays and anniversaries, 
with smiles flashing or eyes glancing away. Most of these images, and some 
of the stories, intentionally are not included in the pages that follow. Sim-
ilarly, actual names of some institutionalized people do not appear in the 
main text of this work. This is in deference to families’ wishes and in recog-
nition that not all knowledge is meant to be available to all people.

Engaging with kinship and historical storytelling ultimately presents 
opportunities for collective survivance—a process and practice, according 
to Anishinaabe literary critic-author Gerald Vizenor, rooted in resistance, 
transformation, and survival.58 As Vizenor explains: “Survivance is an active 
sense of presence, the continuance of native stories, not a mere reaction, 
or a survivable name. Native survivance stories are active repudiations of 
dominance, tragedy and victimry.”59 Survivance invokes mixing—of lived 
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histories and messy human understandings. Central to these stories are kin 
relations.60 Mutual support, generosity and sharing, and a belief and practice 
of interdependence—defining qualities of many Indigenous nations—stem 
directly from kinship.61 Affinity, relationship, and collective experience drive 
its meaning. Affirming interdependence and belonging, kin relations nourish 
survivance.62

Two years after the death of her mother, Cora Winona Faribault was trans-
ferred to the Good Shepherd Orphanage in Fort Defiance, Arizona. The four-
year-old would come of age among many Native children (mostly from Diné 
Nation) and under the firm supervision of Christian missionaries.63 Like 
many of her female peers, Cora Winona Faribault spent much of her youth 
in American Indian boarding schools and working in domestic trades, labor 
directly connected to educational policies and expectations. Faribault’s time 
in school ended early when her pregnancy was discovered by administra-
tors. The teenager spent the following year, 1945–46, as a “resident” in the 
Phoenix Florence Crittenton Home. Part of a national network established by 
Christian missionary-reformers, the Crittenton Homes provided shelter, vo-
cational training, and maternity and child care primarily for unwed mothers 
and other so-called fallen women.64

According to relatives, Cora Winona initially attempted to keep her first-
born child, but after months of struggle trying to secure work, childcare, 
and housing, she returned to the Phoenix Home. An employee apparently 
counseled her to complete paperwork relinquishing her parental rights. For 
several years afterward, her son lived in foster care until, at age five, he was 
adopted by a white family in Scottsdale.65 As with thousands of other Indig-
enous and non-Indigenous children separated from their birth families be-
tween World War II and the late 1960s, Cora Winona Faribault’s eldest child 
had no contact with his birth mother or her other children.66

Institutionalization

As Elizabeth and Cora Winona Faribault lived it, locked wards of a psychiatric 
asylum, mission classrooms, reservations and allotments, and Crittenton’s 
dormitories all shared the underlying feature of involuntary containment 
and were experienced as parts of broader institutional interventions to dis-
mantle Native families.67 Such institutions provided the built environment 
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buttressed by policies and practices to eliminate and replace fundamental 
aspects of Indigenous life, including child rearing, education, and caregiv-
ing.68 They also contributed to larger efforts to contain, unravel, and remake 
or erase communities and individuals through land, military, legal, and re-
ligious policies. In this way, institutionalization not only has an impact on 
those removed but also ripples through families, communities, and nations 
as well as across generations.69

Institutionalization—“the state of being placed or kept in a residential 
institution”—is an axis along which much of Committed travels.70 The Fari-
baults’ experiences of institutionalization, while profound, were unexcep-
tional. Elizabeth and Cora Winona inhabited locked wards that confined 
nearly four hundred people before Canton was closed in 1934. These lived 
realities reflect another meaning of institutionalization: “the action of estab-
lishing something as a convention or norm in an organization or culture.” 
For decades before, during, and after the Indian Asylum’s existence, many 
other settler institutions specifically targeted Native people. Institutional-
ization is unexceptional in the broader history of settler colonialism as well. 
Confining many groups of people for many reasons has long been an estab-
lished practice in the United States.71

Institutionalization takes numerous forms; one of them is incarceration. 
Involuntary confinement and intentionally limited agency and access com-
monly distinguish the material realities of incarceration from other kinds of 
institutionalization.72 Despite rhetoric and even intentions of settler human-
itarian medical care and concern, forced psychiatric confinement, like what 
the Faribaults and countless others have experienced, have always been—by 
design—carceral.73 In detailing lives of people consigned to the locked wards 
in South Dakota and elsewhere, Committed links medicalized incarceration 
to other forms of confinement over the past two centuries. This account 
also places the Indian Asylum within broader histories of institutionaliza-
tion, deliberately identifying commonalities between peoples’ histories with 
settler-supported medical facilities and other kinds of institutions, including 
boarding schools, orphanages, and reservations.

The experiences of Elizabeth and Cora Winona Faribault attest that his-
tories of institutionalized people often are histories of people experienc-
ing transinstitutionalization—the process of moving individuals from one 
variety of institution to another—as part of sustained containment, sur-
veillance, and slow erasure. This is a type of settler colonial removal. The 
process, practice, and lived histories of dislocations and confinements are 
dynamic, interlocking, and far reaching. Understanding institutionalization 
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and transinstitutionalization as processes, practices, and experiences links 
human stories that might otherwise seem unrelated. This reality generates 
questions about struggle, adaptation, kinship, and remembering. It points 
us toward sources not affiliated with particular institutions, such as Canton 
Asylum.

Institutionalization and transinstitutionalization also hold another 
meaning directly relevant to this story: the damage caused by being insti-
tutionalized, typically for extended periods of time.74 As some of the people 
incarcerated at the Indian Asylum detailed in letters and affidavits, life on the 
inside of Canton—like nearly all state-run psychiatric institutions—was filled 
with the crushing monotony of locked wards, stale air, overflowing toilets, 
and wails in the night.75 Other institutionalized people’s testimonies from 
this era describe an environment of isolation and vulnerability. Beatings and 
sexual assaults, tuberculosis epidemics, numerous deaths, and occasional 
births comprised interlocking patterns inherent in institutional life at the In-
dian Asylum. In his work on “total institutions,” including asylums, prisons 
and jails, boarding schools, military barracks, and monasteries and nunner-
ies, sociologist Erving Goffman drew attention to the material spaces marked 
by surveillance. Key features distinguished the phenomena of institutional-
ization: enforced isolation or sequestering, the loss of freedoms, and other 
human indignities.76 Many scholars have since built on this insight, showing 
how psychiatric institutions are particularly important locations for studying 
the lived realities of removal because of their establishment as privatized 
spaces within public domains.77 Their work and that of others often—and 
rightly—draw attention to the abuses common, even inherent, in such insti-
tutions. Some researchers have additionally detailed how displacement to 
multiple institutions over individual lifespans have cumulative, multigener-
ational impact.78 Committed explores the overlaps of all these definitions of 
institutionalization.

For Faith O’Neil (Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate)—Elizabeth Faribault’s grand-
daughter and Cora Winona’s daughter—kinship, institutionalization, and re-
membering reverberate across generations, regularly returning to the Indian 
Asylum. On May 17, 2015, O’Neil joined an annual honoring ritual initiated in 
the 1980s by Lakota journalist-activist Harold Iron Shield. She and other de-
scendants, friends, and observers arrived in Canton from all over the United 
States. They came by trains, cars, and planes. Many came in small or large 
groups; others arrived alone. Most, if not all, claimed one another as kin.
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The land on which they stood bore witness to the changes and continu-
ities since the Canton Asylum was shut down in early 1934. The train depot 
had since closed, and the fencing around the Asylum grounds was removed. 
A historic marker identifies the former facility, invoking its non-Native collo-
quial name: Hiawatha Asylum for Insane Indians. The recreation area over-
lapping much of the original campus shares the term too: the Hiawatha Golf 
Club.

Slowly, the group made its way along lightly paved walkways toward the 
wooden- fenced area. Acquaintances and kin nodded to one another and 
welcomed newcomers. A plaque facing inside identified the Asylum ceme-
tery. The registry of people listed reflects U.S. government interpretations: 
English, Christianized names or approximate English translations of Indig-
enous names.79 According to the cemetery ledger, 121 known individuals 
have been buried in this cemetery; Elizabeth Faribault is not among those 
listed. An archaeological study from 2015 indicated that more people are 

Dozens of people gather on a summer day in 1997 for a ceremony near the fenced Canton  

Asylum cemetery. Most sit in a large circle conversing. A large stone marker inside the fence  

acknowledges many ancestors buried there. Harold Iron Shield began organizing honoring  

ceremonies at the cemetery in the 1980s. Since then, there have been many formal and  

informal gatherings on the former asylum grounds. Photograph by Frank Robertson.  

Courtesy of the Argus Leader.



Faith O’Neil and Pete Alcaraz stand solemnly behind the Canton Asylum cemetery  

marker, 2015. O’Neil came to pay respects to her grandmother, Elizabeth Alexis  

Faribault, who was institutionalized at Canton from 1915 until her death in 1928.  

Courtesy of Faith O’Neil.
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interred there than identified. Faribault’s granddaughter Faith wondered 
aloud whether Elizabeth was nearby, present but unaccounted. She was both 
missing and missed.

For decades, Faith O’Neil has asked hard questions and sought their an-
swers: How did her grandmother Elizabeth die? Where is she buried? What 
happened to her own mother, Cora Winona, during her childhood at Canton 
and afterward? In recent years, O’Neil has scoured archives, historical publi-
cations, and the Sisseton Reservation, but her questions remain unresolved. 
Joining others to commemorate this incarcerated community opened a river 
of stories—of grief, yearning, honoring, connection, hope, remembering, 
and survival. For O’Neil and many others, visits to Canton embody a story 
within many stories, stretching back to earlier moments in order to make 
meaning of the present.

Remembering

Remembering their ancestors is a regular practice of kinship for Elizabeth 
Faribaults’ descendants, as it is for many people whose family history inter-
sects with Canton Asylum. As part of a living story, remembering shifts and 
transforms: incomplete, disorderly, continuing, surviving. For Faith O’Neil, 
as for most descendants, remembering nourishes relations, sometimes cre-
ating new ties, stories, and futures. Ancestors past and emerging remember 
one another.

Remembering—a process of recalling the past and of repopulating it—
activates this project too.80 Reciprocity is an integral part of remembering. In 
admittedly much smaller ways, sharing knowledge and resources from my 
research hopefully bridges some of the damaging holes wrought by med-
icalized forced removals and sustained confinement. Extensive citations 
are intended as invitations and access points, ways to continue research 
and learning about the histories and themes Committed explores. Providing 
copies of archival materials and drafts of this work to people whose kin 
were detained at Canton and other federal psychiatric institutions reflects a 
commitment to accountability as well as reciprocity. This is an active effort 
to honor those who appear in this book as well as the many others whose 
stories converge, if less obviously, in its pages. But it is not a neutral act. 
As Faith O’Neil and others have made clear, original sources and scholarly 
works that draw on them contain features that can wound as well as com-
fort.81 I am deeply grateful to the generosity of those who have collaborated 
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with, supported, corrected, and educated me. This interdependent process 
in no way mitigates an author’s accountability; I am responsible for all errors 
and missteps in this book.

In the end, Committed is not intended to provide a neutral or balanced ac-
count of history. As American Indian studies scholar K. Tsianina Lomawaima 
(Mvskoke/Creek Nation) contends, in the historical study of Native North 
America, “point and counterpoint are not evenly matched. We hope for a his-
torical account whose quality is not measured solely by the cubic volume of 
archival boxes or linear feet of library shelves devoted to its sources. Finding 
the overlooked, recovering what has been suppressed, and recognizing the 
unexpected requires excavation, rehabilitation, and imagination. All history 
does.”82

This particular practice of remembering is in some ways intentionally dis-
orderly, an effort to “disrupt the systematic functioning or neat arrangement 
of” historical work.83 My interest is less in the presumed veracity or truths of 
storytellings about particular institutions, individuals, or groups of people 
than it is in the many stories embedded within each. Exploring which stories 
have received more attention, and why, threads the chapters that follow.84

Admittedly, much remains unknown about the everyday lives referenced in 
Committed. There are messy, illegible, still-overlooked, and yearned-for sto-
ries that are absently present, inviting future remembering.
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Chapter 1: Many Stories, Many Paths

Our situation in the United States, as well as throughout 
the Western Hemisphere, is unique, for we are First 
Nations people, indigenous; we aren’t so much a political 
minority as we are displaced persons.
—Paula Gunn Allen (Laguna Pueblo, Sioux, 
and Lebanese), Off the Reservation

Over the time we have been here, we have built cultural 
ways on and about this land. We have our own respected 
versions of how we came to be. These origin stories—
that we emerged or fell from the sky or were brought  
forth—connect us to this land and establish our 
realities, our belief systems.
—Henrietta Mann (Northern Cheyenne)

In 2013, Bois Forte Chippewa historian Kay Davis traveled to Canton, South 
 Dakota, to join in an honoring ceremony. Her destination was the former 
grounds of the Canton Asylum for Insane Indians. Davis brought with her a 
handmade map. The names of every Native nation and each of their individ-
ual members stolen away to the Indian Asylum filled the white spaces along 
the western and northern edges, creating a framework, archive, and collec-
tive story. Below the printed text appeared the common outlines of individual 
states. Colored strands stretched between the lists of affiliated Indigenous 
people and their reservations’ geographic locations, transmitting the stories 
of people taken away and those to whom they belonged.

Focusing on the institutionalized people as members of Indigenous na-
tions, Davis’s map bore witness to the rippling, damaging impact of the 
Canton Asylum. At the same time, the collective names, strings, and home-
lands offered a counterstory, inverting settler boundaries and conquest with 
Indigenous centers and borders. Ancestors threaded in short and long lines 
to their kin, a tapestry stitched by trauma, defiance, and imagination. For 
Davis and others attending the ceremony, historic and contemporary threads 
held them to one another.1

Finding family members and their histories has united many people 
at the honoring ceremony. For Kay Davis, excavation and imagination be-
came a practice in her adolescence. She was sixteen when her mother  
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Bois Forte Chippewa Tribal Historian Kay Davis made this map sometime between 2010  

and 2014 to emphasize kinship ties and Indigenous identities of the people stolen away  

to the federal institution in Canton, South Dakota. Names of Native nations and their  

members institutionalized at the Indian Asylum frame the left side and top. Pins and  

colored string connect the tribal information to geographic locations of reservations on a  

standard map of the continental United States. Photograph by Jill Betancourt.  

Courtesy of Kristi Foreman.

finally admitted what others had long asserted: that she was Native Ameri-
can, born in an Indian Hospital to a father who was an enrolled member of 
the Bois Forte Band of Chippewa and a mother who was non-Native. Seeking 
to better understand her own identity and those of her Indigenous commu-
nity, Davis eventually took a job in the Bureau of Indian Affairs, specializing 
in genealogical work.2 Searching for a more complete account of her Bois 
Forte Band’s story ultimately drew her to the Canton Asylum. One of their 
members, Tom Floodwood, was forcibly taken to Canton on May 13, 1923. He 
died there four months later, on September 26.3 Drawing on her genealog-
ical expertise, Davis began writing short life stories for each known person 
confined at the Indian Asylum. In contrast to the U.S. government docu-
ments and most historical studies about the institution, Davis organized 
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her biographical project by Native nations. “For me, it is the people who 
went there and their Tribal affiliation,” she explained.4 Placing individuals 
within their Indigenous communities and emphasizing their kin connections 
to others, Kay Davis offered a different tale. The process, she pointed out, 
intentionally countered some of the corrosive effect of settler conquest.5 As 
in her own experience, much of these ancestors’ history has been lost to de-
scendants, weakening the ties to American Indian community and identity. 
Conducting genealogical research and sharing her findings has nourished 
some of those roots. Davis’s project embodies what Indigenous scholars, 
artists, and activists call “re-storying”: “retelling and imagining of stories that 
restores and continues cultural memories.”6

In this 2016 soft-focus portrait of Kay Davis, the eighty-year-old historian  

looks thoughtfully at the camera, an art piece hanging on the wall behind her.  

A commitment to family and Native self-determination propelled Davis’s research  

on people detained at Canton Asylum. Courtesy of Kristi Foreman.
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Reading Davis’s threaded map evokes re-storying. Scanning from the 
outer edges and across the chart, people’s histories of forced dislocations 
and a path to institutionalization emerge. Tracing from the various hubs out-
ward, stories before and long after the Asylum’s establishment rise up. The 
beginnings and ends of the strings emphasize peoples’ relations to places, 
to homes, and to Indigenous worlds. Confinement and sustained exile pull 
at the threads, as do refusals by kin to fully let go. Uneven and incomplete, 
haunted and haunting questions swirl around what is remembered and 
imagined about the people incarcerated at Canton Asylum.

As the tribal historian’s graphic representation illustrates, there are many 
centers to the lived stories of institutionalization at Canton. The constella-
tion of pins, strands, Native names, and places contain beginnings of sto-
ries that continue to unfurl to this day. European colonial conquest in the 
Americas since the 1500s offers another center that includes Indigenous 
peoples’ forced dislocations across the nineteenth century—brought about 
by war, hunger, profit, love, hope, epidemics, and genocide.7 Christian mis-
sions, boarding schools, prisons, orphanages, and insane asylums punc-
tuate this account. Broken treaties, wardship, and other attacks on Native 
self- determination pierce like barbed knots at every turn.

Sharing her map with others gathered at the site of the former Asylum, 
Davis invited them to grapple with the impact of the disparate stories and 
storytellers. The histories symbolically represented in the map and in white 
settler progress-centered accounts of Canton Asylum are uneven in detail 
and power, restlessly cohabiting a world of multiple centers, nations, and 
consequences. Questions posed between descendants, focused exchanges, 
and pondering silences underscored the ramifications of the stories: Which 
accounts are known in fragments or wide swaths, and which ones have been 
stolen, lost, or hidden? Where and from whom do the details come? Re- 
storying fills the hours spent between Davis and people whose kin are tied 
to Canton Asylum. Her map is an urgent call for more stories.

One white string in Kay Davis’s creation arcs outward from the reservation 
in Sisseton, South Dakota.8 According to descendants of Elizabeth Faribault, 
multiple removals simultaneously mark ruptures and starting points in their 
family history. As one relative explained, Elizabeth’s parents were members 
of the Sisseton (“people of the marsh”) and Wahpeton (“people of Lake 
Traverse”) Band of Dakota Nation.9 For generations, their home had been 
in what today is Minnesota. Born in 1882, Elizabeth was the firstborn child 
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of Zihkanakoyake (also called Henry Alexis in U.S. documents) and Man-
zakoyakesuim (also known as Mary Alexis).10 Like many Dakota people in 
the late nineteenth century, Zihkanakoyake and Manzakoyakesuim crossed 
Minnesota and South and North Dakota as part of an exodus forced by the 
U.S. government. Wars and treaties contributed to further splintering. Some 
of Elizabeth’s extended Alexis family fled to Canada; those who returned had 
to relocate to reservations in South and North Dakota. Zihkanakoyake and 
Manzakoyakesuim were among those who were displaced to Spirit Lake. 
Later, Manzakyakesium moved with her children to Lake Traverse.11

Little is known about Elizabeth’s early years. She clearly grew up among 
other Dakota people, absorbing daily lessons from elders and other kin. Her 
immediate relatives communicated exclusively in the Dakota language and 
appear to have held tightly to Sisseton-Wahpeton lifeways. Her family’s aver-
sion to Euro-American cultural assimilation was typical. The local U.S. Indian 
agent in the late 1870s, J. G. Hamilton, for example, had expressed alarm by 
how tenaciously women maintained Dakota culture and identity.12 In this 
context, one can imagine some of the contours of daily life: helping and argu-
ing with younger siblings; learning to cook, sew, garden; spending time with 
elders and with peers; listening to stories; yearning, struggling, belonging, 
and coming of age.13 The children of Zihkanakoyake and Manzakoyakesuim 
almost certainly were known by Dakota names, which meant that Elizabeth 
had multiple names across her childhood and young adulthood. These ways 
of identifying Elizabeth and her siblings were never recorded or preserved 
by U.S. officials.14

At the turn of the twentieth century, seventeen-year-old Elizabeth was listed 
in U.S. rolls as the wife of Jesse Faribault, a member of a prominent Sisseton 
family. Like many relatives in his generation, Jesse spent most of his life on 
the Sisseton Reservation, often working as a farm laborer. Both Jesse and 
Elizabeth came of age at a time of considerable transformation among the 
Sisseton Band. Increasing land thefts by white settlers, unsuccessful military 
and political battles with the U.S. government, and the cumulative effect of 
disease, starvation, and displacement exacted heavy tolls on Dakota people.

The first reservation partitioned under the General Allotment Act of 1867, 
Lake Traverse (Sisseton)—where the Faribaults lived—was known for its re-
sistance to U.S. assimilation.15 Missionaries and educational reformers had 
campaigned since the 1870s to place American Indian children in schools 
away from their home communities as an intentional effort to eradicate 
Native cultures.16 Defying the mounting pressure to submit to boarding 
schools, Sisseton relatives often kept children, especially girls, at home.17
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Neither Jesse nor Elizabeth had attended boarding or day schools, although 
most of their younger siblings had. U.S. census rolls and anecdotal evidence 
suggest that the couple primarily spoke Dakota. Tied closely to their Sisseton 
community, the Faribaults would not have needed to learn much written or 
spoken English.18

In the first fifteen years of marriage, Elizabeth and Jesse had six children, 
two of whom died in infancy.19 The couple lived in a three-bedroom home 
on the Sisseton Reservation. During the day, Elizabeth managed the house 
and mothered their young children. Meantime, Jesse worked their fields, de-
scribed by one observer as “one of the nicest forty acres of wheat this part of 
the country and a nice garden, consisting of corn, potatoes, beans and other 
garden truck too many to mention.”20

The Faribaults lived in a world where the battles between Sisseton mem-
bers and the U.S. government could swiftly shift from national to personal, 
distant to everyday, quiet to loud. In the 1880s, the U.S. government began 
criminalizing features of American Indian cultures.21 By 1913, the United 
States, through its Indian agent at Sisseton, abolished the tribal govern-
ment.22 The BIA superintendent there, Eugene D. Mossman, sought to limit 
dancing, communalism, and other distinctive qualities of Dakota life.23

Tensions had long simmered between BIA agents and Sisseton members. 
Contests over authority, citizenship, and land sometimes erupted into open 
conflict. For example, in 1914, representatives of the Sisseton-Wahpeton 
Bands went to Washington, D.C., to challenge U.S. theft of their land and 
treaty violations.24

Archival documents detail that Elizabeth Faribault also directly challenged 
BIA representatives, engaging in yelling matches and disrupting their work 
on the reservation. The clerk in charge asserted that Faribault’s pattern of 
behavior indicated mental disorder; the only solution, he insisted, was to 
remove her to a government medical facility. Describing the larger battles 
over sovereignty between American Indians and white settlers in the twenti-
eth century as “a quieter kind” than the bloody wars decades earlier, Ojibwe 
anthropologist and novelist David Treuer identified new weapons in the U.S. 
arsenal: “Instead of guns the combatants carried petitions; instead of scalps, 
people held aloft legal briefs.”25 One should add pathological diagnoses and 
treatments to this inventory.

When reservation and school doctors, Asylum superintendents, and rank-
and-file BIA agents claimed that Elizabeth Faribault and others were insane 
and needed to be institutionalized, their knowledge, actions, and interactions 
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drew upon Western medicine’s imperial framework.26 As Indigenous studies 
scholar Sean Kicummah Teuton (Cherokee Nation) has explained, “Since 
early settler colonial history . . . European thinkers were swiftly led to target 
non-Europeans and especially communally defined tribal peoples as innately 
intellectually inferior. Rather abruptly race became inextricably tied to mental 
deficiency.”27 In this context, diagnosis and pathology authorized the under-
lying settler ableist beliefs in hierarchies of peoples and societies based on 
productivity, ambition, capacity, and competency.28 Across Europe, North 
America, and other continents, colonizers applied ableist ideas of Native 
people as deficient as they built governments and military outposts, pursued 
missionary work and schools, and refined medical techniques and erected 
hospitals.29 This transatlantic system of political-medical power surrounded 
and trapped Elizabeth Faribault as it did many others.

The Sisseton woman and her kin understood that the reach of West-
ern medicine stretched beyond singular diagnoses. The Faribault family’s 
campaigns for her return drew on politicians, local white neighbors, mis-
sionaries, and others whose cultural standing might counter Canton’s ad-
ministrator and the broader federal asylum system that employed him. In 
one appeal to the commissioner of Indian Affairs in 1922, Elizabeth asserted 
that she wanted to be reunited with her family, but Dr. Harry Hummer, the 
Asylum’s superintendent, blocked the way.30 The letter, like her advocates’ 
other efforts, implicitly underscored the reality of settler approaches to med-
icine inside Canton and similar institutions: the power of superintendents 
was left virtually unchecked. Hummer’s responses—like those of all asylum  
superintendents—illustrated this power. The growing number of petitions, 
in the doctor’s estimation, served as evidence of inherent defects in Faribault 
as well as in her advocates. He insisted that she should not be discharged. 
His opinion prevailed in each of the numerous petitions for Elizabeth’s re-
lease. This was typical of psychiatric institutions across the United States; 
in virtually every instance when superintendents suggested a person remain 
or be allowed to leave, their recommendation held sway.31 This was always 
true for Elizabeth Faribault and H. R. Hummer.32 And it was true across the 
history of Canton Asylum: the BIA commissioners overwhelmingly followed 
the Asylum superintendents’ lead.

For the Faribault family, as with many others whose members were institu-
tionalized at Canton, settler applications of Western medicine were an incur-
sion into their lives. Broad categories such as “mental illness” or “insanity,” 
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as well as an ever-expanding array of specific pathologies and diagnoses, had 
no full cultural equivalent in any of the American Indian communities directly 
touched by the Canton Asylum. “Native peoples generally do not have a no-
tion of ‘insane’ or ‘mentally ill’ in our cultures,” writer Pemina Yellow Bird has 
explained. “Indeed, I have been unable to locate a Native nation whose Indig-
enous language has a word for that condition.”33 Recognizing and adapting 
to this dissonance, kin sometimes challenged or dismissed such diagnoses, 
as when Jesse Faribault insisted that his wife was “only drunk” at the time 
she argued with the BIA agent.

Explicitly and implicitly, Faribault’s family drew on an understanding of 
well-being rather than a settler notion of normalcy. Although tribal systems 
of medicine and spirituality vary widely, common qualities of well-being are 
shared by many Native nations, including Dakota people: harmony between 
body, mind, and spirit as well as between people and the broader natural 
and supernatural worlds. Describing the connections among these factors 
for American Indian peoples, scholar and poet Paula Gunn Allen includes 
“active respect for these Natural Powers” and mythologies based “on a ritual 
comprehension of universal orderliness and balance; and on the belief that 
a person’s every action, thought, relationship, and feeling contributes to the 
greater good of the Universe or its suffering. Human beings are required to 
live in such a way that balance is maintained and furthered, and disorder 
(also perceived as disease) is kept within bounds.”34

For the Alexis and Faribault families, as with other people institutionalized 
at the Indian Asylum and their kin, displacement to Canton, South Dakota, 
was a violation of home and homeland—and therefore well-being. In this 
context, the story of Western medical interventions includes pathological 
diagnoses but concentrates primarily on their associated treatment: institu-
tionalization. Across the archive, letters from relatives consistently opposed 
medicalized forced removals, citing their negative impact on whole families 
and communities inside and outside the Asylum. Institutionalization evis-
cerated Native ways of being, separating individuals from their families and 
communities and restricting access to the physical and spiritual worlds that 
nourished them. “I am having a hard time last three years with children and 
also she want to come back now,” a distraught Jesse Faribault explained 
to Commissioner Sells in 1918. “She like to see her children and also the 
children want to have they mother come back.”35 Also writing to the BIA, 
Elizabeth’s mother, Mary Alexis, explained, “I have a daughter name Eliza-
beth Fairbault who was sent to Canton Insane Institution, Canton, S.D.” She 
added, “I am a woman of 66 years and I need her at home to help me out, 
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so if you please help me get her back as soon as possible.”36 Her daughter 
agreed. In one of her own written petitions to BIA commissioners, Elizabeth 
lamented, “I’ve often wished I was home and taking care of my mother and 
also my children.”37

Many other families of Canton detainees expressed similar frustration and 
despair over their forced separation. Wellness required ending pathologized 
dislocation and returning members to their rightful place—physically among 
their people and physically and metaphysically to an Indigenous world. When 
Jesse Faribault, Mary Alexis, and Elizabeth Faribault made direct connections 
between their loved one’s well-being and their own, they insisted on an un-
derstanding of medicine anchored to Native self-determination and kinship. 
Their advocacy efforts, like those of many families directly disrupted by in-
carceration at Canton Asylum, were not merely for the individual institution-
alized but on behalf of the family, broader kin community, and tribes as well.

In these accounts, spouses, parents, siblings, and adult children of in-
stitutionalized people insisted that they knew their kin best and that their 
relatives should be sent home.38 For years, Jesse repeatedly insisted that 
Elizabeth could manage and be supported well by her kin, noting that a re-
union with her children “would help her” and underscoring the urgent action 
needed: his wife’s immediate return to them.39 In a similar 1926 petition on 
Elizabeth’s behalf, her mother described a second visit with her daughter, as-
serting that Elizabeth had “acted and talked all right” and should be brought 
back to the family.40 Other relatives of incarcerated people also assured U.S. 
officials that they could and should take care of their kin.

On Kay Davis’s map, a black thread and pin anchor to the reservation in 
Oklahoma where Caddo people had been removed to in the nineteenth 
century. One Caddo Nation member from Anadarko, Amelia Moss, was 
born in 1917, the second child of Ruby Moss (Yun-nin). As a toddler, Amelia, 
along with her mother and brother, lived with her maternal grandmother, 
Nin-Hoon, and grandfather, Tom Reynolds.41 According to the agency physi-
cian on the reservation, by 1922, the child commonly experienced seizures. 
He added, “She does not talk, is destructive, bites and fights.”42 In one report 
to the Department of Interior, Dr. W. C. Barton also suggested that five-year-
old Amelia had attempted to run away, requiring others to supervise her. 
Such reports included no family observations or explanations of how they 
interpreted their young kin. The doctor concluded that Amelia needed to be 
placed in an institution where “proper care can be given her if there is such  
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a place available.”43 In his own exchange with other BIA officials, reservation 
superintendent J. A. Buntin described the little girl as “an imbecile, subject 
to epileptic spasms,” while also conceding that she “cannot be classed as 
insane.”44 He sought guidance from Washington officials, wondering aloud 
whether a federal psychiatric institution should be considered appropriate 
under the circumstances. Canton’s administrator smoothed the waters. “This 
institution is for the care of insane Indians,” Superintendent Hummer wrote 
Buntin. “Our broadest definition of insanity is that it is a mal- adjustment. 
Certainly, an imbecile is mal-adjusted, ergo, insane.” Dismissing concerns 
about the sweeping pathological interpretation, Hummer quickly turned to 
the opportunity his definition afforded. “Without quibbling over words or 
terms, I have a vacancy here for a female patient and shall be glad to relieve 
you of the burden of caring for this child, if you wish it.”45 Buntin quickly 
accepted the offer. On May 31, 1922, the Indian Asylum matron removed the 
Caddo girl to Canton.46

Over the next decade, reservation and Asylum representatives continued 
to debate where Amelia Moss should be institutionalized.47 BIA officials, and 
possibly family members, proposed that she be relocated closer to her home 
at the state-operated Oklahoma Institute for the Feeble Minded in Enid. 
Diagnostic claims and related institutional expectations circled in an eddy of 
bureaucratic inertia; reports and correspondence filled folders over the next 
several decades. Both quiet and conspicuous was the underlying assump-
tion by federal representatives that Moss would not leave the locked wards. 
According to hospital records, she remained incarcerated in a psychiatric 
facility for the remainder of her days.48

Shadows cover most of Amelia Moss’s life within institutional walls. 
Among the few government sources referencing her, none describe how she 
looked, what she may have liked, or meaningful events or relationships she 
may have experienced. Canton staff described her as “a mute.” Other insti-
tutional reports note that she “mumbles to herself,” probably in Caddo. Still 
other behaviors drew ire from Asylum employees. According to one, Amelia 
“made a habit of eating various foreign bodies, wood, paper, etc.”49 Almost 
certainly, this required physical interventions that staff resented. Amelia re-
sented it too. She was known for biting and kicking, sometimes effectively 
holding staff members at bay. Her fierce resistance often thwarted medical 
examinations throughout the years she was detained.

Knowledge of Amelia Moss’s experiences generally remain beyond the his-
torian’s reach as well. As younger generations in the Caddo member’s family 
recognize, she and others locked inside Canton still had lives and stories.  
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The walls, policies, and beliefs that made incarceration possible winnow 
down the moments and stories that were preserved. Relatives of Amelia 
Moss now know of her primarily through fragmented, uneven, and contradic-
tory archival and oral accounts. Searches for more information have mostly 
yielded echoing questions.50 Institutional barriers have collectively limited 
who is able to remember these people, to re-story their histories.

As a response to institutional barriers, Davis’s map is an act of refusal.51 Con-
spicuously unmarked on her paper-and-thread rendering is Canton Asylum 
itself. For the Bois Forte Chippewa researcher, prominent historical accounts 
of the Indian Asylum have for too long eclipsed Native people’s lived expe-
riences. That settler story follows a familiar plot, a linear tale of exceptional-
ism, pioneers, and progress. It begins like this: In 1897, Peter Couchman, an 
Indian agent at South Dakota’s Cheyenne River Reservation, proposed the 
creation of an Indian asylum to a receptive member of the state’s congres-
sional delegation, Senator Richard R. Pettigrew. In his petition to Congress, 
Pettigrew, chairman of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs, insisted that 
the federal government must “rescue . . . the demented Indian” from un-
caring and incapable Indigenous kin and tribes. “While these conditions 
exist,” the senator continued, “there is little hope that insanity can be cured 
or its victims made comfortable.”52 Pettigrew reminded his colleagues that 
a unique federal jurisdiction applied to Native Americans as “wards” of the 
U.S. government, and thus medically managed and federally supervised care 
was the only option.

The proposal for the U.S. Government Asylum for Insane Indians in 
Canton, South Dakota, initially faced opposition from multiple quarters. The 
superintendent of St. Elizabeths Hospital—the original federal psychiatric  
institution—derided the Republican senator’s proposal, describing it as a 
“pet project” intended solely to bring revenue to Pettigrew’s home state 
while unnecessarily increasing the federal government’s costs to oversee 
Native people.53 Others, however, saw opportunity in Pettigrew’s idea, which 
would expand the reach of the Indian Service and the field of psychiatry. For-
mer congressman and mayor of Canton Oscar Gifford supported the cause, 
as did the local residents of Canton. Ultimately, the Indian Asylum advocates 
prevailed.54 In what was obvious at the time and since, the  appointment of 
Gifford as the first superintendent reflected the Asylum’s political and eco-
nomic underpinnings.55 Gifford selected the location of Canton (where he had 
practiced law) and oversaw the construction of the Asylum.56 In December 
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1902, the proponents’ dream was realized in brick and mortar as Canton 
Asylum for Insane Indians began to fill its wards. The townspeople of Canton 
celebrated the news. As one local newspaper explained, “The asylum will 
make our city famous as the location of the only institution of its character 
in the whole world.”57

This story of opportunity drew many staff members and their families to 
the South Dakota town. Primarily a tale of settler immigration fueled by eco-
nomic pressure and aspiration, more than two million Scandinavians came 
to the United States across the nineteenth and early twentieth  centuries.58

Many understood themselves to be pioneers who would “tame” the Ameri-
can frontier. As author Kay Melchisedech Olson explains, “It was an emigra-
tion of rural folk with a strong family composition” closely bonded through 
“traditions, mores, and religious as well as secular values” rooted in their 
lives in Scandinavia.59 Historian Odd Lovoll adds that “footloose and land- 
hungry Norwegian peasants . . . wished to re-establish the conservative way 
of life they were accustomed to in rural Norway, but with a greatly improved 
social and economic status.”60 In 1868 alone, twenty-three families arrived 
in Lincoln County, Dakota Territory, via a wagon train.61 By the 1880s, those 
who settled the area began referring to Canton as “the gate city of Dakota.”62

Within decades, nearly 80 percent of first- and second-generation Norwegian 
Americans, roughly one million people, claimed the upper Midwest region 
as their home.63 In Canton and elsewhere, strong connections to Norway 
sustained the sense of a cohesive community. The Lutheran Church, Norwe-
gian newspapers and festivals, as well as Norwegian cultural organizations 
proliferated during the late nineteenth century and into the early twentieth 
century. Educational institutions also reflected the proud ethnic identity of 
Canton. For example, in 1884, the town celebrated the opening of Augustana 
Academy, a Norwegian-Lutheran-heritage school.64 For some Scandinavian 
Americans, the Canton Asylum provided economic opportunity near the 
place they claimed as their new home.

The local townspeople nicknamed the institution at the core of their econ-
omy the “Hiawatha Asylum,” which they had inscribed in iron above the seven- 
foot-high gateway and fence. The name alludes to Hiawatha, the Mohawk 
statesman who is credited with facilitating the creation of the  Iroquois Con-
federacy. In white American literary and historical representations, Hiawatha 
embodied a tamed (and doomed) hero. Fusing multiple Indigenous stories, 
Henry Wadsworth Longfellow’s 1855 epic poem, The Song of Hiawatha, for 
example, imagines an eponymous hero skilled in medicine and art, hunt-
ing and farming, and writing and peacemaking.65 To many white settlers, 
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Hiawatha also symbolized American Indians as a “vanishing race.”66 By the 
early twentieth century, this message was reinforced across virtually every 
popular cultural form—films, magazines, music, literature, and art.67 In this 
particular folktale of Canton, the violent sovereignty battles between white 
settlers and Indigenous nations disappear, vanishing with the figure of Hi-
awatha himself as pioneers replaced Native people and began a new history.68

Contrasting sharply with a brightly lit future of the Canton Asylum, Su-
perintendent Gifford detailed the plight of American Indians shortly after 
the institution opened. In a 1904 article entitled “Gain in Indian Insanity,” 
he offered a tale of progress evidenced by the expanding facility and an ex-
panding field of psychiatry. It was “difficult to find Indians who are insane. At 
first we could not find more than a half dozen in the entire United States,” 
Gifford explained. “But we are beginning to hear from them now from the 
remotest districts.”69 Reflecting on the Asylum’s first year and its promising 
years to come, he assured the reporter that there was “no doubt that all the 
50 rooms will be taken up within another year.”70 As he viewed it, Native 
Americans’ “brooding over troubles and disappointment” expressed itself 
in various ways, but that “most of these manifestations would have been 
improbable or impossible in the former wild life of the Indians.”71 Echo-
ing the sentiments of early nineteenth-century race scientist Charles Cald-
well, Gifford and his assistant superintendent, Dr. John F. Turner, claimed 
that it was “natural” for Native people to “brood” since they “cannot have” 
opportunities for Indigenous lifeways, including hunting, free movement, 
and practicing customs like dances. According to these experts, Indigenous 
“victims of misfortunes” suffered primarily from “domestic difficulties” that 
“have caused the insanity, specifically ‘worrying over family affairs.’”72 In this 
common account, Native people were biologically tied to an inevitable path 
of erasure. Their mental incompetence would increase along the way, and 
white people would take care of their wards as a reflection of their benevolent 
superiority. Optimistically, Gifford noted, “additions will be necessary,” and 
“it is believed that the ratio of insanity will undoubtedly continue to grow.”73

The growing institutionalized population, from Gifford’s vantage point, was 
a positive indication, reflecting the great humanitarianism of white people 
taking care of the “Indian problem” and the “problem Indians.” This ideol-
ogy continued into the next administration of the Indian Asylum. Across his 
tenure, Superintendent Hummer made clear that he sought to enlarge the 
facility so that it could achieve its “entire function” by “caring for all of the 
insane Indians in the United States.” His correspondence with many reserva-
tion superintendents served as public awareness and recruitment initiatives, 
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providing evidence that other BIA administrators wanted and needed the 
Asylum to hold more people.74

During the Asylum’s formal existence, the account that staff, superinten-
dents, BIA officials, and newspapers across the United States primarily told 
was one of progress.75 Pictures showcased the three-storied Main Building, 
its brick walls rising around the stone foundation and dormers.76 Other 
changes to the campus materially conveyed orderliness and advancement: 
a laundry was added in 1909 and enlarged in 1918; the superintendent’s 
house was built in 1915; and a dairy barn followed in the next year. In 1917, 
the two-story Hospital Building was erected, its brick-and-concrete facade 
intended to “harmonize in appearance” with the other structures on the 
campus.77 Amplifying the humanitarian-medical story, observers claimed 
that the addition was needed because of the “advanced age” of Canton’s 
institutionalized population “and the inevitable encroachment of physical 
ailments among them.” Advocates added, “The sick will be provided with 
the best that science means and experience can contribute.”78 Initially en-
visaged to hold fifty people, the Asylum from 1917 onward typically reported 
twice as many inhabitants—nearly one hundred institutionalized individ-
uals. By the time the Indian Asylum closed in January 1934, nearly four 
hundred people from dozens of Native nations had been confined in its 
locked wards.

This version of history casts its white characters as exceptional, includ-
ing original advocate Senator Pettigrew and Superintendents Gifford and 
Hummer. Local townspeople—the supporting cast—oversaw the Asylum’s 
day-to-day operations, often enduring cruel treatment at the hands of the 
temperamental Hummer. In this narrative, Canton Asylum appears as noble 
but mismanaged. Across the twentieth and twenty-first centuries, historical 
encyclopedias, exhibits, and most popular and scholarly publications have 
echoed this interpretation.79

Near the very center of Davis’s map, red pins and string mark what today 
is known as the Prairie Band Potawatomi Nation Reservation. This is one 
beginning place of Seh-Tuk and his family. The fourth child of Wam-Te-Go- 
She-Quah and Me-Shan (also known as Mitchell), Seh-Tuk was born some-
time between 1892 and 1895 on the Kansas reservation designated for Prairie 
Band Potawatomi people.80 He appears in U.S. government documents with 
many other names: Willie Mitchell, John S. Mitchell, and William John S. 
Mitchell. It is unknown whether Seh-Tuk attended school like some of his 
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siblings or what his earliest years were like. Anecdotal evidence suggests that 
the teenager may have encountered strong medicine, perhaps peyote, and 
that it profoundly affected him.81 In October 1921, physicians C. W. Reynolds 
and R. Robson examined the tall, slender man. No details remain about 
the exchange between them, only the doctors’ conclusion that the young 
Potawatomi member was “of unsound mind.”82 They recommended that he 
be removed to Canton Asylum.

Virtually all that is known about Seh-Tuk during the rest of his life comes 
from Asylum staff members. Apparently, he was among the many incarcer-
ated people who provided unpaid labor for Canton, cleaning the floors and 
the stairway to the yard with a polishing machine.83 Employees and adminis-
trators encouraged this kind of work, but Seh-Tuk’s efforts afforded him only 
minimal benefits. Hospital workers wrote in his medical files that he still 
required supervision “because he wants to go home and tries to run away.”84

Details of his efforts to escape the Asylum remain elusive.
During Seh-Tuk’s twelve years of detention at Canton, his family sought 

different ways to bridge the distance. After months without news of his son, 
Me-Shan petitioned the BIA in March 1930, seeking to compel Canton Asy-
lum officials to provide detailed monthly updates.85 Each year, Me-Shan also 
traveled three hundred miles from Kansas to Canton to visit Seh-Tuk, using 
his own meager funds to support the trips.86 Likely, the father and son were 
able to connect in person during the summer of 1933, just months before 
the Asylum closed and Seh-Tuk was relocated to another federal psychiatric 
facility, St. Elizabeths Hospital in Washington, D.C. It appears that the yearly 
reunions for Me-Shan and Seh-Tuk ended with this transfer east.

Over the next seventeen years, Seh-Tuk would be repeatedly shuttled be-
tween various federal institutions. In 1942, he was among a group of twenty 
American Indian men formerly detained at Canton who were transferred out 
of St. Elizabeths.87 An executive decree directed them to be held during World 
War II in a federal prison-hospital in Fort Worth, Texas, colloquially known as 
the Narcotic Farm. For unknown reasons, he and the other Native men were 
moved in 1944 to the other Narcotic Farm in Lexington, Kentucky. Six years 
later, in 1950, Seh-Tuk was transferred back to St. Elizabeths. According to 
hospital records, the Potawatomi man was discharged from the Washington 
facility in 1961.88 It appears that he died not long after, in 1962. Seh-Tuk was 
buried among his people in the Mitchell family cemetery in Mayetta, Kansas.

In the account framed by Canton Asylum staff at the time and reiterated by 
most historians since, Seh-Tuk’s story essentially ends in 1933, exiting with 
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the haze of a train barreling eastward to Washington, D.C. But individually 
and collectively, the institutionalization of Seh-Tuk and others embodies a 
more complicated story of displacement.

Like Asylum archival materials about Seh-Tuk, most historical accounts 
of people involuntarily removed commonly end at or shortly after their sub-
jects cross the threshold from “original place” to “removed space.”89 This 
includes Native people, institutionalized people, and people who have lived 
at the overlaps of both communities. There are practical reasons for this 
approach. For example, the phenomena of institutionalization reinforces the 
impression of finite dislocations and experiences. Through settler’s Western 
biomedical framework, pathological problems and treatments were located 
within individual people. As just one illustration, according to the govern-
ment doctors who examined Seh-Tuk, he had an unsound mind and required 
sustained institutionalization. Communication differences and limited ac-
cess to sources by and about institutionalized people present significant 
barriers to outsiders. Defining removal as essentially fixed (beginning with 
intervention and ending with transfer to new location), however, obscures 
some of the messy, human realities. Many Native Americans have been in-
voluntarily removed—from ancestral lands and other places.90 Numerous 
institutionalized people across the range of Native and non-Native identities 
also have been involuntarily dislocated—to prisons, psychiatric facilities, 
boarding schools, reformatories, and the like.91 Seh-Tuk’s lived experiences 
of forced dislocations echo and rebound, inhabiting shifting places in a mul-
titude of displacement stories.

The experiences of Seh-Tuk, Elizabeth Faribault, Amelia Moss, and other 
institutionalized people attest that histories of removals are more compli-
cated than typically assumed. They do not have an easily defined beginning 
and ending. Across the brick-and-mortar life of Canton Asylum, many, if not 
all, of the people detained in the locked wards had immediate prior experi-
ences of institutional dislocations. Their stories hold different centers, unfold 
in different directions, are cut short or bent back, double over, shape shift, 
fan outward, and cascade into the present day.

For Gary Mitchell, the late Prairie Band Potawatomi tribal historian, recol-
lections of his grand-uncle Seh-Tuk carried power. His family’s stories have 
traveled across multiple removals, interlocking experiences of loss, healing, 
reckoning, and continuance. In Mitchell’s storytelling, Seh-Tuk’s life and 
the Prairie Band Potawatomi’s history remained intimately bound to wide- 
ranging locations of displacement from homelands, reservations, and board-
ing schools to prisons, other asylums, and elsewhere.92 They intersected 
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with particular ways to honor the dead, desires for privacy, and practices 
of well-being. Reflecting on his family’s and his tribe’s past, Gary Mitch-
ell returned to the importance of re-storying. “It’s best to tell it: tell all the 
things that happened,” he explained, so that damaging histories will not be 
repeated. “That’s why it needs to be told.”93

Hundreds of miles away, Kay Davis lingered at the grave site of fellow Bois 
Forte Chippewa Tribe member Tom Floodwood, hoping to close the distance 
that years, politics, and geography had placed between them. During the 
honoring ceremony at the Canton Asylum cemetery that Davis attended, 
organizer Lavanah Judah (Yankton Sioux) recounted that a number of her kin 
had been returned to family members after their deaths, some were interred 
at Canton, and a few remained achingly missing.94 Other relatives of people 
confined at Canton exchanged addresses and family histories, re-storying on 
the land their ancestors had forcibly inhabited decades earlier.

The labels holding space for these stories similarly vary: for people, places, 
and experiences. Each carries the seeds of its storyteller, refracted through 
time and spaces: Grandmother. Insane. Sister. Indian. Uncle. Dakota. Ward. 
Unknown. Political prisoner. Child. Potawatomi. Mother. Caddo. Many more 
names are known but sheltered, yearned for and inaccessible, imposed and 
contested.

A place that marked their lives also holds many stories. Like stratigraphy, 
the layers contain speckled elements of culture and power: Indian Asylum. 
Warehouse. Canton. Cemetery. Home. Not home. Yankton Dakota ancestral 
land.95

For Kay Davis, Lavanah Judah, and others directly and indirectly tied to 
those detained at the Indian Asylum, stories circle around one another. 
Across generations, contradicting and echoing, all the accounts carry mean-
ing. Some point to the tribal lands marked by Davis’s map pins and to stories 
of each known member dislocated to the Canton Asylum, others to more 
cloudy locations and people. Stories like these—fragmented, detailed, set-
tler, and Native—hold numerous forms of power, including the potential to 
erase whole communities from regional and national narratives, to justify 
conquest and colonialism. To survive.96
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Chapter 2: Erase and Replace

As was common on the Menominee Reservation in Wisconsin in the early 
twentieth century, three generations of the Bear family lived together. Elders 
Rose and Mose (Little) Bear spent much of their days with two grandchildren, 
seven-year-old Madeleine and two-year-old Luke. The youngsters’ mother, 
Agnes, and her spouse, George Caldwell, had likely grown up together and 
been married since Agnes was sixteen and George was twenty. Agnes’s sib-
lings and their immediate families lived and worked nearby. Extended and in-
tergenerational Menominee families interacted with one another daily, often 
sharing homes and other resources.1

In their diagnosis of Agnes Bear Caldwell in 1917, BIA officials read or-
dinary features of Menominee kinship through a Western biomedical lens. 
An adult mother, her children, and her spouse living with her parents—in 
the observers’ estimation—indicated trouble. That Agnes had “always been 
dependent upon . . . her parents” especially concerned the white agents. 
They described the woman as “filthy in her habits and utterly incapable of 
being . . . independent of her mother.”2 Implicitly, they pathologized Cald-
well’s extended family. The elderly parents, according to this settler ableist 
framework, had failed to raise an independently capable daughter and were 
themselves decreasingly capable of managing her or her young children.3 The 
agency physician considered Agnes’s spouse, George, as similarly incom-
petent, describing him as “worthless and contributes very little if any thing 
to support of the family.”4 The configuration and day-to-day life of the Bear- 
Caldwell household, in other words, medically justified her institutionaliza-
tion. In November 1917, she was taken, along with several other Menominee 
people, to Canton.

The medicalized form of family segregation and containment that Agnes 
Caldwell and her kin experienced fits into a pattern of other settler inter-
ventions. Intensifying during the latter half of the nineteenth century and 
the early twentieth century, settler advocacy of boarding schools, adoption, 
and fostering into white families emphasized logics of Native peoples’ per-
ceived inherent dependency and incapacities. According to Mark Rifkin, a 
gender and Indigenous studies scholar, settler policies propelled “processes 
through which a particular configuration of home and family is naturalized 
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and administratively implemented.”5 This process discredited and sought to 
erase Indigenous kinship customs, including multiple generations living to-
gether, elders’ central role in childrearing, and interdependent caregiving. As 
evidenced across a vast array of archived government correspondence, BIA 
officials and medical specialists regularly judged Indigenous extended-family 
relationships and home life as unhealthy and abnormal, using these pre-
sumed defects to buttress interventions into family life.6

The BIA’s narrow focus on Agnes Caldwell and her immediate household 
members obscured the larger conflicts between U.S. government agents and 
Menominee Nation members over self-determination, family, and home. Re-
ferring to the Native people on the reservation as “my family of 1700 children 
of every age and temperament,” field matron Mrs. H. P. Marble reported in 
1916 that “home life was the crucible of Indian civilization and as such was 
a legitimate field for government investigation.” Her own investigations of 
Menominee homes found them wanting. According to Marble, most moth-
ers were “not willfully neglectful of their child’s welfare, but through mistaken 
idea of kindness often permit[ted] the child to follow its own inclinations, 
as to food, habits, etc.” This problem could be corrected when the mother 
was “impressed with the extent of her own responsibility.” Without such 
changes, the field matron warned, there would be no “material progress 
toward intelligent citizenship.”7 As the twentieth century began, many other 
assimilationist advocates, including social reformers, missionaries, and 
bureaucrats, similarly judged Native women’s progress according to white 
settler ideals of family and household.8 Often, nonconformity to this model 
was read as a biomedical deficit, as when Keshena Agency physician W. R. 
Bebout diagnosed Agnes Bear Caldwell as defective because he believed she 
was incapable of being “taught to live right.”9

The overarching process of institutionalization that this Menominee 
family and many others experienced pursued fundamental settler colonial 
goals: erasing Indigenous cultures and families and replacing them with 
white settler models. Within an ableist framework, defectiveness always has 
to be eliminated. Pathological judgments that the Bear-Caldwell family mem-
bers were permanently defective justified administrators’ choice to isolate 
them—and hundreds of others—from their Indigenous homes and commu-
nities. Simultaneously, this process affirmed that federal-medical oversight 
in the form of Canton Asylum was necessary.10

In Agnes Bear Caldwell’s life story, the process of erasure often targeted 
home as well as family. Eugenic judgments of flawed families and households 
interlace across generations: her parent Rose was viewed as unfit because 
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she maintained Menominee customs and instilled these ways of being in 
her daughter. Caldwell also was found deficient for failing to cultivate settler 
values and behaviors in her own children. BIA representatives and others 
invoked the prospect of new generations of nonconforming people across 
Indigenous nations to justify their removal and containment, pulling many of 
their members into the Canton Asylum. Among those ensnared were sisters 
from the Southern Ute Indian Tribe.

The women referred to as Jane and Susan Burch, the eldest daughters of 
Steve and Ruth Bent Burch, came of age as focused attacks on Southern Ute 
Indian Tribe families and self-determination intensified.11 According to U.S. 
government documents from 1900, the parents had held out against some 
assimilationist efforts, residing in a wickee-up (teepee) and speaking only 
Shoshoni. Federal pressures mounted, and within a decade, the younger 
Burch children had been taken to boarding schools. In contrast, Susan and 
Jane remained on the reservation and near their parents. For them and for 
many other Southern Ute people, family was the center around which daily 
life moved. Often together, the sisters had helped tend to their younger sib-
lings, shared the work of gathering and preparing meals, listened to elders’ 
stories, and started their own families.12

In 1910, BIA representatives honed their attention on the elder Burch sib-
lings. In letters to the commissioner, Agent Charles Werner emphasized that 
Jane had born a child out of wedlock and that the baby had died within the 
month. The child’s father, the agent continued, was “a partly demented un-
allotted Ute from Navajo Springs, who wandered over here some time ago 
returned again to Navajo Springs, Agency.”13 Jane’s status agitated the agent: 
she had “good” allotted land “valued at $1500” but was, in his estimation, 
irresponsible. As an unmarried mother, she challenged mainstream white 
cultural norms. Her child’s death and her sexual relations with a man judged 
“partly demented and unallotted” were viewed as evidence of incompetence 
and as a threat to broader settler society.

Kinship ties undergirded Werner’s concern. Jane’s sister Susan was mar-
ried to James Allen, whom the agent described as “a well meaning Ute.” 
In the same letter to the commissioner, he explained that Susan, too, had 
valuable land (worth $2,000). She also recently had given birth. Werner char-
acterized her son as “born disfigured; the upper lip is cleft and the nose is 
turned to one side.” He added, “The mother is unable to care for this child.”14

Despite the assets conveyed by being married, and to a “well-meaning” 



42 c h a p t e r  t w o

husband, Susan, according to Werner, should be removed from the reserva-
tion. Specifically pairing Jane and Susan, the BIA representative asserted that 
they evidenced “insanity to some extent.” Their offspring further cemented 
his judgment: “I did not realize the consequences of letting these two women 
remain at large until those children were born.” He closed his letter with a 
plea: “Could not they be removed to the Canton Insane Asylum?”15 Over the 
next two years, Agent Werner sought to institutionalize the sisters. In 1912, 
his request was granted. Jane and Susan Burch were forcibly dislocated to 
Canton that fall.16 At the time she was stolen from her family, Susan was in 
the second trimester of another pregnancy.17

Five months after their incarceration began, on March 9, 1913, Susan 
Burch gave birth to a daughter. Superintendent Hummer offered a bleak as-
sessment in his report to the BIA commissioner: “The baby is premature by a 
month or six weeks and its prospect of living are not particularly bright at this 
time.”18 A month later, the Southern Ute mother was noticeably ill, coughing, 
congested, and dealing with fever and headaches. Her infant, according to 
Asylum reports, was “doing as well as can be expected.”19

Federal documents offer few other details about Burch’s baby daughter 
during this time. Correspondence from Ute Agency superintendent Stephen 
Abbott to the commissioner in May 1913 suggest that there had been con-
certed efforts by the extended Burch family to unite the child with her father, 
James Allen. The superintendent rigorously fought this: “I regard it is abso-
lutely impossible to provide for the child of Susan Burch here at Southern 
Ute,” he began. The earlier assessment of Allen was now eclipsed by a new 
label—incapable. “It would be almost the same as murder to let the helpless 
father have the child,” Abbott contended, offering an alternate option: “It 
seems that the only possible solution is to put the child in a charitable insti-
tution. The Office probably has had such cases before.” His conclusion cast 
Canton and unnamed “charitable institutions” as more appropriate settings 
than Allen’s home or those of other relatives. “While I realize the burden that 
the child is at the Insane Asylum, I believe almost any other place would be 
better for the child than this isolated and new country.”20 Ultimately, Super-
intendent Abbott lost his campaign. The infant was brought to Colorado that 
summer, where her grandparents and other family members raised her.21 The 
daughter of Susan Burch and James Allen grew up surrounded by Jane’s two 
surviving sons and other kin.22

As they welcomed the child home, the Burch family continued to seek a 
reunion with the two institutionalized sisters. Canton’s superintendent and 
the BIA fervently resisted their efforts, insisting that their release would be 
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inhumane.23 The administrators prevailed, and both Burch women spent 
their remaining days in the locked wards. Susan died within a few months of 
her daughter’s discharge. The BIA returned her body to Colorado for burial. 
Jane died four years later and was buried in an unmarked grave in the Asylum 
cemetery.24

As with the Burches, U.S. authorities consistently targeted families with 
their medicalized interventions of containment and elimination. Part of the 
government’s rationale to place Susan and Jane at Canton was that they 
came from a family with presumed inherent mental defects.25 This view-
point, anchored to eugenics and Western medicine, emphasized biology 
as the  determining factor in people’s behavior and in their fundamental 
worth.26 The hereditary relationship between the sisters drew settler author-
ities’ attention. Medical interventions, including sustained containment 
of multiple generations of the Burch family, BIA agents and physicians 
believed, were necessary measures for the health and well-being of U.S. 
society.27

The collective removal of Susan and Jane Burch was unexceptional. BIA 
officials frequently ordered Native relatives to be institutionalized at the 
same time or sometimes within one or two years of a family member’s ini-
tial incarceration. References to multiple sets of institutionalized parents, 
siblings, and spouses appear frequently in reports and medical files and in 
officials’ correspondence. These recognized kinship connections appear to 
have contributed at least in part to many peoples’ placement and retention 
at the institution.

Unlike a growing number of state facilities in the twentieth century, ad-
ministrators at the federal Canton Asylum did not surgically sterilize their 
incarcerated wards.28 Sharing the standard eugenic belief that unfit people 
should not procreate, however, Superintendents Gifford and Hummer spot-
lighted their responsible management of the facility and its close supervision 
by staff. As at all asylums, the employees managing the Indian Asylum tacitly 
surveilled and disciplined people on the inside to ensure and enforce a strict 
prohibition on sexual reproduction. Women of all ages, including Susan and 
Jane Burch, were segregated physically from the men.29 Following a eugenic 
logic of biological elimination within this particular institutional setting, no 
new marriages were sanctioned.30 Also by design, the Indian Asylum was 
intended to hold the Burch sisters, and many others, indefinitely. For the 
Southern Ute siblings and nearly half of the others in the locked wards, con-
finement at Canton typically lasted until death.31
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The various rationales to detain—and continue detaining—Susan and Jane 
Burch reflect overlapping concerns about Native kinship and especially fu-
ture generations of families.32 Repeatedly, government representatives re-
ferred to Susan and Jane collectively, their status as sisters compounding the 
justifications for removing each of them. Emphasizing their shared experi-
ence of pregnancies and loss of infants, agents projected the eugenic idea 
that the Burch sisters both carried and transmitted hereditary flaws. In this 
judgment, Susan’s and Jane’s children became evidence of their mothers’ 
inherent defectiveness and social threat. Jane’s relationships outside of mar-
riage, understood by Superintendent Werner as a moral failing, also tainted 
Susan, even as a married spouse. The prospect of growing generations in 
this family motivated Werner’s medicalized intervention. As he explained to 
Superintendent Hummer in 1912, Susan was “about to become a mother for 
the third time,” and he believed that “it [was] deplorable that such conditions 
should exist.”33 Pregnancy—previous, current, and future—was among the 
reasons why the Burch sisters had to be removed to the Indian Asylum.

The larger project of elimination hung over the birth of Susan’s daughter 
on the inside of the institution. None of the staff at Canton or at the Colorado 
Agency expected the baby to survive. When she did, the Colorado agent ad-
vocated that she stay at the Indian Asylum or be transferred to an orphanage 
or similar institution, not sent to her family. That the child ultimately was 
discharged from Canton was unusual, but her family’s fight to salvage their 
home, as well as the damage wrought by removals and deaths on the inside, 
were common. A presumption that institutionalized people and their rela-
tives on the outside could not sustain settler forms of families permeates BIA 
and Indian Asylum records. This viewpoint encouraged agents and others to 
remove adults like the Burch sisters. Many younger people, including little 
children, also were ensnared in this practice. Amelia Moss was one of them.

In 1922, the Kiowa Agency superintendent in Oklahoma began petitioning for 
five-year-old Amelia Moss’s institutionalization. Initial requests specifically 
presented Amelia’s mother, Ruby Moss, as seeking appropriate care for her 
disabled daughter “in a government institution.” No evidence remains from 
the parent, child, or other family members to corroborate this. According to the 
agency physician, the little Caddo girl had a pattern of biting and fighting with 
others; she also attempted to run away, which, he claimed, required others to 
regularly supervise her. Suggesting that Ruby Moss could not adequately  parent 
her daughter, Dr. W. C. Barton recommended that Amelia be institutionalized 
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so that “proper care can be given her.”34 Asylum superintendent Hummer 
responded favorably to the request, presenting Canton as a suitable solution. 
J. A. Buntin, the Kiowa Agency superintendent, quickly accepted his offer.35

The anticipated presence of Amelia Moss and other children, however, 
were conspicuously absent from Canton Asylum plans. Historically in the 
United States, architects and advocates of psychiatric institutions assumed 
that only adults would inhabit the locked wards.36 Across the nineteenth and 
early twentieth centuries, settler society viewed most children as innocents, 
legally dependent, and temporarily incompetent, but having the potential 
to become fully engaged citizens. Rhetoric like “danger to self and to oth-
ers” rarely attached to most young people in white settler imaginations. The 
Canton Asylum (and similar places designed to contain people believed to 
have disordered minds, violent tendencies, uncontrollable habits, or devi-
ant desires) emphasized symmetry and order, control and protection.37 The 
material contents carried the same cultural DNA. Dining halls were lined 
with linear tables and benches, while unadorned bathrooms and showers of-
fered limited privacy or freedom of movement. Seclusion rooms with tiny—if 
any—windows were built within dormitories distinguished by rows of iron 
bedsteads. Conspicuously absent from Canton’s architectural designs were 
birthing rooms, nurseries, children’s playrooms, or classrooms—standard 
settler architectural features for babies and youth.38

In Amelia Moss’s Caddo Nation community, and in many other Native 
and non-Native cultures, children were understood to be the living embod-
iment of the past, present, and future. Dee BigFoot, a Caddo psychologist, 
has described it this way: “Children were gifts. When a child was born . . . 
however a child came, that would be accepted. Family and extended family 
took care of them.”39 Then and now, children are the hope of their people. 
Uprooting and institutionalizing Amelia and dozens of other children sent a 
message that American Indians were irredeemable within a settler nation. In 
the early twentieth century, pathologizing young girls and boys, in particular, 
galvanized the white American belief that Native people were destined to 
vanish. The sustained detention enforced this settler worldview and materi-
ally pursued its realization.

Across the many years of Elizabeth Faribault’s detention, Superintendent 
Hummer offered widely varied justifications for keeping the Sisseton woman 
at Canton. “Personally I feel that danger would attend her release that she 
is incapable of looking after herself, let alone looking after her mother,” the 
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doctor informed Assistant Commissioner E. B. Merritt. He later claimed 
that Faribault had recently sustained an infection in her right eye  (“possibly 
trachoma”), which made her “very greatly depressed and emotional” about 
the possibility of “total blindness.” Discharge from Canton, Hummer sug-
gested, could harm her whole family by exposing them to a contagious dis-
ease as well as having to care indefinitely for a mentally unstable person.40

On another occasion, he assured the BIA that Elizabeth had “practically no 
chance for ultimate recovery and this is about as good a home as she could 
possibly find.” Longstanding battles with the extended Faribault family over 
her institutionalization also became a justification: “On many occasions,” 
Hummer reminded the commissioner, Faribault and her relatives had writ-
ten to them both, and every time the “results has always been to keep her 
here.”41 Inferring that these repeated efforts lacked credibility and perhaps 
even reflected inherent deviance within the family, Hummer concluded his 
critique of Faribault by recommending her continued detention. The fed-
eral office—following its usual practice—upheld the doctor’s advice to keep 
Elizabeth Faribault at Canton.42

Facing mounting challenges from Elizabeth’s husband, the Asylum super-
intendent pivoted, now offering a diagnostic assessment of Jesse Faribault. 
“The husband impressed me as being either very ignorant, or possibly im-
becilic,” Hummer opined to the BIA in 1918, raising doubts that Elizabeth 
would be “properly taken care of at home.”43 Extending eugenic reasoning, 
the Asylum administrator warned that the couple also might produce more 
children. “In all probability the offspring from such a union would be de-
fective and the entire number become charges upon your Office,” he told 
the commissioner. Hummer and the BIA concluded that Elizabeth must re-
main incarcerated because of Jesse’s presumed defectiveness as a father and 
husband.

These officials often argued that people already institutionalized must 
remain confined because their kin on the outside were defective. Superinten-
dent Hummer had offered nearly identical responses when Agnes Caldwell’s 
family sought her release. Referring to one note written by George Caldwell 
in October 1919, the Canton administrator suggested to the BIA that Agnes’s 
spouse likely “was not mentally alert,” thus his wife should remain at the 
Asylum. Hummer pointedly added, “Another potent argument against her 
discharge is that she is well within the child-bearing age and any offspring 
must be defective.”44 Although the Menominee woman “wants to go home 
and care for her family,” the doctor insisted that she was “mentally unable 
to . . . and the great danger of increasing the number of defective offspring 
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should outweigh her wishes.”45 Institutionalization, Hummer argued, was 
best for all the individuals held at Canton, their families on the outside, the 
federal government, and settler society at large.46

When BIA agents and Canton administrators repeatedly asserted that 
Amelia Moss, Agnes Caldwell, Elizabeth Faribault, and Susan Burch’s baby 
were “burdensome” to their kin and communities, they reaffirmed a familiar 
story of settler interventions in Native peoples’ lives. Indigenous  families 
were depicted as too overwhelmed, incapable, and often unwilling to cor-
rectly care for especially vulnerable members.47 Following this settler world-
view, the BIA justified committing Caldwell in order to “relieve” her family “of 
the burden of the care” they believed she required.48 Cast as  objective obser-
vations, phrases like “nuisance,” “a considerable burden,” or  “menace” ap-
pear regularly in diagnostic processes for many individuals, including those 
of a four-year-old Menominee boy and a sixty-three-year-old Menominee 
man.49 Officials believed that federally managed asylum settings would alle-
viate the burdens created by such individuals. BIA commissioners regularly 
complied with physicians’ and reservation superintendents’ recommenda-
tions in these instances.50

Western medical professionals and BIA employees also consistently 
claimed that Native individuals were “better off” at Canton Asylum, an opin-
ion anchored to the belief that they themselves modeled benevolence, exper-
tise, and cultural superiority.51 “She is well taken care of here,” Dr.  Hummer 
wrote to Faribault’s relatives, fending off discharge requests.52 To Caldwell’s 
family he regularly insisted, “She has a splendid home here in every re-
spect.”53 Superintendent Gifford had offered nearly identical claims to peti-
tioners and bureaucrats during his tenure at Canton as well.54 Following this 
cultural logic, their settler institutions similarly represented a better option 
to Indigenous homes. Even as the Burch relatives on the outside sought their 
baby’s return, the Ute Agency superintendent told the BIA commissioner 
that keeping the child in virtually any institution would be preferable to her 
living in her father’s Colorado home.55

Inherent in administrators’ position was the belief that the institutional 
family (staff) and the institutional home (the asylum) were better than Indig-
enous ones. In his diagnostic assessments of Faribault, Caldwell, the Burch 
sisters, and many others, Harry Hummer presented himself as head of the 
institutional nuclear family and household, resembling what historian Cath-
leen Cahill has described as “federal fathers” and a “surrogate family” to 
Native people.56 In the context of the Canton Asylum, this paternal oversight 
emphasized active, sustained containment. Both Superintendents Gifford 
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and Hummer discouraged relatives from visiting, and other forms of contact, 
such as letters and packages, were closely scrutinized by administrators. 
Canton and BIA representatives implicitly expected the institutional family 
and home to replace Indigenous ones. They regularly made fundamental 
decisions that would have otherwise involved Native kin, from prohibiting 
marriages to arranging the funeral services when people were buried in the 
Asylum cemetery.

At the same time, upkeep for Canton relied largely on coerced labor of 
its institutionalized population. Across the campus, Native people routinely 
cleaned, cooked, farmed, sewed, and tended to others—among many other 
tasks that sustained the Indian Asylum. The maintenance of the superinten-
dent’s quarters and caregiving to the extended Hummer family, in particular, 
expanded in the early 1920s. It appears that Agnes Caldwell worked for a time 
in the Hummer family’s bungalow, although the details of her experiences 
there were never recorded.57 As his own parents aged, Superintendent Hum-
mer assigned Elizabeth Faribault to work in the cottage. Demands on her 
increased after Georgiana Murphy Hummer, the psychiatrist’s sixty-six-year-
old mother, died. Faribault likely was expected to provide care and support 
for the grieving family, including Hummer’s widowed father and children, in 
addition to cleaning and laundry work.

In their various correspondence from this time, Agnes Caldwell and Eliz-
abeth Faribault repeatedly pleaded to be discharged. For Faribault, “working 
for the doctar’s folks” and the daily interactions with the Hummers inside 
their home contributed to her own suffering. As the Dakota woman explained 
to the BIA commissioner, she longed to be back at Sisseton, taking care 
of her aging parent and her children.58 Caldwell echoed this sentiment in 
her own letters, lamenting, “I . . . need to go home.”59 The institutionalized 
women and their families drew attention to what gender and sexuality stud-
ies scholar Sau-ling C. Wong has called “diverted mothering,” contexts in 
which “time and energy available for mothering are diverted from those who, 
by kinship or communal ties, are their more rightful recipients.”60 Tending 
to their own parents and children, not Hummer’s, was a familial obligation 
Caldwell, Faribault, and many others expected to meet. They did not want 
others to replace them at home, and they did not want Hummer’s home 
to replace theirs. “I don’t see why he couldn’t let me go home,” Elizabeth 
Faribault complained in a letter to the BIA. She asked Commissioner Burke 
to intercede: “kindly help me out some way” with Hummer, and “look after 
this.”61 But continuing the practice of deferring to Asylum administrators, 
Burke declined her repeated requests. The greater isolation of the cottage 
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and the particular demands on Faribault and Caldwell magnified the compli-
cated circumstances they each faced in the 1920s.

As family correspondence described illness sweeping through her house 
and community in early 1920, Caldwell’s insistences for a discharge inten-
sified. Noting that her mother and husband could no longer provide full 
care for other family members, she pleaded with federal authorities to be 
allowed to look after her siblings, parents, and children. “We all want to 
see are children,” she told the BIA commissioner, “We all want to see are 
folks.”62 Death took her daughter first. The grieving mother wrote again to 
the commissioner: “I was sad to hear the my little girl die . . . at the Hospi-
tal. . . . Yes if I was there . . . I would took good care of her I will. Never. See 
her again.” Caldwell believed her absence contributed to the loss. “I was all 
good hands to my girl. I know my little want me to come home that why she 
got sick and now she die and I will never see her. Again.”63 Within weeks, 
her son also died, followed by her father later that year.64 In the wake of this 

In this 1922 three-page handwritten letter, Elizabeth Fe Alexis (Faribault) sought 

assistance from the BIA commissioner for her release. “I’ve often wished I was home 

and taking care of my mother and also my children,” she explained. Instead, she 

was forced to take care of Superintendent Hummer’s family, “and he is paying me 

not very much.” Coerced labor, including domestic work like Faribault provided, 

was common at Canton Asylum and other institutions. Photograph by Susan 

Burch and used with permission from Elizabeth Faribault’s granddaughters and the 

concurrence of the Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate Tribal Historic Preservation Office.
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pointed heartache, Caldwell focused her energies into renewed petitions for 
her release to tend to her elderly mother, but she remained in Canton.

Elizabeth Faribault, like many others inhabiting the close confines of the 
locked wards, would have been aware of Caldwell’s poignant circumstances. 
Much of their worlds were intimately familiar. Assigned the same tasks, they 
both inhabited remote locations on the campus: the basement laundry and 
the superintendent’s bungalow. The distinctive power of places weighed 
heavily on the women. Walls and miles separated them from their spouses, 
parents, and siblings. The ache of missing sons and daughters lodged into 
their memories, bones, and heartbeats. Their sustained absences from home 
and assigned work for Hummer’s family pulsed loudly.

The kind of domestic service Agnes Caldwell and Elizabeth Faribault 
provided the Hummer family was readily found at similar institutions, and 
Canton’s superintendent was accustomed to female servants cleaning, 
doing laundry, and providing other household support. During the early 
years of Hummer’s tenure, the family had relied on Asylum staff—always 
female—to tend to their quarters. Archival records show that between 1912 
and 1915, Clara Christopher, Ione Landis, and several other kitchen and 
dining staff members at various times had been expected daily to clean 
the superintendent’s residence. Some of the women claimed that they 
were threatened with dismissal if they did not comply.65 None received 
additional compensation for their labor. Hummer asserted that the work 
was appropriate and did not interfere with their other duties. Unpaid and 
underpaid domestic work was common. Women in settler contexts often 
were expected to attend to housework—their own and that of more afflu-
ent families. This support directly reinforced the broader familial structure 
upon which Canton Asylum was based, enabling the head of household—
the superintendent—to focus his time and energy on management, 
employment, and civic engagement.66

Institution, family, and household sustained one another in other ways. 
Upon her arrival to Canton, Norena Hummer, the superintendent’s wife, 
was made matron, a position she held for two years until pressure from the 
BIA over accusations of negligence forced her resignation.67 By 1910, the 
couple increasingly sought greater physical distance from the locked wards 
and campaigned for a separate cottage on the Asylum grounds.68 Congress 
approved the request several years later, and a Craftsman-style bungalow 
was constructed.69 The Canton administrator subsequently brought his el-
derly parents, Levi and Georgiana Hummer, to live with his family in the 
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new home. Levi, then in his seventies, was added to the Asylum payroll as 
a gardener. When sons Francis and Harry Junior were teenagers, they also 
earned incomes at Canton. The younger Hummer men continued to hold the 
position of laborer when they returned home from college during summers.70

The Hummer household became a flashpoint of conflicts during the su-
perintendent’s tempestuous administration. An array of accusations thread 
across Hummer’s tenure: harassment, inappropriate touching, verbal 
abuse, and extramarital affairs. One of the employees, Ione Landis, pro-
vided a  detailed account of sexual harassment and an assault that occurred 
in 1914.  According to Landis, Hummer ordered her to work in his private 
quarters after he propositioned her during a drive.71 She claimed that Norena 
Hummer intentionally humiliated and menaced her while she cleaned the 
bungalow. Within a year, Landis was dismissed from service by Dr. Hummer.72

Commissioner Cato Sells gently chided Hummer afterward, writing: “It is 
suggested that you keep a more careful watch on your conduct and especially 
control your temper so that this Office may not be subjected to the necessity 
of investigating charges of that character. You must be aware of the fact that, 
while charges of immorality may not be proven, the fact that such charges are 
made should indicate to you the necessity for an extremely careful watch on 
your conduct in relation to the female employees of the institution.” Seeking 
to eliminate problems for the superintendent, himself, and the BIA, Commis-
sioner Sells counseled Hummer, “Your actions should be so carefully under 
the control of a well-balanced judgment that such charges, if made, would 
naturally fall of their own weight.”73

Over the nearly twenty-five years of Hummer’s tenure, BIA administrators 
repeatedly reprimanded him for his conduct as superintendent. Ultimately, 
the supervisory gestures themselves fell of their own weight: most of the 
systems and structures that undergirded Canton Asylum, including unpaid 
and underpaid domestic service for the Hummer household, remained un-
changed. The BIA eventually insisted that government staff should not be 
required to provide private assistance. The Hummers then used incarcerated 
Native people—Agnes Caldwell and Elizabeth Faribault—to fill this role. The 
BIA tacitly endorsed this.74

At the same time Elizabeth and Agnes tended to the superintendent’s 
home and family, correspondence from their relatives rippled with distress, 
frustration, questions between the lines. The attempted erasure of their own 
families wrought by institutionalization was shared by Caldwell and Faribault 
kin within and outside of the Indian Asylum. Nested in this process was 
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the Hummer household and the expectations placed specifically on Agnes 
and Elizabeth to maintain it. But home, these women and others detained 
at Canton insisted, was with their own families, far beyond the institution’s 
walls. They wanted to be with them there.

On a mild winter evening in January 1920, Elizabeth Faribault escaped from 
Canton. Having permission to walk the Asylum grounds, the Sisseton- 
Wahpeton woman probably had spent time beforehand exploring the 
perimeter of the campus, gazing at the open expanse beyond the gates. 
Upon leaving the grounds, she headed east as the stars rose in the night 
sky. Staff informed Superintendent Hummer the next morning, and a search 
began. His report to the commissioner fused a diagnostic process with a 
resolution to the new context. Assuring him that Faribault’s condition had 
been “fairly comfortable” before she “left without permission,” Hummer 
then offered a different treatment: if the Dakota woman reached her home, 
and if her family wanted to “keep her,” he would recommend that Faribault 
be  “discharged” from the institution that she had already left.75 The commis-
sioner supported this plan.76 We can only wonder what Elizabeth thought 
about as she ran, walked, hid, slept, woke, and distanced herself from the 
Indian Insane  Asylum during the next three days.77 Her descendants under-
stand Faribault’s act as resistance, escaping from the Asylum and institution-
alization and returning to her home and family.

After covering twenty miles, apparently all on foot, Faribault was appre-
hended. Superintendent Hummer personally drove to Alvord, Iowa, to re-
trieve her. It is unknown whether Jesse Faribault or her children ever knew 
that Elizabeth had escaped or stayed at large for days. In a subsequent report 
to the BIA, Hummer now invoked her failed escape as justification for keep-
ing her institutionalized, concluding, “It is much better for Elizabeth that she 
remain here.”78 Faribault vigorously disagreed. In her own letters to the BIA 
then and for years after, she argued again that she should be with her family 
in Sisseton.79 Ultimately, a return to her family was not to be.
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Chapter 3: Generations

In a posed black-and-white photograph, probably taken in a studio in Holton, 
Kansas, during the early 1900s, the family of O-Zoush-Quah (Prairie Band 
Potawatomi) and Nash-Wa-Took (Prairie Band Potawatomi) stands solemnly 
in a semicircle.1 Flanking the couple are their four daughters; their young 
son sits on a small stool in front. Intricately beaded and sewn patterns of 
flowers, leafy plants, and geometric shapes wrap around the males’ pants, 
while sashes outline their waists and crisscross their chests. The daughters’ 
draping skirts serve as a palette for beautiful ribboned patterns along the bot-
tom. Long strands of beads drape around their necks. O-Zoush-Quah’s sash 
emphasizes dark, intersecting diagonals interspersed with diamond-shaped 
designs. Wide shawls, also awash in a delicate display of sewn artistry, cover 
the shoulders and fronts of the mother and daughters, their hands held 
underneath.2

The decision to visually document their immediate family together and 
O-Zoush-Quah dressed in her finery directly challenged the efforts press-
ing in on their household. The BIA already had insisted that the two older 
daughters attend the United States Indian Industrial Training School in Law-
rence, Kansas.3 Shack-To-Quah and Ta-Com-Sa-Quah (or Nettie and Anna, as 
they increasingly were called by agency officials and subsequent generations 
of the family) bridged their physical distance from home by writing letters. 
Kin in Mayetta, Kansas, probably translated the English correspondence for 
O-Zoush-Quah since she (and many of her generation) communicated exclu-
sively in Potawatomi. More separations further fractured the family.

Within a few years of the family portrait, in 1908, the BIA removed O-Zoush-
Quah from her home and placed her in the Indian Asylum. For decades after, 
the Potawatomi healer’s kin, like so many families, regularly and unsuccess-
fully sought their loved one’s return. Daughter Nettie Hale Tork regularly pe-
titioned the BIA on behalf of her mother, asking, “How long she compelled 
to stay?” Pointedly, she added that she felt “no pleasure . . . to think of her 
being up there,” noting that the short monthly reports on her mother left 
her doubtful that O-Zoush-Quah was receiving adequate care.4 Nettie as-
serted  familial authority, cautioning staff to limit beadworking and instead to 
offer her mother some quilting pieces to sew as a more comforting activity.  
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Ways for O-Zoush-Quah to pass the time until their reunion was a pressing 
concern of Nettie, who realized that her mother knew “enough to want to 
come home.”5 Younger sister Anna’s impending graduation from the Indian 
Industrial Training School in May 1909 added urgency: “I would like very much 
to take mother to see sis graduate,” Nettie told the superintendent. In closing, 
she appealed to Dr. Hummer’s generosity: “Trusting and praying she will be 
home soon.”6

Over the many years of O-Zoush-Quah’s detention, her Potawatomi 
family directly linked her well-being with their own. Nettie and her sisters 
understood institutionalization as the main cause of unwellness for the 
family, insisting that their mother be reunited with her home and kin on 
the outside.7 Their claims, as with many others from inside and outside 
of Canton, refuted the BIA’s oppressive view of American Indian homes 

Formal photographic portrait of Potawatomi healer O-Zoush-Quah 

(center left) with her husband, four of their daughters, and their son in regalia 

she made for them, ca. 1900. Courtesy of Francis and Jack Jensen.
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and families as inherently inferior. “I can manage her better than anyone,” 
Tork informed Canton staff overseeing her mother.8 Consistently, O-Zoush-
Quah’s children affirmed that all their relatives belonged with them and 
not under the management of the Asylum’s superintendent or in a federal 
institution.  Repeatedly in words and actions, incarcerated members demon-
strated that they, too, would never forget their Indigenous homes or their 
relatives waiting for them there.

Outside the Indian Asylum, O-Zoush-Quah’s younger children matured 
into adulthood. Many started families of their own. Their kinship adapted and 
continued, sometimes on paths increasingly distant from isolated members, 
sometimes circling back and intersecting with shifting memories, spaces, 
and presence.9 Threading across the years was the family’s  insistence that 
O-Zoush-Quah was not forgotten. Her spouse and children kept framed 
photographs of her on their living room walls, wore her beaded clothes, 
and held on to a family Bible with inscriptions documenting her place in 
the family.10 The Potawatomi woman’s perspective of this story exists be-
yond her descendants’ reach, but her present absence remains palpable to 
them. Through family stories, dreams, fragmented correspondence, and in-
stitutional  reports, the distance between them exhales and narrows. In this 
incomplete space of remembrance, they imagine outward from the home-
stead, federal asylum, and archives—hands moving across threads, colored 
beads growing into flowers, eyes looking out to them, then and now.11

Enforced dislocation and its wake of trauma eroded O-Zoush-Quah’s 
family ties. Various scholars have described this broad phenomenon as 
“doing time on the outside”: the material and relational harms inflicted by 
incarceration on generations of kin and communities far beyond brick-and-
mortar prisons.12 O-Zoush-Quah’s family had no idea how long she would 
be detained. They resented the pathological labels attached to the medicine 
woman and the authority others claimed in the name of her care. O-Zoush-
Quah and her kin also shared frustration and hurt caused by their inability to 
protect one another from institutionalization’s reach. Those in kinship with 
O-Zoush-Quah or any of the other hundreds of people detained at Canton 
experienced displacements to the Asylum in both direct and indirect ways.13

During O-Zoush-Quah’s confinement, and for decades after, her family 
members—like many others separated by the Indian Asylum—struggled, 
adapted, hoped for, lost, and claimed one another.14 The combined  measures 
of Western biomedical diagnoses and institutionalization affected  extended 
families and Indigenous nations as well as pathologically labeled Native 
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individuals.15 Institutionalization was a corrosive force, fraying family obliga-
tions, including cross-generational caregiving and child rearing, that closely 
knit Native communities.16

In 1926, almost exactly five years after Elizabeth Faribault’s unsuccessful es-
cape from the Asylum, her mother set out on another arduous trip from Sis-
seton, South Dakota, to Canton. Mary Alexis probably camped on the Asylum 
grounds upon her arrival there, as was commonplace when Native relatives 
came to see their loved ones. Remaining documents do not confirm whether 
she knew or even suspected that her daughter was pregnant. Their meeting 
would have left little doubt: Elizabeth was near the end of her third trimester. 
No staff reports or letters detail their conversation. It is unknown whether 
Elizabeth Faribault had told her mother the circumstances of her pregnancy. 
We are left to imagine the questions that hovered between them, spoken 
or unspoken—about the baby; about Elizabeth; about their daily lives, their 
future. Both Mary and Elizabeth experienced the piercing inability to protect 
their children. The destructive force of institutionalization weighed heavily 
on the family.

Mary Alexis’s visit to the Indian Asylum challenged institutionalization’s 
process of erasure. Meeting with kin on the inside was more exceptional 
than common. While families with loved ones incarcerated at Canton widely 
shared experiences of anguish and of desire for reunion, most relatives never 
met with their kin on the Asylum grounds. Some, like Elizabeth’s spouse, 
Jesse, visited soon after their relatives were taken but were met with scorn 
and paternalism by the superintendent.17 Few people returned for subse-
quent visits. Other barriers limited the opportunities for Elizabeth Faribault’s 
family to physically cross through Canton’s walls. The cost of travel and 
time directly decreased their frequency. Arranging trips to the Asylum also 
required translators for many extended family members, as was the case 
with Mary Alexis, who did not speak English. Additional obstacles, including 
the superintendent’s close policing of correspondence, intensified family 
members’ separation from one another.

A few weeks after Mary Alexis returned home, the Sisseton Agency received 
a monthly report about Elizabeth Faribault. Staff forwarded it to her mother. 
On the small slip of paper, dated October 1, 1926, Dr. Hummer had left the 
mimeographed description of Elizabeth’s diagnosis as “unchanged” but had 
added “in bed.” In the “remarks” section, he maintained the same refrain as 
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previous updates: she was generally clean, seldom sick, and assisted with 
work at the bungalow (the superintendent’s family cottage on the Asylum 
grounds). In the right margin, he wrote simply, “had a daughter.”18 A few days 
earlier, in the afternoon of September 28, Elizabeth had given birth to a girl, 
whom she named Cora Winona. In the following days, Asylum correspon-
dence to the BIA claimed that both mother and child were “doing fairly well.”19

Faribault’s family understood the situation in starkly different terms. Mary 
Alexis recognized Elizabeth’s extended exile and unplanned pregnancy as 
a violation of her daughter and their family.20 Outraged by her daughter’s 
circumstances, she turned to relative and friend Rose D. Renville, a school-
teacher from a prominent Sisseton family that had long served as mediators 
between their nation and white settlers.21 Renville offered Alexis English- 
language skills as well as her political connections to aid Mary, Elizabeth, 
and Cora Winona. Recognizing white male power as a valuable commodity 
in this advocacy effort, Renville dictated a message to Royal Johnson, a South 
Dakota Republican congressman and former state attorney general.22 A flurry 
of letters ensued. Pointing to stories of mistreatment at the Indian Asylum 
and Cora’s birth as proof that Superintendent Hummer was untrustworthy, 
Elizabeth Faribault’s Sisseton kin demanded an intervention. Congressman 
Johnson complied, asking the BIA to investigate and report back to him.23

In written exchanges, her advocates explained that the birth of Elizabeth’s 
child made Mary “desire her release more than ever.”24 Drawing attention 
to the violation—of Elizabeth, her family, and her Sisseton community—the 
letter continued, emphasizing that Mary did not feel that “her daughter has 
been treated right and is very anxious that something be done for her . . . 
release.”25 According to a related institutional report from the time, Elizabeth 
Faribault held Harry Hummer directly accountable for her condition, blaming 
the  superintendent for not allowing her to be with her family at home.26

Deflecting attention from himself, Hummer presented Elizabeth as the 
true source of her own predicament: “Carrying out a policy of making this 
institution as nearly homelike as circumstances would permit,” he explained 
to the BIA, “this woman has had restricted parole privileges of the institution 
grounds for many years.” But this “privilege she abused . . . giving birth to a 
child.” The superintendent alleged that another institutionalized person, Wil-
lie Dayea (Diné Nation), was Cora Winona’s biological father.27 Modeling BIA 
responsibility, he assured the commissioner, “Of course, [Faribault’s] privi-
leges were withdrawn after that date and have not been restored.” His focus 
on the institutionalized woman intensified. “Elizabeth Fairbault is, at present, 
materially deteriorated (demented) and, in my opinion, it is decidedly for her 
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best interests to remain in this institution.”28 The BIA accepted Hummer’s 
medical assessment and his recommendations, declining also to investigate 
the circumstances leading to Cora Winona’s birth. Elizabeth and her infant 
daughter remained in the locked wards.

In the context of the Indian Asylum, Elizabeth Faribault’s pregnancy in 1926 
was both remarkable and familiar. Official Asylum correspondence and pop-
ulation rosters between 1903 and 1933 suggest that at least six other in-
carcerated women became pregnant while at Canton.29 The actual number 
of pregnancies and births of live children remains unknown. Government 
records suggest that at least several miscarriages also occurred. It is proba-
ble that the actual numbers were greater. For many reasons, these kinds of 
details rarely appear in existing sources. Few institutional updates directly 
addressed childbirths that occurred during a given year. References to infants 
appeared primarily in annual reports alongside statistics on illnesses and 
deaths, embedding them firmly but marginally within the Asylum. Sadly, we 
have no direct testimony from Elizabeth Faribault or other people who gave 
birth while institutionalized at Canton. Their silence permeates this chapter 
of the story.

Kinship also permeates this account, surfacing amid constrained insti-
tutional records. Across many years, Mary Alexis insisted that her daughter 
belonged with their family in Sisseton.30 Elizabeth Faribault’s own actions—
attempted escapes, writing petitions, and verbally denouncing those who 
institutionalized her—also affirmed kinship in the face of corrosive forces. 
For these women and their kin, family, home, and institution tangled across 
generations.

Elizabeth’s daughter, Cora Winona Faribault, spent her first few years in 
Canton’s locked wards. She was one of only two infants born inside the Asy-
lum who made it out and who survived to adulthood. Conspicuously, Canton 
enrollment lists and other medical reports frequently referred to institution-
alized infants generically. Little Cora, for example, appeared merely as “Baby 
Fairbault.”31 Elizabeth made a noticeably different claim, however, calling her 
daughter Cora Winona.32 According to historian of Dakota culture Collette 
Hyman, “personal names reflected and reinforced core values and beliefs, 
cultural identity, and social organization.”33 The name “Winona” commonly 
denoted a first-born daughter.34 Elizabeth had given birth to six other children 
before Cora Winona, including daughter Annie, who was born in 1904. Sib-
lings Annie, Solomon, and Howard were still living when their mother was 
institutionalized in 1915. Did the new baby, whose conception likely came 
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from an act of violence, tie Elizabeth more fully to the Asylum? Calling her 
Winona, the firstborn daughter, suggests a life severed from Sisseton. At 
the same time, this name holds glimmers of hope, claims of belonging. The 
presence of Cora Winona and other children born and living on the inside of 
Canton also disrupted institutionalization’s process of elimination, a tender 
and complicated understory of kinship’s continuation.

What happened to Elizabeth and Cora Winona was uncommon but not 
singular. Their lived experience of family spanning the inside and outside of 
Canton Asylum was shared by many others, including extended kin from the 
Sisseton-Wahpeton Dakota Band.

By the time Elizabeth Faribault entered the Indian Asylum in 1915, fellow 
Sisseton-Wahpeton member George Leo Cleveland Marlow had been 
detained there for nearly a decade. The age peers who had grown up in 
close proximity on the Sisseton Reservation likely would have remembered 
one another, shared news of their families back home, and recognized 
the rolling hills, lakes, farmsteads, and clapboard houses of each other’s 
memories. Over Faribault’s and Marlow’s shared detention, other Sisseton- 
Wahpeton people were confined to the Asylum as well.35 Between 1902 and 
1934— Canton’s formal existence—more than one-fourth of the nearly four 
hundred institutionalized people were members of the Great Sioux Nation.36

Elizabeth Faribault and the other 105 Lakota, Dakota, and Nakota people 
would find familiar faces, hear their Indigenous languages spoken by others, 
and be recognized while on the inside.37 Other people confined at Canton 
had similar experiences. More often than not, numerous members of the 
same Native nations concurrently inhabited the Asylum wards.

Thin documentation inversely casts thick shadows over most relation-
ships within the Indian Asylum, making it impossible to conclude with any 
certainty the actual lived connections between people. In this cloudy context, 
passing references to instances of caregiving, to advice sought and given, 
and to bilingual individuals interpreting and translating for others embody 
meaningful experiences of relationships that shaped everyday life.38 While 
their individual life stories varied, many if not all of the Native men, women, 
and children likely knew at least one other person as kin or recognized fa-
milial connections among them. This, of course, does not mean that every 
incarcerated person could or did adhere to their nation’s cultural norms for 
expressing or understanding kinship. Indigenous people’s active kin connec-
tions, in all their known, unknown, and imagined forms, defy the institutional 
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forces that rendered them invisible and that BIA representatives and others 
actively sought to erase.39

For Elizabeth Faribault, the fundamental tenet of Dakota life—being a 
good relative—anchored her to people outside Canton and held her close 
to others on the inside.40 This was evident with her kin, Nellie Kampeska. 
In 1917, Kampeska, a Sisseton-Wahpeton Dakota student at the Pipestone 
Indian Boarding School, was transferred to Canton Asylum. After the in-
take process was completed, staff placed her in the women’s wing on the 
second floor. Gazing at the others living in the locked ward, the young 
woman may have wondered how she would navigate this new and  imposing 
environment. It would not have taken her long to find a familiar face. Tall 
and  striking, Elizabeth Faribault had known Kampeska’s family back on the 
Sisseton Reservation. Perhaps she previously had even spent time with 
the younger woman, who was an age peer of Elizabeth’s older children, 
Solomon and Annie.

Circumstances imposed physical proximity between Faribault and Kamp-
eska, but kinship imbued the experience with meaning. In her own written 
accounts, Kampeska referenced regular visits to “Elizabeth’s room.”41 Some 
evenings they would sit in the parlor, listening to music or to the conversa-
tions around them. Both had parole privileges, allowing them to walk the 
grounds together. The two also conversed easily with one another in spoken 
English and Dakota. The latter language probably served them well when 
they sought to convey private information around the watchful white staff. 
Hours spent in the company of someone who cared and understood, who 
listened, commiserated, and advised, gave some respite from the stagnating 
days of institutionalized life.

Nellie Kampeska and Elizabeth Faribault claimed one another in ways that 
had sustained families generations before them. In Dakota Nation, as with 
many other Indigenous communities, inter- and intratribal adoptions have 
been (and still are) significantly valued. Adopted kin fortified communities.42

In the wake of deaths, for example, a family might adopt someone who had 
been a close friend of the relative who had passed on. The adopted member 
would keep their original kin connections, names, and living arrangements 
but gain new kinship obligations and rights to the mourning family mem-
bers.43 Like most of their daily experiences, the names Kampeska and Fari-
bault might have called one another were never recorded. Mother. Sister. 
Auntie. Cousin. Friend. How the Dakota women identified their relationship 
exists outside institutional sources, but the deep connections they shared 
repeatedly emerges.
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Kampeska generously shared valuable knowledge of written English and 
of “white cultural ways” that Faribault (who had never attended school and 
could not read or write in English) certainly appreciated. In 1918, Kampeska 
helped Faribault write the plea that inspired numerous neighbors and allies 
back at Sisseton to support her cause. It must have taken many hours for 
Kampeska to show her how to write out carefully crafted messages. The 
teenager would have repeated her signature phrases to Faribault, empha-
sizing to BIA recipients that she would “kindly like to go home” and that 
she needed them to “please kindly help.”44 The lettering she learned in the 
boarding school became templates for Elizabeth Faribault, who drew upon 
these phrases, approximating Kampeska’s clean cursive in letters written 
years after their shared detention.45

Kinship and English literacy combined to resist the forces of institution-
alization. With Kampeska’s assistance, Faribault began writing numerous 
letters to relatives back in Sisseton, exchanging written updates with her 
husband and mother and orchestrating an extensive campaign to achieve her 
release. A subsequent petition signed by more than fifty people demanding 
her discharge prompted more forceful responses from Canton representa-
tives. At the time, Superintendent Hummer contended that the signatories 
had been duped by Faribault’s written plea. The Dakota woman, he charged, 
was “unable to write such a letter.” “In fact,” he countered, “the letter was 
written by another patient for Mrs. Fairbault.” Pointedly, he named Kampeska 
as the duplicitous author.46

Nellie Kampeska also seems to have shared with Elizabeth Faribault other 
forms of resistance, including strategies for escape. On January 20, 1919, 
the teenager broke out of the locked wards, heading east and south from the 
Asylum grounds. Two days later, she was captured about twenty miles away, 
in Rock Valley, Iowa. On the day she reentered the Indian Asylum, Kampeska 
struck back, penning a detailed affidavit that threatened to expose at least six 
workers there for harassment, moral delinquency, and dishonesty.47 Super-
intendent Hummer released her shortly thereafter, placing the defiant young 
woman on a train to Ortley, South Dakota.48 The superintendent’s decision 
may have helped avert scandal of his employees’ misdeeds. It also separated 
the two Dakota kin.

It is unknown whether the women wrote to one another after Kamp-
eska left Canton. Even if they had tried to send letters, it is unlikely that  
Hummer—who read all outgoing and incoming mail—would have allowed 
their transmission. Kampeska’s imprint on Faribault’s life clearly extended 
past their shared time on the inside, however. Prior to the teen’s arrival, 
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Faribault was described by Canton employees as “quiet and causing no 
trouble.” After Kampeska returned home, however, Faribault made repeated 
attempts to escape. Her first breakout mirrored Kampeska’s: she bolted 
on January 13, 1920, heading east but then turning north. Perhaps she had 
learned from her Dakota kin that escape efforts during the wintertime were 
more likely to succeed because of the seasonal influx of tourists to Canton, 
which, since 1912, boasted the largest Nordic ski jump in the state. By the 
1920s, thousands of visitors flocked to the area to watch and to participate in 
regional competitions. No sources remain that help us understand Elizabeth 
Faribault’s experience during her three-day flight, as the space between her 
and Canton grew like the snow drifts around her. The anguished outcome re-
ceived a brief mention in the Asylum record: on January 16, Faribault was ap-
prehended in an Iowa town twenty miles from the Indian Asylum. Hummer 
personally drove to retrieve her, a task typically undertaken by attendants.49

Faribault’s second known attempt to flee Canton Asylum was made possi-
ble by kinship as well. During the summer of 1921, her mother, Mary Alexis, 
first visited her daughter at Canton.50 No Asylum reports log this visit, but 
shortly afterward both women directly disputed Elizabeth’s institutionaliza-
tion. Alexis dictated a letter to Superintendent Hummer, pleading for her 
daughter’s release. Days later, on September 24, Faribault jumped through a 
screened sun porch to the ground, bolting away from the Asylum campus.51

She traveled due north toward the Sisseton Agency, following a path similar 
to the one her mother had taken just days earlier. The Dakota woman arrived 
at Flandreau Agency—seventy-one miles from Canton—three days later. The 
local superintendent, identifying Faribault as an “outsider,” contacted Hum-
mer. In replays of May 1915 and January 1920, a sheriff arrived at the family 
home, where Elizabeth had sought refuge, apprehended the defiant woman, 
and waited for the doctor to arrive. Hummer reported to the BIA the fol-
lowing day, “Barring the fact that her feet are blistered from the three days 
of walking, she seems not particularly worse for her escapade.”52 For the 
Alexis-Faribault family, heartbreak and indignation trace across this memory. 
Returning to paper and Nellie Kampeska’s tutelage, Elizabeth Faribault tried 
again to bridge the distance.

Elizabeth Alexis Faribault began her seventh year of incarceration, 1922, with 
a letter to David Mazakute, the adult son of a prominent Dakota leader. 
“My Dear friend Hello,” she began. Drawing on her writing lessons from 
Kampeska, Faribault, in halting English, informed Mazakute that she “will 
write” or “tell you every thing” and that she hoped that he “gets the picture.” 
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The letter suggests that the two had corresponded previously, although no 
other copies of their exchanges remain in the archives. Into her nonstandard 
English, Faribault inserted Dakota. Previously, speaking in Dakota had en-
abled her and Kampeska to exchange information without staff understand-
ing or intervening. Writing in Dakota circumvented Hummer’s authority at 
the same time it reaffirmed Faribault’s kin connections beyond the Asylum. 
She cautioned Mazakute that “mis de iwahasni”(“I do not laugh/this is not 
funny”) and alluded to barriers, departures, losses, and hopes. Fears of being 
erased from memory during her lifetime punctuate the letter: “nobody even 
thought of me or remembered me,” she lamented.53 Repeatedly calling him 
“koda,” she claimed the right as kin to be with her tribe.54 As a form of kin-
ship, “koda” entails obligations and interdependence.55 Invoking the cultural 
ritual of shaking hands, she exhorted Mazakute to remember her to others 
on the outside, also offering to him her own extended hand of friendship. 
Affirming, perhaps asserting, her existence within her broader tribal commu-
nity, Elizabeth Alexis Faribault emphatically reiterated and closed her note 
with the phrase “he miye”—“it is me.”56

It appears that this letter never reached its intended recipient but re-
mained in Dr. Hummer’s files. Six months after Faribault wrote it, Hummer 
still had the letter. After additional communication written by Faribault, her 
family, and other advocates intensified their demands for her release, the 
superintendent sent Mazakute’s letter to BIA Commissioner Burke in June 
1922 as an “index of her mentality.”57 Hummer discounted Faribault’s written 
correspondence as an incoherent rant, evidence of mental disorder.

In leveraging insanity, Hummer used frameworks of settler ableism to 
deny Faribault’s agency. Pathologizing Indigenous language and relations, 
the superintendent dismissed the Dakota woman’s self-determination, even 
her full personhood. Fracturing generations of Indigenous kinship was one 
of the outcomes of all of these denials.

Compounded losses pool into Faribault’s letter. Her memories hover be-
tween the lines: attempted escapes from Canton and long drives back to the 
Asylum with Dr. Hummer, hours cleaning the superintendent’s cottage and 
tending to his family, Mary Alexis’s visit and the news that husband Jesse had 
divorced her, Nellie Kampeska’s face, her own children back in Sisseton—
the life and community beyond the locked wards. Symbolically and literally, 
violence and theft wither the edges of her correspondence. The harms Fari-
bault referenced—barriers, departures, abandonment, unremembering— 
continued for years to constrain her life on the inside. Her letter to Mazakute 
was likewise diverted, detained. It appears now amid hundreds of crumbling 
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BIA files held in National Archives boxes labeled “Canton Asylum.” No sub-
sequent communication by Elizabeth Alexis Faribault remain in the record, 
although other correspondence suggests she may have continued to write.

Faribault’s piercing fear of being forgotten was not an abstract concern. 
Her sustained absence from home and life on the outside unwove swaths 
of her family tapestry. This embodied loss was shared, though unevenly so. 
Imagining Faribault and other Native people imprisoned at Canton  Asylum, 
author Pemina Yellow Bird has written, “They must have longed for a  familiar 
face, their own food, their own homes, their own tongues, trying to hang 
onto what they loved—their culture that told them who they were, who 
they belonged to.”58 In this fractured history, Faribault’s closing words to 
Mazakute—he miye (it is me)—whispers, clamors.

There are more questions than answers about what happened to Elizabeth 
Faribault at the end of her life. Early on Friday March 2, 1928, an employee 
had observed her rise and begin her daily routine, briefly leaving and then 
returning to her room to tend to her daughter, Cora Winona, who shared her 
bed. It remains unclear whether Faribault spoke to attendant Katie Knox that 
chilly morning while the staff member monitored the locked ward, but Knox 
claimed that she did not express any complaints or appear unwell. Several 
hours later, Knox circled back past Faribault’s room and found the forty-six-
year-old Dakota woman’s lifeless body. Acknowledging no prior illnesses, 
Superintendent Hummer informed the BIA that Elizabeth Faribault must 
have succumbed to “heart failure.”59

Archived sources from the Asylum to the Sisseton Reservation superin-
tendent imply that Faribault’s body may have been returned to northeast 
South Dakota. However, her descendants have never been able to locate 
their relative. Granddaughter Faith O’Neil insists that Elizabeth Faribault 
never left Canton. It is more likely, O’Neil contends, that she is among the 
unaccounted-for people buried in the Asylum cemetery. She wonders about 
the circumstances of her grandmother’s death, whether overt violence or 
quieter forms—heartbreak, resignation—brought about her end.60 What is 
known without question in this complex, cloudy situation is that O’Neil’s 
mother, Cora Winona Faribault, remained at Canton for years after her own 
mother’s death.61 For the Alexis-Faribault family, ruptures, trauma, and recla-
mations reverberate across generations. Faith O’Neil vigorously remembers 
Elizabeth Faribault, assuaging her grandmother’s anxiety of being lost, for-
gotten. She keeps near her bedstead a copy of Faribault’s letter to Mazakute  
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and other correspondence. Photographs of family members surround them. 
But O’Neil cannot as yet close the full distance between her family’s past and 
current lives. So she lingers—like so many other descendants of institution-
alized people—waiting and searching at the edges of history.

Little is known about the early years of O’Neil’s mother, Cora Winona Fari-
bault. Oblique references in the medical file suggests that Elizabeth Faribault 
had bathed, dressed, and tended to her daughter daily. Witnessing children 
like Cora Winona clearly motivated some of the other nearby adults to offer 
what parental protection and support they could. In this way, young people’s 
presence especially fortified kinship connections with others around them. 
Extended networks of relations, common in many Indigenous communities, 
had always proliferated within the institution (and despite it). Since  earliest 
times, recognized relationships based on affinities, not merely heredity, played 
a central role in organizing and sustaining many Native nations.62 “Even now,” 
anthropologist Jay Miller has explained, “members of the First Nations of the 
Americas uphold the axiom that everything comes down not to a matter of 
money but to a matter of kinship. Who is connected to whom, from mortals 
to immortals, defines these tribal universes as much today as it has always 
done in the past.”63 U.S. settler society is strongly built around relationships 
anchored in marriage and heredity. While kinship in many Native American 
nations shares these characteristics, their meanings can vary widely. For in-
stance, the role of “mother” is not limited merely to an individual’s biological 
status but includes patterns of relationships and obligations as well.64 Individ-
uals have multiple mothers who are equally understood as such.

One of the women who additionally mothered Cora Winona was Lizzie 
Red Owl (Oglala Lakota).65 As a young girl, Red Owl had been sent to the 
Carlisle Indian Industrial School, where she was assigned domestic service 
work for a local white family. She had grieved the separation from her par-
ents at the time, a sense of loss repeated during her eleven-year detention 
at the Indian Asylum.66 Institutionalized at Canton in 1922, Lizzie Red Owl 
had known Cora Winona since her birth. Raised with the common under-
standing that “being good family” was a daily practice, she regularly looked 
after the little girl. During evenings when the Asylum screened films, the 
child often accompanied Red Owl. In one 1929 report, for example, a staff 
member noted, “Winona has never cried at the movies yet nor fussed either, 
she always sits quietly on Lizzie’s lap and bothers no one.”67 Medical files 
also mention Lizzie Red Owl escorting the child to the toilet and tidying the 
bathroom area and ward afterward—work that Red Owl felt reflected her 
maturity and reliability.68
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Lizzie Red Owl made these three fabric 

dolls during her detention at Canton 

Asylum, ca. 1920s. Red ribbons adorn the 

sleeves, shirt front, and hair of one doll, 

while fringed deerskin and tiny beaded 

necklaces distinguish another. The third 

doll, made with textured linen, yarn, 

deerskin, and yellow ribbons, smiles with 

outstretched arms. Photographed by 

Susan Burch and used with permission 

from relatives of Lizzie Red Owl.

Other references suggest that Elizabeth Faribault, Lizzie Red Owl, and 
perhaps others had instilled in Cora Winona Siouan language and cultural 
ways of being. For example, Canton’s superintendent described the three-
year-old’s speech as “backward talking.”69 Shortly thereafter, Hummer ad-
mitted that the child was developing in a typical manner. His pattern of 
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disparaging peoples’ written and spoken forms of Dakota raises the pos-
sibility that the little girl may have been overheard communicating in her 
mothers’ language.

The strict confines of the Indian Asylum narrowed opportunities for In-
digenous forms of childrearing, but oblique references in archival sources 
suggest imaginative ways Red Owl and others navigated these barriers. Craft-
work became one such outlet. During her incarceration at Canton, Lizzie 
Red Owl was known for making beautiful dolls. Dressed in fringed shirts 
and moccasins, they were meticulously constructed. Long braided hair tied 
with ribbons adorned some of her creations.70 Tiny strands of clear and col-
orful beaded necklaces encircled their necks. On at least one creation, Red 
Owl painted designs on the moccasins and vest that matched the doll’s red 
undershirt. Arms outstretched, her dolls would fit comfortably in a child’s 
hands. Lizzie Red Owl would have played with similar dolls during her own 
childhood, having learned the craft of dollmaking from her kin.71 A local 
Canton girl whom Red Owl had befriended, Clarice Juel Mikkelson, received 
several dolls from her.72 Likely, the woman from Pine Ridge also made some 
for Cora Winona.

Donated by Clarice Juel Mikkelson decades later, four of Lizzie Red Owl’s 
dolls currently sit inside an enclosed glass case in the Canton Public  Library. 
Faith O’Neil, Cora Winona’s daughter, stopped by the library on the cen-
tennial anniversary of her grandmother Elizabeth Faribault’s removal to the 
Indian Asylum. Her visit to see her family’s material archive countered in-
stitutionalization’s denial of kinship. The presence of Elizabeth and Cora 
Winona Faribault’s descendant affirmed that kinship ultimately, if incom-
pletely, survived Canton Asylum. Taking the dolls into her cupped hands, 
Faith O’Neil thanked Lizzie Red Owl for being kin.
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Chapter 4: Familiar

On November 6, 1917, Menominee members Peter Clafflin, Seymour 
Wauketch, Agnes Caldwell, Susan Wishecoby, and Christine Amour sat close 
to one another under the watchful gaze of their BIA escorts as the train they 
rode gathered speed. Earlier on that gray and overcast day, the agency rep-
resentatives had shown up at their homes on the Menominee Reservation 
in Wisconsin, authorized to transport the five men and women to the Indian 
Asylum in South Dakota.1 Sources about what happened in the wake of this 
dislocation remain uneven and fragmented.

Following typical procedures, staff separated the group at the Canton 
Asylum. Likely, Caldwell, Wishecoby, and Amour were assigned to the 
first-floor dormitory rooms in the newly opened Hospital Building; empty 
beds in the second-floor men’s wards would have awaited Clafflin and 
Wauketch.2 Later, administrators transferred Amour to the Main Building. 
Eventually, Caldwell also would be moved there. It appears that the men 
rarely left the hospital wing. Across their decades on the inside, these indi-
viduals regularly would hear the clicking sounds of keys locking them into 
rooms and hallways, look through barred windows to the world outside, 
and inhale air saturated by years and lives inside the brick-and-mortar walls 
around them.

The experiences of these Menominee men and women also fit broader 
patterns. Each person institutionalized at Canton daily encountered its 
foundational form: involuntary containment and surveillance.3 By design, 
detention penetrated every level of the institution.4 Padlocked wards, secured 
windows, walls, and fences held people within its grounds. On a routine 
basis, straightjackets, shackles, and iron beds, as well as ward attendants, 
subdued numerous individuals.5 From the moment Caldwell, Wishecoby, 
Amour, Clafflin, Wauketch, and others on their wards arose, a small fleet of 
employees oversaw them: bathing and toileting, eating and working, wail-
ing and waiting, averting gazes and staring back. At night, watchmen and 
other staff patrolled the buildings. Institutional confinement and surveil-
lance touched every moment of every day. Involuntary servitude, a worn and 



f a m i l i a r  69

recognizable routine within Canton, buttressed the process and experience 
of institutionalization.

Early into her detention, Elizabeth Faribault was assigned to work details. 
Initially, she assisted the matron in the laundry.6 After stripping soiled bed-
sheets and gathering clothes, towels, and other linens from the wards, the 
Sisseton woman would spend hours in the basement of the Main Building, 
loading washers and folding sheets, dampness and the fused smell of deter-
gent and coal residue clinging to her own clothing. Her performance in this 
role likely contributed to the superintendent’s decision to increase Faribault’s 
workload in the 1920s.7 As Superintendent Hummer’s parents moved to Can-
ton to be with their son and family, the administrator sought additional do-
mestic service at his home from institutionalized women. Faribault was among 
those selected. Her predecessors had described a daily regimen of picking up 
discarded clothing, scrubbing the bathrooms, making the beds, and sweeping 
the wood floors. Verbal attacks and intimidation by members of the Hummer 
family sometimes accompanied this work.8 Faribault resented the assignment, 
arguing with Commissioner Burke in 1922 that she should be discharged from 
the Asylum.9 Her grievances went unheeded. Faribault labored in the superin-
tendent’s cottage for four more years, up until she gave birth to her daughter, 
Cora Winona.10 Less than eight weeks later, Faribault was recorded as working 
again. A monthly update noted that she “assists with work on [the] ward.”11

The tasks would have been familiar—hours of removing dirty linens from the 
dorm rooms, cleaning bathrooms, and mopping floors.

Elsewhere on the grounds, Willie Dayea also had compulsory work. The 
Diné man from Lupton, Arizona, apparently plowed the surrounding fields 
during the warmer seasons. In addition to driving the tractor, he may have 
overseen others doing harvesting work. Asylum employees apparently trusted 
the young man as a laborer, describing him as “a good worker and needs no 
supervision.”12 During Dayea’s thirteen-year incarceration, the Asylum sig-
nificantly expanded its acreage, which created additional demands for farm 
hands.13 References to his “fine work” and “good natured” demeanor suggest 
that his efforts notably helped the staff and the institution.14 It was taxing, 
ongoing labor. In 1925 alone, for example, Dayea and other institutionalized 
men, along with paid employees, enabled the Asylum to cultivate ten acres of 
potatoes, ten acres of oats, and twenty-five acres each of corn and alfalfa, in 
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addition to pasturing hogs and cows.15 When indoors, Dayea contributed to 
Asylum workings as well, sometimes assisting with menial tasks. On a daily 
basis, he would have observed other institutionalized people similarly working 
on behalf of Canton, bathing and feeding especially frail members, preparing 
the meals he and others ate, washing dishes, and mopping the floors.

Elizabeth Faribault and Willie Dayea were among many institutionalized 
people who regularly labored on behalf of the Indian Asylum. According to the 
superintendent, “a very large percentage” (often 25–30 percent) of the people 
detained at Canton were assigned work details.16 The federal asylum mirrored 
many other carceral institutions in this practice. Long before the Indian Asylum 
was established, medical professionals had considered labor a critical form of 
therapy and administration.17 In this context, it is unsurprising that more than 
seventy-five of the nearly four hundred people confined at the Indian Asylum 
had direct references to their labor as part of the medical assessments: “assists 
farmer,” “polishes floors,” “cleans wards,” “general housework,” “assists in 
kitchen,” “helps with untidy patients,” “a good worker.”18 Canton’s superinten-
dent understood assigned work as an effective way to keep his charges busy 
and manageable.19 Like other institutional administrators, he cast involuntary 
labor as a sign of efficiency, economy, and scientific management. Asylum re-
ports to BIA officials claimed that the people detained at Canton had annually 
produced hundreds of fabric items, including clothing, dining linens, towels, 
and bedding. The vast quantities of vegetables grown, herds milked, and  living 
areas cleaned by those from the locked wards materially reduced Asylum ex-
penses.20 For Faribault, Dayea, and numerous other institutionalized people, 
laboring was a required and often unpaid part of their daily lives.21

Some assigned tasks amplified vulnerability, particularly when the work 
occurred in unsanitary or physically isolated spaces. For Elizabeth Faribault 
and countless other people, precarious jobs were customary, damaging, 
and unending. Incarcerated indefinitely, Willie Dayea and many others were 
motivated to serve the institution as a way to survive. According to archival 
sources, “good workers” like Dayea typically received additional food rations, 
time away from the padlocked dormitories, access to more people and spaces, 
comparatively less surveillance, and sometimes comparatively greater status 
and influence.22 Although coerced labor marked people’s lives in varied ways, 
everyone detained in the locked wards shared experiences of persistent harm.

As her descendants tell it, thirty-six-year-old Emma Gregory (Cowetas and 
Wind Clan of the Creek Nation) was forcibly removed from her mother’s 
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home in Kellyville on Creek Nation land to the Canton Asylum in 1905.23

Most likely, Gregory spent her first four years primarily in one of the large 
and crowded dormitory rooms filled with rows of iron bedsteads and other 
women.24 Mundane, hourless time pulled on her, as it did every confined 
person at the Indian Asylum. According to institutional reports, this mother 
of three “held her own” and was “unchanged” for several years. When she 
challenged staff, Gregory was labeled “combative.” At other times, she was 
described as “a frail little woman weighing only 76 pounds and easily man-
aged.”25 The nighttime sounds of coughing and fevered thrashing of room-
mates would be as commonplace to Emma Gregory as the sight of soot dust 
from the heaters that layered on her clothing and sheets. One might imagine 
many reasons for the “periods of depression and excitement” staff claimed 
Gregory experienced during her detention.26

In May 1909, staff locked Emma Gregory in an isolation room on the 
women’s ward. Superintendent Hummer believed that she had contracted 
pulmonary tuberculosis.27 Public health campaigns at the time emphasized 
hygienic measures to reduce the spread of tuberculosis, but Canton’s prac-
tices and the environmental conditions surrounding Emma Gregory and many 
others  magnified the likely transmission of this and other infectious diseases.28

Although standard tests for tuberculosis had been developed years earlier, 
medical staff at Canton had never administered them.29 While Gregory was 
removed to solitary confinement, another institutionalized woman in the last 
stages of pulmonary tuberculosis was housed with others who had not yet 
acquired the contagion.30 Two staff physicians, John Turner and L. M. Hardin, 
disagreed with Dr. Hummer’s diagnosis of Gregory, claiming that she had 
not shown common tubercular symptoms.31 No subsequent explanations or 
challenges accompany Hummer’s decision to keep the woman in the dark 
isolation room. The result was both devastating and familiar for Gregory, as it 
was for other incarcerated people.32 Eleven months later the Creek woman was 
still locked in the “single room without a ray of sunshine.”33 When she tried 
to escape its confines, staff blocked her, relocking the door.34 Down the hall-
way, others would have heard her pounding and yelling. More often than not, 
Gregory’s acts of adaptation, struggle, and resistance—and those of everyone 
around her—went unrecorded. Later, a medical inspector opined to the BIA 
that “a mistake in judgement was made” by denying Gregory time outdoors 
in the warmth and sunshine.35 As was usual, Washington did not intervene. 
Extended solitary confinement for three years would have undermined the 
petite woman’s health and well-being even if the forty-five-year-old had not 
contracted a serious lung infection.36 As her great-great-granddaughter views 
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it, institutionally induced exposure to tuberculosis and the traumatic effects 
of isolation served as a punishment alongside other government practices of 
Indigenous erasure that Emma Gregory suffered.37

“The atmosphere awfully bad,” James Herman, a member of Rosebud Sioux 
Tribe, wrote during 1914, his second year of confinement.38 For the Lakota 
father of seven, the fundamental act of inhaling air inside the Canton Asy-
lum was an experience of deterioration. Herman detailed many instances of 
attendants refusing to flush the toilets, prompting him to intervene. “I have 
gotten up on the cold floor & gone in & flushed them because the smell 
was non endurable.”39 Like everyone else in the locked wards, he also would 
have been regularly accosted by the distinct smell of formaldehyde and  
molasses—used to catch flies—that wafted down the corridors.40 Poor ven-
tilation and coal soot from radiators floated in the stale air and coated the 
linens in his dormitory, while the steam heaters cooked molecules of sweat, 
food stains, tobacco smoke, and human breath.41 The fifty-three-year-old’s 
account resembled others in detailing the dehumanizing effects of their 
circumstances—indefinite detention and separation from loved ones, in-
adequate food, dirty clothing and filthy rooms, people left unclothed, and 
others handcuffed for weeks and months.

As James Herman intimately knew, the implicit violence of daily life at 
Canton Asylum sometimes erupted into overt violence. Over his years of 
detention, he witnessed multiple accounts of physical abuses: employees 
tossing men from beds, extinguishing all the lights so people could not lo-
cate bathrooms, and knowingly leaving incapacitated individuals overnight 
in beds filthy with their own urine and feces.42 Some men understood atten-
dants denying them access to toilets at night as an expression of domination 
over all the Indigenous adults and children detained at Canton.43 According 
to Herman, staff members regularly menaced men on his ward. The Sicangu 
Lakota man from Rosebud detailed how Martin Van Winkle and others on 
night duty randomly woke individuals up, screaming and shaking them, or 
forced other incarcerated people to beat elderly men with broomsticks.44 Fol-
lowing such incidents, the male attendants would slip back to their quarters, 
laughing at their prank. On one occasion, Herman witnessed a friend who 
had become sick in the evening and was laid down on another man’s bed. 
His hallmate “hollered & cried all night keeping the other patients awake on 
account of his anguish and pains.”45 Attendants argued with one another 
about how to respond to the man’s agony, but they provided little interven-
tion. In the morning, a shot of medicine was administered, but, according 
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Sections from James Herman’s ten-page 

handwritten statement detailing repeated 

incidents of staff abuse at Canton Asylum, 

ca. 1915. Photographed by Susan Burch 

and used with permission from Michael 

Herman and Douglas Herman and the 

concurrence of the Rosebud Sioux Tribe 

Tribal Historic Preservation Office.

to Herman and several staff members, it was too late. James Herman and 
others watched, powerless, as the man died before their eyes.46

Herman’s wrenching account was unique only in that it was preserved 
and transported beyond the Asylum walls.47 Overt violence and the threat 
of violence permeated life within Canton.48 Medical files and Asylum reports 
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to the BIA provide a fragmented mosaic of attacks. Filtered through staff 
reports, acts of intimidation—like shoving or charging at someone—usually 
escaped notice or may have seemed, comparatively speaking, insignificant 
or expected by institutionalized people. Incidents of staff mistreatment, like 
the harassment Herman referenced, appear regularly but marginally in in-
stitutional sources. Altercations that involved lasting physical damage or 
death appear as a well-worn path across the archives.49 James Herman and 
many people in the locked wards understood that assaults could erupt at 
any time, from many directions and from many people—including those 
detained nearby or those hired to oversee them. Targeted harassment repeat-
edly escalated into more aggressive violations. A population and location 
repeatedly singled out were the women locked in the Main Building.

Nellie Kampeska and Christine Amour shared the double bedroom on the 
second floor of the Main Building in the women’s ward. Located next to the 
stairway and with windows facing the yard, the room was especially accessi-
ble to predators. In early 1919, engineer Chad Endicott was observed verbally 
harassing and exposing himself to Kampeska while she was in the bedroom. 
It appears that Amour was present and directly harassed as well. According 
to Kampeska, the man had been entering the women’s ward for months, 
approaching her in the sewing room and bathroom, offering candy, alco-
hol, cigarettes, and promises to help her escape if she would have sex with 
him. Endicott sought out additional secluded places to corner the Sisseton 
teenager, including the basement, hedged areas on the grounds, and bath-
rooms.50 Threats followed in the wake of her refusals.51 Another employee, 
Walter Shephard, also regularly tried to coerce her into sexual relations, 
following similar strategies to Endicott.52 After her unsuccessful attempt to 
escape the Asylum, Nellie Kampeska penned a long affidavit attesting to the 
men’s actions as well as to other staff members’ complicity. A few months 
after Kampeska’s July 1919 discharge from the Indian Asylum, night watch-
men Louis Hewling and William Juel began entering the second-story wom-
en’s ward. Using the keys issued to them, the men regularly unlocked and 
entered the double bedroom, sexually assaulting Christine Amour and her 
new roommate, Agnes Caldwell.53

Sexualized violence permeated life on the inside of Canton Asylum for 
Kampeska, Amour, Caldwell, and others.54 Scant documentation remains 
to shed light on what happened to the women who were directly targeted, 
often by staff members. It is likely that many of the institutionalized peo-
ple recognized that sexual assaults generally were suppressed, downplayed, 



f a m i l i a r  75

or actively ignored by BIA administrators, as well as by Canton’s staff and 
superintendents. Responding to Nellie Kampeska’s testimony, for  example, 
Dr.  Hummer informed Washington that she was an unreliable source. 
Describing the nineteen-year-old as a “pathological liar” and possible “nym-
phomaniac,” he implied that she had fabricated or invited Endicott’s at-
tacks.55 He similarly blamed Agnes Caldwell for the assaults against her by 
Juel and Hewling, asserting that she was “over-sexed.”56 Consistently, the 
harassing employees were encouraged to quit their jobs. Across the Asy-
lum’s archival record, sources confirming employees’ voluntary departures 
sit alongside letters referencing their sexual exploitation of institutionalized 
people.57 The BIA regularly affirmed resignations over structural or systemic 
changes. “In view of the fact that all of the employees indicated . . . have left 
the institution,” Assistant Commissioner E. B. Merritt wrote to Superinten-
dent Hummer in 1919, “it is doubtful that anything further should be done.”58

No charges were brought against Endicott, Hewling, Juel, or any other staff 
member accused of violating people confined at the Indian Asylum.59

In this context, it is not unexpected that we have no direct testimony from 
Agnes Caldwell from this time period, despite her prolific correspondence 
in prior years. Neither are there written accounts from Christine Amour or 
most other survivors of sexual violence. Many factors, including fear of retri-
bution and language barriers, discouraged people from lodging complaints, 
and there is every reason to believe that many more such abuses occurred 
at the Indian Asylum than were reported. We know little about most of the 
people Canton detained during their time on the inside, a particular kind of 
patterned violence, unfurling, incremental, and buried.60

Agnes Caldwell, Elizabeth Faribault, James Herman, Nellie Kampeska, 
and others in the locked wards came to recognize that institutionalization’s 
persistent harms would not change. Dozens of individuals, including Her-
man, Kampeska, and Faribault, broke out, fleeing toward their homes.61 Like 
the majority of escapees, they were captured. Many also testified in letters 
to loved ones, formal petitions, and other declarations that challenged white 
administrators’ fraudulent claims that Canton and its staff were safe and 
nurturing.62 Kampeska, Faribault, Herman, Caldwell, and numerous incarcer-
ated people sought redress for wrongs against themselves and others on the 
inside. By so doing, they insisted on the humanity and dignity of the people 
similarly detained around them.63 Institutionalized peoples’ accounts repeat-
edly tell of malnourished and undernourished people; of people writhing 
in physical pain as employees watched; of anguish, terror, and the harm of 
solitary confinement; of sexual violence and abductions; and of tuberculosis 
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coiling children and adults. In a context of persistent harm, it is unsurprising 
that death was deeply familiar too.

In March 1912, after three years in solitary confinement, Emma Gregory 
died.64 According to Asylum medical reports, the forty-five-year-old’s un-
timely death was the result of pulmonary tuberculosis. It is unknown whether 
or when her brother and guardian, James Self, was notified.65 She was buried 
in an unmarked grave in the southeast section of the Asylum cemetery, next 
to a Diné woman whose cause of death similarly was listed as pulmonary 
tuberculosis.66 Long rows on either side of the women held dozens of people 
who had perished on the inside of Canton before Gregory—and would hold 
many dozens more who met similar ends after her.67

Emma Gregory’s Asylum medical files and those of other individuals obs-
cure a collective truth of institutionalization: death hemmed its daily edges. A 
practical reality that at least some people would not outlive their confinement 
motivated the creation of the cemetery where Gregory was buried.68 News of the 
Creek woman’s passing closely resembled that of others across the historical 
record of Canton. Crosshatching stories of individual deaths, perfunctory noti-
fications to the BIA, and annual mortality statistics closely followed the Indian 
Asylum’s opening in 1902 and continued unabated until its closure in 1934. 
In total, nearly half of the people forcibly removed to the Asylum—at least 189 
individuals—died there.69 Emma Gregory was among the 123 people listed as 
buried in Canton’s graveyard.70 More recent archaeological research suggests 
that at least six more individuals, as yet unidentified, are also interred there.71

As with Emma Gregory, staff doctors primarily attributed deaths to 
tuberculosis.72 Superintendent Hummer, who subscribed to the popular and 
erroneous settler belief that American Indians were inherently susceptible 
to contagious diseases, interpreted Canton’s high mortality statistics as the 
result of the “scourge of the human race, and more especially of the Indian 
race.” To him, the predictable outcome was rooted in racial pathology: “The 
result is that these patients must inevitably succumb.”73 Various medical 
observers at Canton and public health officials across the United States at 
the time offered a different interpretation, emphasizing that conditions in 
carceral institutions fueled the bacteria’s deadly reach.74 Mortality rates in-
side and immediately outside the Asylum reflected stark environmental dif-
ferences. Fewer than 3 percent of townspeople in Canton, South Dakota, died 
from tuberculosis at the same time the contagious disease was the listed 
cause for one-third of the fatalities inside the Indian Asylum. Like Gregory, 
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most of the individuals who died at Canton were young. The average age of 
death at the Indian Asylum was forty-two years old. The typical age when 
nonincarcerated people in the town of Canton died in this era was sixty-four 
years old.75 In short, institutionalization itself was lethal.

Only faint details convey how people detained at Canton Asylum experi-
enced death and dying—their own or those around them. The frequent loss 
of life directly and indirectly touched everyone there, albeit in uneven ways. 
For sisters Susan and Jane Burch, death and kinship intersected their daily 
lives. Regular staff updates describe a grief-stricken Jane crying frequently 
and pounding her arms on her head. The goiter on her neck, which slowly 
restricted her ability to breathe, concerned both sisters. Months into their 
shared detention, Susan began to experience irregular fevers and headaches. 
Her coughs resembled those of others who had contracted pulmonary and 
intestinal tuberculosis.76 She, too, was often found sobbing, sometimes un-
able to leave her bed. Mostly confined indoors, the Burch women spent their 
days in each other’s close company. Feeding one another became its own 
ritual. “Takes care of her sister” appears in both women’s medical files. So do 
details of their decline. Less than a year into their detention, the Southern Ute 
women each had withered to less than ninety pounds. One was described 
as “thin and pale. Losing weight. . . . Seldom complains.” The younger sister 
died first, in August 1913. She was returned to Colorado for burial.77 The elder 
sister survived another three years. No other details about the thirty-five- year-
old’s life or death are available, except that on March 1, 1916, she was buried 
in the Asylum cemetery, in the same row as Emma Gregory.78

Continued institutionalization threaded across the Burch sisters’ story, as it 
did all of the people confined at Canton. At the individual and collective level, 
lived time on the inside unfolded across months, years, and generations. 
For many of its confined members, medicalized institutionalization also ex-
tended past the Indian Asylum’s gates.79 A web of other federal and state 
facilities ensnared these Native elders, children, and adults.

For O-Zoush-Quah and George Leo Cleveland Marlow, the autumn of 1933 
began unremarkably. Both spent most of their days surrounded by other 
detained people in relentless hours of hallways, enclosed porches, dining 
halls, and dormitories. In early September, the elderly O-Zoush-Quah met 
briefly with Dr. Samuel Silk, a psychiatrist from St. Elizabeths Hospital in 
Washington, D.C., who had come to inspect the Asylum for a second time.80
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Standard interview questions were posed. Could she tell him about her family 
and home, how long she had been committed at Canton, and why? Twenty- 
five years had passed since her forced dislocation from her home on the 
Potawatomi Reservation in Kansas to the Indian Asylum. Language barriers 
and hovering staff, among many compounding factors, would have con-
stricted the exchange between the Potawatomi healer and the visiting doctor. 
Consulting O-Zoush-Quah’s fragmented medical files would have yielded 
letters from her daughters repeatedly seeking her release. In one exchange 
prompted by her kin in 1930, the BIA superintendent at the Haskell Institute 
advocated that O-Zoush-Quah be transferred to a facility in Topeka, Kan-
sas, so that her family could visit with her. Nearby in the folder would have 
been Superintendent Hummer’s recommendation (with BIA endorsement) 
against the transfer.81 Vague descriptions from staff reports—“does bead-
work” and “needs supervision of some sort”—may have prompted additional 
questions for the woman. Dark eyes perhaps flashed back at the examiner. 
Silk’s schedule filled with other interviews, the St. Elizabeths  representative 
concluded his meeting with O-Zoush-Quah and moved on.

George Leo Marlow was among the others Samuel Silk interviewed. To 
the stock questions, the Sisseton man likely offered few details about his 
family, whom he had not seen or communicated with directly for almost 
three decades. The lanky forty-eight-year-old usually gave brief answers to 
staffs’ inquiries, his head often turning back and forth as he spoke.82 Mar-
low’s medical file provided little insight into the man’s life. Ward attendants 
had described him as quiet and usually compliant. After Silk finished his 
brief assessment, Marlow returned to his daily regime: sitting by himself, 
sometimes watching and sometimes disregarding the others nearby, and 
looking at walls stained a yellowish hue from lives and years trapped inside.

O-Zoush-Quah and George Leo Marlow were among the many unnamed 
people Silk referenced in his subsequent report to the BIA. “Some of them 
never had any schooling, can neither read nor write,” the doctor noted by 
way of contrasting white settler society’s cultural norms with Indigenous 
ones. The inspector recommended that upward of half of Canton’s detained 
population could be discharged. He concluded that the others, to use the 
parlance of O-Zoush-Quah’s medical file, “needed supervision of some sort” 
in an institution. Joining colleagues from the federal psychiatric hospital in 
Washington, D.C., and an array of U.S. government agencies, Silk recom-
mended that the people be relocated to St. Elizabeths Hospital. It is doubtful 
that O-Zoush-Quah, George Leo Marlow, or any of the others confined at 
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Canton Asylum were apprised of Silk’s report or the plans to bring about their 
collective dislocation to Washington.

In the 1930s, shifting economic, political, and cultural factors motivated na-
tional leaders and BIA representatives to reconsider maintaining the Indian 
Asylum. As the Great Depression unfolded and New Deal politicians claimed 
ascendency, consolidation of federal power gained momentum. President 
Franklin Roosevelt’s new appointee to the Office of Indian Affairs, John Col-
lier, increasingly asserted that the Indian Asylum belonged to the “horse and 
buggy era,” connecting images of a bygone past to its western location. “The 
physical plant is condemned as being hopelessly archaic, and the adminis-
tration is condemned as sensationally inefficient,” the new commissioner 
proclaimed shortly after Silk had returned from his inspection.83 Contrasting 
itself with Canton Asylum, St. Elizabeths Hospital administrators and staff 
in Washington argued that their institution modeled efficiency and modern 
medical practices. The contests between the two federal psychiatric facilities 
underscored broad and familiar settler ableist practices. Invoking rhetoric 
of medical progress and competent institutional management, Samuel Silk, 
St. Elizabeths, and the BIA bolstered their authority and status. Responsible 
government and good medical practice, the logic went, necessitated in this 
instance the closing of one institution—Canton Asylum—to maintain and 
strengthen the broader medical system, which included St. Elizabeths Hos-
pital.84 Undergirding this process, settler ableism served to make continued 
institutionalization of diagnosed people seem essential and unquestionable.

News that the Indian Asylum might be shuttered prompted a former engi-
neer there, Norman Ewing (Sioux), to contact the BIA. Telegramming Com-
missioner Collier in October 1933, Ewing asserted that he had “first hand 
knowledge from observation most brutal practices under Hummer.” Years 
prior, Ewing—the only Native employee at Canton at the time—had sought 
to expose the inhumane conditions at the Asylum, conveying James Her-
man’s written affidavit to U.S. government officials and adding his own tes-
timony in person to BIA leadership in 1915.85 Administrators had responded 
by reassigning Ewing to a post at Fort Peck, Montana.86 Ewing nevertheless 
offered to assist the emerging effort to close the Asylum: “Can testify or send 
you copy of record abuses observed while employed there if same of value to 
administration.”87 Commissioner Collier and Interior Secretary Harold Ickes 
released Ewing’s testimony alongside details from earlier Asylum reports 
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that described conditions as “sickening” and spotlighting transparently in-
humane treatment, such as a child chained to a steam pipe.88

Not surprisingly, Superintendent Hummer and many of Canton’s towns-
people opposed the unfavorable depictions and plans. Insisting that pre-
tentious easterners were meddling in matters they did not understand or 
that officials were exceeding federal jurisdictions, they insisted that Asylum 
staff were dedicated and effective caregivers to otherwise helpless Native 
Americans. Although visits from relatives of institutionalized people had 
been discouraged, the Asylum’s closer proximity to many reservations was 
invoked as benefiting members of Indigenous nations within and outside of 
South Dakota. Legal brawls ensued over the next several months, as local 
representatives clashed with Washington about the future of the Indian Asy-
lum.89 Ultimately, the federal government dismissed Dr. Hummer, replacing 
him temporarily with a physician and superintendent of the Pipestone Indian 
School in Minnesota who was directed to oversee Canton’s closing and to 
transfer the majority of the people held there to St. Elizabeths.90 Modern 
medical understandings and social and scientific efficiency, federal officials 
proclaimed, had promoted deeper insight, enhanced trustworthiness, and 
promised real solutions to the persistent threat of mental illness. The BIA 
returned seventeen people deemed not to have “sufficient mental derange-
ment” to their homes.91 Celebrating what he claimed was true democracy, 
Commissioner Collier cast the decision to close Canton Asylum and relocate 
most of its institutionalized population by the end of 1933 as an indication 
of a “New Deal” for American Indians.92 The Washington Post described the 
seventy-one American Indians being sent to St. Elizabeths as being “freed.”93

O-Zoush-Quah, George Leo Marlow, and the many Native people around 
them, however, experienced a very different story, one both familiar and un-
settling. News of the Indian Asylum’s closing glossed over the reality that 
institutionalization would continue for many people held in its locked wards. 
Some may not have been aware or understood that they were being trans-
ported to another psychiatric facility hundreds of miles away, but these real-
ities became swiftly apparent. The locked quarters where they had lived for 
years hummed with activity on Wednesday, December 20, 1933. Attendants 
ordered individuals to pack their belongings and assist others in anticipation 
of the transfer. As evening approached, staff from St. Elizabeths Hospital 
escorted the Prairie Band Potawatomi woman and the Sisseton-Wahpeton 
man, along with sixty-seven others, out of the buildings. The group traveled 
the two miles to the train depot on foot, flanked by local onlookers.94 Some 
of the Native people, a young observer later recalled, expressed anguish 
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and disorientation as the serpentine line approached the seven Pullman 
cars awaiting them.95 At least one individual who resisted walking was car-
ried onto the train.96 Women wrapped in blankets, bars on train windows, 
and fragmented exchanges with those being removed jumbled together in 
subsequent accounts of the night. Later, as the train hurtled eastward, peo-
ple spent hours grouped together in isolated carriages under the guarded 
supervision of hospital staff—continued institutionalization in mobile form. 
We know nothing about the Indigenous group’s conversations, questions, 
or imaginings that filled the two days before they arrived in Washington and 
were consigned to the locked wards of another federal psychiatric hospital.97
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Chapter 5: Continuance

If I had to discuss the ideas and name them, I would call 
them continuance—the remembrance of times, places, 
and people; the knowing of those times, places, and people 
through imaginative acts; and finally, the going on, the 
telling of the stories.
—Amanda J. Cobb (Chickasaw Nation), Listening to Our 
Grandmothers’ Stories

As the railcar pulled into Washington’s Union Station in December 1933, repre-
sentatives from St. Elizabeths Hospital likely met O-Zoush-Quah, George Leo 
Marlow, and the sixty-seven other former detainees from Canton Asylum, es-
corting the travelers onward to the facility in the southwest region of the District 
of Columbia.1 Since its opening in 1855, St. Elizabeths had served as a central 
hub in federal psychiatric institutionalization and research.2 Crossing the fenced 
threshold, the group entered what would have seemed like a small city. The 
Government Hospital included nearly one thousand acres and incarcerated 
upward of five thousand people in its expansive constellation of buildings.3

During her intake, O-Zoush-Quah stared blankly at hospital staff.4 Her 
responses to their line of questions confounded the interviewers. She mum-
bled, perhaps in Potawatomi, which employees described as “unintelligible.”5

Personnel recorded that the woman before them disclosed hearing “voices 
talking to her but will not give any ideas as to what they say.”6 Frustration 
surfaced. When asked “how are you?” O-Zoush-Quah responded pointedly, 
“Old, no good, can’t get out.”7

Eight decades later, O-Zoush-Quah’s grandson Francis Jensen (Kitch-
Kum-Me) sat in his living room in Holton, Kansas, looking at family por-
traits adorning the walls. Born in 1923 in the house that had belonged to 
O- Zoush-Quah, he had grown up on the Potawatomi Reservation.8 Studying a 
painted photograph on the wall near him, Jensen described his grandmother 
as “a pretty lady with her dark hair parted slightly to the right and brushed 
neatly behind her ears. The picture, her deep brown eyes look at me winsomely 
and the suggestion of a smile curves her lips.” Her dress also stood out to him. 
“A white brooch trimmed with silver holds the high collar of her white blouse. 
A long narrow scarf embroidered with beads and a geometric design encircles 
her neck.”9 O-Zoush-Quah’s descendant, like others of his generation, came of 
age under her sepia likeness. In his mind’s eye, Jensen had continued to hold 
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her in a moment of beauty, in a time when she was among her people. Meeting 
the framed gaze of his grandmother, the ninety-one-year-old man pondered in 
a soft voice “what Grandmother had done to be sent away.”10

Francis Jensen smiles gently, sitting in his living room in Holton, Kansas, 

2014. Family photos, including a framed oval portrait of his grandmother 

O-Zoush-Quah, hang on a nearby wall. Photograph taken by Susan 

Burch and used with permission of Francis Jensen and Jack Jensen.
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Throughout her lengthy incarceration and since, O-Zoush-Quah and her 
family viscerally understood that institutionalization was never finite or dis-
creet. The elder Potawatomi’s rebuttal to staff’s questions—“Old, no good, 
can’t get out”—and Jensen’s trailing question about why the U.S. govern-
ment had taken her away carry remnants of the harmful, cross-generational 
effects of extended time in institutions. For this family and countless others, 
the forces that enabled Canton Asylum’s creation in 1902 extended far past 
its closure in 1933. O-Zoush-Quah and her relatives continued to bear the 
consequences of institutionalization during her transfer to St. Elizabeths 
Hospital and detention there for many years after. The slow violence of her 
incarcerations wove into the worlds of subsequent generations as well.

“I wonder what her life was like,” Jensen mused while looking at her 
portrait. The retired barber knew that his grandmother was medicine, 
someone from whom others had sought blessings and healing. Physically 
uprooted from her Indigenous world and deprived of virtually all vestiges of 
Potawatomi lifeways, O-Zoush-Quah experienced daily harm in the name 
of Western medical care. Perhaps Jensen’s mind flew to specific incidents 
obliquely recorded in her hospital file and to the physical marks left on her 
body—slight lacerations, bruises, and other discolorations.11 Describing her 
as “excited most of the time” and “very cross amongst other people,” hos-
pital attendants had viewed her struggles through a pathological lens and 
imposed amplified isolation in response.12 During November and Decem-
ber 1941, staff forcibly secluded the octogenarian for an average of fifteen 
hours almost every day.13 In stark contrast, family members viewed O-Zoush-
Quah’s documented attempts to take a nurse’s keys, the yelling and running 
around the rooms, the arguing and tearing her clothing, and her continuing 
to speak Potawatomi as legible acts of refusal.14 From an imposed distance, 
Jensen recounted, her kin sought to support her. When staff wanted to bob 
the healer’s long hair, for example, her daughters refused to grant consent.15

They continued to petition hospital administrators, demanding her return 
to them.16 O-Zoush-Quah’s children held on to her eagle feather bundle, to 
her quilt pieces, and to their memories of her. Some held on to one another, 
raising Francis Jensen and O-Zoush-Quah’s other grandchildren among their 
extended family.

When news arrived from St. Elizabeths that O-Zoush-Quah had died, her 
family made plans for her return to the Potawatomi Reservation. According 
to one relative, she was laid to rest in July 1943 at the “family burial ground 
in a wooded area about an eighth of a mile from her home.”17 Like many of 
her extended family, O-Zoush-Quah had followed the Drum Religion, and 
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the community honored the Potawatomi healer with a vigil. “The Drum ser-
vice lasted all night and until the late afternoon of the next day,” Francis 
Jensen later recalled. O-Zoush-Quah’s grandson remembered the “hypnotic 
drumbeats” that echoed across the area, vibrating across his body even as 
he drifted into sleep.18 In Jensen’s world, his ancestor remained both absent 
and present, surfacing partly and poignantly in memories, photographs, and 
healing feathers that he received and passed on to the next generation. For 
O-Zoush-Quah’s kin as for many others, inheritances—imposed, dislocated, 
and claimed—lace together across place, time, and people. For the family 
of George Leo Cleveland Marlow, the multitude of institutions spanning de-
cades and thousands of miles came close to severing kin connections.

Sifting through boxes of family photographs and mimeographed letters, Joe 
Rabon described the accounts of his great-granduncle George Leo Marlow 
as a silhouette rather than a portrait, the edges of the person shaded by an 
endless maze of institutions. “It has been like listening to a river of other 
languages around you, yearning to know what they mean but not under-
standing it,” he explained.19 Following the imagined river, interlocking mem-
ories across time and places, Rabon sketched the contours of Marlow’s early 
years: a childhood in the 1890s among his Sisseton-Wahpeton kin in Dakota 
Territory, a fall down stairs that damaged his bodymind, a family adapting 
and struggling.20 No records remain that detail the BIA’s removal of Mar-
low from his family, but by 1905, the nineteen-year-old was listed at Canton 
Asylum. He remained in its locked wards until the institution was shuttered 
in December 1933. Rabon never learned how his ancestor experienced the 
Indian Asylum’s closing, but for him, it was bittersweet: “After surviving 
the wretchedness of Canton,” he pointed out, “Leo was transferred to St. 
Elizabeth’s Hospital in Washington, D.C.” In Rabon’s account, other insti-
tutional corridors shaped subsequent chapters in Marlow’s story, including 
campuses of federal prison-hospitals in Texas and Kentucky. In their wake, 
St. Elizabeths loomed again. Reflecting on the expanse of places and the de-
cades the federal government detained his ancestor, Rabon shook his head. 
It was simultaneously unbelievable and predictable. “You can’t make this 
up,” he quipped.21

With an aged photograph of the family homestead on the Sisseton Res-
ervation nearby, Rabon reread Marlow’s 1933 St. Elizabeths admissions file. 
“I live in the little white house with the bay window,” George Leo Marlow 
apparently told the doctor.22 According to the report, he then broke into 
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laughter. Personnel did not know why. Rabon chuckled with recognition, 
imagining Marlow both teasing and refusing to go along with the interview. 
His great-granduncle had answered confidently that the hospital was located 
in Washington, D.C. A big White House was only a few miles away. Rabon’s 
wide smile narrowed as he absorbed the remaining medical notes describing 
Marlow’s “tense” and “unchanging” facial expressions. His moment of “in-
appropriate laughter” had ended with imposed and claimed silence. George 
Leo Cleveland Marlow did not—or would not—say more about his relatives 
to St. Elizabeths’s inquiring staff members.

As Joe Rabon saw it, repeated themes call loudly in Marlow’s biography. 
Forced dislocation, disruption, and confinement underscored the erosion 
of self-determination for Marlow, his family, and their tribe—to remain, to 
leave, to return. A photocopied letter in Rabon’s hand, dated May 30, 1942, 
informed Marlow’s family that he had been transferred from St. Elizabeths 
to an even larger federal enclave four miles outside of Fort Worth, Texas.23

Marlow’s siblings likely had no idea that other Native families had received 
similar notices. According to a report at the time, mobilization for World War 
II had “caused a let-up in the normal intake of patients at the federal Narcotic 
Farm at Fort Worth, enabling the government to send insane Indians that 
are from St. Elizabeths Hospital.”24 Marlow was moved with at least nineteen 
others who had inhabited the locked wards with him in South Dakota and 
Washington, D.C.25 Years later, Joe Rabon wondered what his ancestor would 
have shared about the experience.

To George Leo Marlow, who had spent nearly four decades institution-
alized, the Texas facility may have seemed both familiar and strange when 
compared to Canton Asylum and St. Elizabeths. Five main buildings, includ-
ing dormitories and dining rooms, as well as a quadrangle yard defined the 
closed-off area.26 According to one Fort Worth staff member in the 1950s, 
the Public Service Hospital was “almost campus-like in appearance.”27 At 
the same time, its carceral mission dictated everyday life for Marlow and the 
other people detained there. Inside the yellow brick dormitories with red tile 
roofs, the fifty-seven-year-old man from South Dakota would have looked 
through barred windows made to resemble Spanish wrought iron.28

Joe Rabon recoiled at the almost certain likelihood that his great- granduncle 
underwent additional admissions procedures. This would have included a 
physical examination and the beginnings of new medical files. Narco–Fort 
Worth’s regimented life echoed Canton and St. Elizabeths: hours were set 
for waking up, bathing, eating, exercise, medical tests and treatments, and 
sleep. The institution’s signature focus on drug use heightened surveillance 
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of people detained there. Labor undergirded the hours.29 At once a common 
and exceptional member of this imposed community, Marlow may have been 
treated differently when it came to vocational expectations.30 Recorded as 
unable or unwilling to provide labor, George Leo Marlow probably spent the 
next two years in the more confined spaces of dorm rooms and sitting areas 
while younger, able-bodied members of his group assisted with the animals 
and crops on the farm or worked in the industrial shops and kitchen. Rabon 
wondered how Marlow felt in early 1944, when he and other Native men were 
transferred from Fort Worth to the other federal Narcotic Farm in Lexington, 
Kentucky.31 Perhaps the disruption was welcomed—changing scenes accom-
panied by the smell of outdoor air, the Texas campus shrinking into the dis-
tance. Arriving in Lexington, Marlow would pass through a stone archway 
and iron gates, entering another vast complex with “miles of corridors” and 
“acres of floor space.”32 Nearly 1,300 institutionalized men and women were 
held at the facility at the time he was escorted to his locked room, inspected 
for contraband, and given a supervised shower. The explicit prison underpin-
nings of Narco-Lexington filled the spaces between the mortar and up the 
towering walls.33 Unlike others whose sentences to the Narcotic Farms were 
finite, Marlow and his aging American Indian hallmates were not expected to 
leave the bounded federal system. Their number dwindled over time in the 
wake of death rather than discharge.34

After six years inside this fortified compound, George Leo Marlow and 
other surviving members were transferred to St. Elizabeths again.35 Almost 
 certainly, the Sisseton man would have undergone yet another formal ad-
missions process and asked nearly identical questions to the previous intake 
at the Government Hospital. No remaining conversations are recorded in 
the historical archive—silence echoes on silence. “It was here,” Rabon ex-
plained, holding the hospital campus in his mind’s eye, that “Leo spent the 
remainder of his life.”36 According to St. Elizabeths records, Marlow died un-
expectedly at the Washington facility on February 22, 1961.37 He was seventy- 
six years old. Many barriers, including limited resources, Rabon surmised, 
likely contributed to the family’s decision to bury Marlow in Washington 
rather than in South Dakota.38 Smiling wryly, he suggested that his ancestors 
chose the historic Congressional Cemetery as a quiet act of dissent—placing 
their kin beyond the reach of St. Elizabeths’s campus and its own sprawling 
cemeteries.39

A century after the BIA removed his great-granduncle to Canton, Rabon 
returned to the Asylum grounds. For him, attending annual honoring 
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ceremonies at Canton’s cemetery became a way to extend his family’s con-
nection to Marlow. Looking around at others whose ancestors also were de-
tained at the Indian Asylum, Joe Rabon shared remembrances and questions 
about their entangled histories. Drawn to Bois Forte Chippewa historian Kay 
Davis, he scanned her handmade map, its slender strings connecting every 
tribal nation with members incarcerated at the Indian Asylum. Fingers swept 
down from Sisseton’s pinpoint, tracing George Leo Marlow’s forced dislo-
cation southward to Canton. In Rabon’s imagined atlas, additional threads 
extended his family’s story to Washington, Fort Worth, Lexington, and 
around to Washington again. Davis and Rabon registered the constellation 
of  centers— prescribed, contested, and claimed—in shared knowing looks.

A few hundred feet away and eight decades earlier, four-year-old Cora Wi-
nona Faribault had walked down the steps of Canton’s Main Building and 
entered employee Clara Christopher’s automobile.40 Having rarely (if ever) 
left the confines of the Asylum grounds before, the young girl might have 
wondered about the worlds that passed by her window in the summer of 
1930 as they headed to the southwest. Neither Faribault nor Christopher 
left behind records of the two-day trip that spanned 1,200 miles, leaving 
question marks trailing after likely landmarks: the box-shaped Tséhootsoof 
(Bonito Canyon), strewn with Arizona cypress and oak trees; the south- 
flowing Be’ek’i[d]  Halchííd’ęę’nlíní (Black Creek); and the majestic sandstone 
of Tségháhoodzání (Window Rock). With few stops along the way, the two 
drove into the ancestral lands of Faribault’s alleged father, Willie Dayea, who 
remained institutionalized at Canton Asylum. Eventually, the car rumbled 
down a dirt road leading to a stone chapel. Having arrived at Arizona’s Fort 
Defiance Agency, Christopher delivered the little girl to representatives from 
another institution created to contain Native people: Good Shepherd Mis-
sion Orphanage.41

By the time she reached her seventeenth birthday, Cora Winona Faribault 
would be sheltered and confined by several more institutions,  including a 
 Navajo Methodist boarding school, white households where she was con-
signed to domestic service, a Navajo reservation, and a home for unwed 
mothers. While locations and expressed missions of each place varied, com-
paratively little changed in Faribault’s closely scripted world.42 The mostly 
non-Native adults scrutinized her, judging the extent to which she met (or 
failed to meet) their expectations—what she wore, how she spoke and with 
whom, where she went, and how she behaved.
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By institutional design, domestic chores threaded across Faribault’s young 
life at the mission orphanage and schools: tidying up beds and shared bath-
rooms, washing clothing items, and running errands for white staff mem-
bers.43 Like Lizzie Red Owl and a generation of other Native girls before her, 
she was assigned work through the “outing system,” an assimilationist pro-
gram that placed adolescent American Indians in white settler households 
and farms to provide manual labor.44 Faribault spent the summer of 1943 
working in a private home in Iron Springs, Arizona.45 Echoing the compulsory 
service that her mothers, Elizabeth Faribault and Lizzie Red Owl, earlier had 
rendered at Canton Asylum, she performed cleaning and laundering tasks 
for each of the institutions that housed her.46

Later generations of the Faribault family would wonder about the cumu-
lative damage of institutional life on their ancestors.47 The relocation from 
Canton to the Arizona orphanage, as just one notable experience, clearly 
had terrified Cora Winona. Orphanage employee Ruth Harmon later recalled 
the small child’s early experiences: “The bundle of nerves she was, like a 
little, frightened animal.” The new environment seemed filled with potential 
threats. “The slightest noise would send her scurrying to some hidden cor-
ner.” Harmon and others would “spend hours searching for her, and all the 
time she would be within hearing.”48 Growing up inside multiple institutions 
compounded Faribault’s sense of alienation. She had limited exposure to 
cross-generational Indigenous family life, to its lived obligations, expecta-
tions, and relations.49

As she grew into young adulthood, Cora Winona Faribault struggled to 
find out to whom she belonged and what her family story had been. Although 
she received regular allotment funds as a recognized member from an en-
rolled Sisseton-Wahpeton Oyate family, she knew little about her Dakota 
kin and had to rely primarily on BIA representatives for details. Cora Win-
ona sought clarity about her parentage. Confessing to a BIA agent, “I never 
really knew my mother’s name,” she had the impression that it may have 
been Rose. More confidently but inaccurately, she asserted that her birth 
year was 1925 (it was 1926). Filling out her ambiguous origin, the teenager 
“guessed,” perhaps optimistically but erroneously, that she had been born at 
the Sisseton Hospital.50 Kinship questions reverberated across the Faribault 
family. Cora Winona’s older brother Solomon initially was skeptical of the 
news that his mother had given birth during her detention at Canton. He, 
too, was compelled to seek authentication from the BIA and Asylum officials. 
For many years after, Cora Winona and Solomon only knew of one another 
through federal agency sources.
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In their own ways, Cora and Solomon Faribault worked to close the gaps 
that institutionalization had laid open. Engaging BIA representatives at 
Sisseton, the seventeen-year-old probed around the edges of her known kin. 
Initially, she asked whether field agent Diamond Roach knew her brother. 
Later, she asked whether Roach “had heard from my Brother or seen him 
around yet.”51 Over time, the younger Faribault urged the agent to pass 
messages to Solomon, inviting him to contact her directly.52 Solomon appar-
ently sought greater connection to his sister as well. At one point, Elizabeth 
Faribault’s oldest child had suggested to Roach that Cora move to Sisseton 
after completing school, a choice the Indian Service representative consid-
ered “a mistake.” The field agent discouraged Cora Winona from pursuing 
this  option because he believed she was “not acquainted with this part of the 
country and with the Indian people of this reservation.”53 Roach counseled 
her to “stay in Arizona” and pursue work there.54 She had little choice but 
to wait.

Faribault also rebelled. As she entered young adulthood, Cora Winona in-
creasingly collided with mission regulations. Perhaps she—like many Ameri-
can Indian students at boarding schools—bristled at the staff’s expectations, 
particularly of the young women.55 School personnel at Window Rock re-
peatedly rebuked her for drinking. Describing Faribault’s teenage years as 
“one escapade after another,” people in charge of her care blamed the young 
woman’s heredity. “Her heritage is bad, pathetically sad,” Ruth Harmon as-
serted, emphasizing that Cora Winona had been a child born out of wedlock 
to institutionalized Native parents. Disappointedly, Harmon continued, “as 
she reached adolescence the traits of her parents became apparent, and now 
you have a dipsomaniac to handle.”56 At one point, the Child Welfare Court 
was contacted to intervene with Faribault, although the exact circumstances 
remain unclear.57 One mission employee who had known Faribault for years 
concluded that additional experts—social workers and clergymen—were 
needed to help manage her.58

The revelation in early 1945 that Cora Winona Faribault had become preg-
nant prompted a flurry of conversations with Good Shepherd representatives 
and a new round of interventions.59 Only recently arrived in Phoenix, the teen-
ager had been working for room and board while also taking classes at a local 
public high school.60 Mission and school administrators envisaged a  singular, 
domestic path ahead of her, pressing the young woman to  disclose the likely 
father’s name and urging her to marry him or another willing suitor.61 Ulti-
mately, none of these outcomes came to pass. Absent nearby kin on whom 
she could rely, and with limited other resources, the expectant mother and 
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those advising her wondered alike where she would live as her pregnancy 
advanced and who would help her. Returning to Window Rock would have 
been rejected summarily; Indian boarding schools typically excluded and 
expelled pregnant students. Fort Defiance staff also did not appear to want 
Faribault to give birth at the mission. Administrators quickly dispatched her 
plans to graduate high school. “Of course she is stopping [her studies] at 
once,” one mission observer assured the others.62 As with her mother Eliz-
abeth’s pregnancy in 1926, those supervising and surveilling Cora Winona 
used the logic of settler ableism to deem her pregnancy as evidence of her 
inherent defectiveness, considering her a problem that had to be solved. For 
mission and school authorities, solutions to the problem required fellow 
“experts”—peers trained to staff other kinds of institutions—who would 
know best what Faribault needed and would be positioned to ensure that 
the teenager conformed to expectations. It went without question that more 
institutional intercession was needed.63 Guided by mission representatives, 
Faribault was consigned to the Phoenix Florence Crittenton Home.64

The home for unwed mothers that Faribault entered in the spring of 1945 
was part of a national network of residential care established by Christian 
evangelicals in the early 1890s and endorsed by the U.S. Congress.65 To Fari-
bault, institutional benevolence and coercion mingled familiarly at the house 
on Garfield Street. She saw daily the “seven foot woven wire fence, mounted 
with three strands of barbed wire sloping inward,” that surrounded the build-
ing. The padlocked iron gate was, according to Crittenton’s director, “kept 
locked day and night.”66 Even its administrator admitted that the Phoenix 
facility was like “a virtual jail.”67 The Crittenton Home’s multiple interlocking 
purposes—as a shelter to unwed pregnant females and to juveniles deemed 
delinquent by the court, a temporary school and vocational training space, 
a mission outpost, and a health clinic—pointed toward regimentation and 
an emphasis on Christian femininity.68 Cora Winona Faribault and the others 
housed at Phoenix’s Crittenton Home likely followed a longstanding sched-
ule: “From 7 am to 9 pm our girls are taught self-control; sportsmanship; 
consideration; courtesy; honesty and cleanliness; to love and worship God 
and a belief in prayer; to love and admire all things beautiful that God has 
given us and to be grateful for all blessings.”69 On Saturdays, there were 
obstetrical examinations.70

During her time at the Crittenton Home, Cora Winona Faribault strained 
against the isolation from the people who had known her since childhood.71

She maintained correspondence with classmates serving abroad in the war, 
probed for details about her girlfriends at the Navajo Methodist High School, 
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and planned to attend their graduation.72 As she entered her third trimester, 
Faribault also increasingly pursued her birth family’s dislocated history. She 
requested records of her mother’s death, believing she had caused it during 
childbirth. Consultations with the Crittenton doctor had honed her fears that 
she, too, might have a dangerous medical condition, that “the same thing 
might happen to me.”73 The BIA superintendent at Sisseton swiftly dismissed 
Faribault’s health concerns, noting that her own delivery had been unre-
markable and that her mother had “suddenly passed away at the Asylum” 
two years afterward. He signed off by reminding the enrolled tribal member 
to send her child’s birth certificate for the agency to record and expressed 
confidence that she would “recover quickly” and that both mother and child 
would “do well.”74

It would appear that Cora Winona Faribault envisioned a different trajec-
tory for her life than had the Good Shepherd Mission staff or BIA admin-
istrators. As her Dakota relatives had for generations, Faribault drew links 
between kinship and place. Penning her imagined future in a letter just weeks 
before her baby was born, the teenager emphasized her desire for a closer 
connection to her maternal ancestral home, to Sisseton. “I hope to return 
there to live someday,” she wrote.75

On May 27, 1945, Cora Winona Faribault gave birth to her first child, whom 
she named David Howard Faribault.76 Mother and son remained at the Phoe-
nix Home for the next year.77 As was common policy at Crittenton Homes, 
Faribault received childcare support at the same time she was expected to 
learn a marketable trade.78 It is probable that she attempted to complete her 
high school education while a resident at the home, but the local institutions 
rebuffed her efforts. Shortly after David’s first birthday, Cora Winona Faribault 
returned to the Fort Defiance area, intending to work and support her fam-
ily.79 By June 1946, she was living in a dormitory and working as a laundress 
at the Navajo Medical Center in Fort Defiance.80 Establishing herself and her 
child, however, proved untenable. One of Faribault’s descendants later sur-
mised that the community at Fort Defiance “didn’t accept her and the baby. 
She realized she wouldn’t have a good life for her or the baby.”81 Extant letters 
depict the significant stress Winona Faribault experienced as she considered 
her present and her future.

Seeking to find stability and support for her child, Cora Winona Faribault re-
turned to the Phoenix Florence Crittenton Home in the fall of 1946. Standard 
protocols would have prevented her from an extended stay. Despondent, the 
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young mother approached Social Services.82 As was increasingly common at 
the time, the Social Services adviser advocated placing her American Indian 
child into a white adoptive family.83 The boy’s mother, like most women in 
similar situations at the time, was encouraged also to consent to a closed 
adoption, meaning that the birth parents’ names would remain confidential 
and sealed.84 As a procedural matter, the social worker would have insisted 
on an alleged or actual father’s name. Cora Winona Faribault may have tried 
to adapt to these pressures, including the reality of relinquishing her one-
year-old, by claiming a particular patrilineage for the boy. Faribault’s son was 
recorded with a Diné last name but an anonymous father.85 As decisions 
about David’s future increasingly were made by others, Cora Winona’s place 
in his story became obscured.86 Her decision to leave Arizona for the Los 
Angeles area not long after likely was shaped in part by the cumulative losses 
in Fort Defiance, Window Rock, and Phoenix.87

The white couple from Scottsdale who eventually adopted David— Edward 
and Myrtie Abrahams—never met the woman who appeared only as  “Winona 
Faribault” in the court record. The Abrahams probably had been told that the 
child was part Indian and his documented last name gestured to a Diné 
father.88 They likely concluded that his mother was white.89 David’s Dakota 
relatives still are unsure how much he knew about their shared ancestry. As 
with many adopted children, David expressed a spectrum of feelings about 
his birth family.90 At times, he declined opportunities to learn more about 
his roots and his adoption, but on other occasions, he expressed interest in 
knowing more about his heritage. According to his childhood friend Steve 
Roth, David had looked for his father, whom he believed was Native Amer-
ican, “but the court records were sealed.”91 As an adult, David became a 
volunteer with Navajo Nation, his older brother Edward Abrahams later ex-
plained, because “he was dedicated to helping others find their way and 
maybe come to know a world they did not understand nor how to cope with 
its complexities.”92 It remains unknown whether David tried to find his birth 
mother, or how much he even remembered about her.93

Those who knew Cora Winona Faribault described the deep mix of grief 
and curiosity about her son that continued to wash over her.94 Her eldest 
 daughter recounted, “It was very hard on her to give up the boy. . . . She was 
brokenhearted from the loss.”95 Perhaps hoping that her firstborn had joined 
the military—as so many of her high school classmates had—she repeatedly 
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visited the Long Beach Naval Shipyard, scanning faces for signs of recogni-
tion.96 An in-person reunion was never realized in her lifetime. Cora Winona 
Faribault died in Los Angeles in 1964.97

David’s other siblings—Cora Winona’s younger children—mostly grew up 
unaware that their mother had another son. Echoing their Uncle Solomon 
and own mother a generation earlier, Caroline Jean Kiger-StClair and Faith 
O’Neil began looking for the older brother listed in Sisseton rolls as “David 
Faribault.” “I had the feeling that he was alive,” O’Neil remembered, but “I 
didn’t know anything about him.”98

With the help of a professional investigator, Cora Winona’s younger chil-
dren eventually found news of their sibling. The discovery was bittersweet. 
David, they learned, had died of cancer a few years earlier.99 Turning and re-
turning to the inherited memories of Cora Winona and David stirs continued 
feelings of regret, hope, and wonderment in the family. Faith O’Neil began 

Cora Winona Faribault O’Neil pauses from hanging laundry in her backyard to 

pose for the camera, ca. 1959. Her geometric-patterned halter dress, black high-

heeled mules, and carefully coiffed, short, wavy hair exemplify what her daughter 

Faith called “an impeccable sense of style.” Courtesy of Faith O’Neil.
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piecing together her family’s story from before Elizabeth’s forcible removal 
to Canton, through Cora’s upbringing in orphanages and mission schools, 
to after her mother’s detention at the Crittenton Home. A familiar pattern of 
recovering and remembering began to surface.

Seated at the kitchen table in the home where Cora Winona had raised 
her, Faith O’Neil placed her hand on a thick scrapbook. Plastic sleeves sur-
rounded the postcards of locations she had visited while researching family 
history. On nearby pages, copies of letters to archives, historical societies, 
and the U.S. military mirrored one another: “I am trying to locate a half-
brother who I have never known. His name is ‘DAVID FARIBAULT’: May 
1945.” Simply, his sister continued, “That is the only information I have about 
him.”100 Anticipating bureaucratic barriers, O’Neil had begun adding, “If you 
cannot release information to me and you are able to contact him in some 
way please tell him I am his half sister and he may write or call me collect.”101

Reaching for family, she asserted her claim: “We have the same mother.” 
Cora Winona’s daughter turned the scrapbook pages.

Tucked alongside allotment maps and copies of her mother’s handwritten 
letters are photographs that O’Neil, pausing, revisited slowly. One of Cora 
Winona, likely taken in the 1950s, captures her in an impeccable dress, pin-
ning laundry on the clothesline, her high-heeled shoes sinking slightly into 
the grassy backyard. Another, more haunting black-and-white image shows 
her seated in front of the house, looking off in the distance.102 Images of Faith 
O’Neil as a child, paternal grandparents standing nearby, stare back. News-
paper clippings and photographs of David, found on the Internet, followed. 
The weight of the scrapbook pulled the contents closer to one another. Still, 
for O’Neil, the swelling archive remains incomplete.
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Chapter 6: Remembering

I think about my grandmother a lot. She was afraid that 
nobody would care about her. . . . She probably thought 
during her life that nobody would care when she was 
gone because she already wasn’t valued at Canton. . . . 
Her family cared and tried to get her out, but since they 
couldn’t, she worried that she never mattered, that she 
wouldn’t matter. . . . I want her to know that I won’t ever 
forget her. It’s more than that: I’ll always remember her. 
I know she remembers me, too.
—Faith O’Neil, reflecting on her grandmother, 
Elizabeth Alexis Faribault

Stepping from her car, Faith O’Neil breathed deeply, questions trailing after 
her. Flanked by her friends Lucy Smego and Manfred Hill, she climbed 
the steps leading up and into the Craftsman bungalow that had housed 
Superintendent Hummer and his family during his tenure at Canton Asy-
lum.1 Elizabeth Faribault’s granddaughter paused in the living room, remem-
bering her ancestor tending to an elderly Levi Hummer. O’Neil thought of her 
grandmother cleaning these floors and laundering the family’s belongings 
up until her own child—Cora Winona (Faith’s mother)—was born. Tracing 
her grandmother’s footsteps, Faith O’Neil searched for signs of Elizabeth 
Faribault and answers to her own questions.

As she approached the stairs to the basement, O’Neil was overcome. 
Fear, grief, and longing wailed forth. She wept. “Grandma if you’re with me 
please talk to me,” Faribault’s granddaughter pleaded, “I’ve come a long 
way to look for you again.”2 A question followed her gaze down the stairway: 
what had happened to Elizabeth here? She already knew part of the answer—
“Something awful.”3 Past and present blurred as she sought to reconstruct 
moments from her grandmother’s time within this house. Moments when 
the superintendent would have been alone with her. Moments that Elizabeth 
Faribault’s descendant feared and needed to remember.

The years of Harry Hummer’s proximity to Elizabeth Faribault, his knowl-
edge of her, and his claims on her and on her behalf outraged her descen-
dant. “There isn’t a word in English yet that is awful enough to describe 
him and what he did,” O’Neil asserted.4 “I think you used my grandmother 
like a slave and kept her from her own family and her own people,” she 
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yelled out loud, hoping her message would carry to the late superintendent. 
She persisted, anger mounting. “Her name was Elizabeth Alexis Faribault. 
And I believe you got my grandmother.”5 O’Neil’s voice strained while nam-
ing trauma her ancestor endured, “She wanted so much to get back to her 
family.”6 Supported by the BIA, Dr. Hummer always blocked the way. Faith 
O’Neil has continued to hold Hummer responsible for Elizabeth Faribault’s 
death. She holds him responsible for the trajectory of her family’s story, for 
her mother Cora’s birth. The visit to Canton, like other rememberings, has 
brought hurt and continued questions.

Back in her home in California, Faith O’Neil picked up a black-and-white 
photograph from the 1920s. The mother and daughter stand in the fore-
ground on what appears to be a late spring day. A portion of a water tower 
rises up in the background, brick buildings flanking it. Elizabeth Faribault 
stands erect, her right arm at her side. Her bobbed haircut shadows part of 
her face. Her expression appears both intense and obscured: is she angry, 
exhausted, resigned? Young Cora Winona holds firmly to her mother’s left 
hand. A bonnet covers most of her hair, save for a small lock sweeping down 
the center of her forehead. A buttoned coat covers most of her white shirt and 
white stockings. The toddler looks back directly at the camera, unsmiling.7

Faith O’Neil returned the gaze. Murmuring that Cora—her parent—“had 
her mother’s arms; they both have such long arms,” the Faribault descendant 
nodded approvingly.8 The “cynical look” on the elder Faribault’s face pulled 
O’Neil back to the moment on film. Thinking about the hostile environment 
of the locked wards, she noted that her grandmother “took care of my mother 
when she was a baby. She was very attentive to my mother.”9 Looking at her 
grandmother and mother, Faith O’Neil wondered who had stood behind the 
camera. She wanted to know too: How did her two institutionalized family 
members experience all of their moments together before and since the 
shutter had clicked?

O’Neil placed the photo back on the table. Her decision to shield the pho-
tograph from public view reflects an intentional act of honoring. Recognizing 
how few choices Elizabeth Faribault could make independently while incarcer-
ated at Canton, her granddaughter has insisted that the image remain private. 
Each morning and evening, O’Neil looks upon the picture and remembers 
all her ancestors. She thanks Nellie Kampeska for helping sustain her grand-
mother during their shared detention. “Lizzie Red Owl,” O’Neil acknowledged, 
“brought my mother up for . . . the remaining time she was at Canton.”10

Some of the kin relations remain cloudy. Fathers. Grandfathers. The people 
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inhabiting her family story, as Faith O’Neil has experienced them, create a 
complicated web of relationships—imposed, contested, contradictory, miss-
ing, treasured, yearned for, and imagined. For her and many others for whom 
institutionalization is a cross-generational lived history, there is no full account 
or a full accounting.11 “It makes me wonder how many relatives I have living 
around me that I don’t even know about,” O’Neil has said matter-of-factly.12

An array of Faribault family keepsakes surround the vintage photo-
graph, including a copy of Elizabeth’s 1922 letter to relative David Maza-
kute. Faith O’Neil has memorized one of the lines—“is ci koda tuwena 
waamiciyataninsni”—and its English translation.13 “You said that nobody 
ever thought about you or cared about you,” O’Neil said to the letter, to her 
grandmother.14 She has read Faribault’s handwriting, the letter’s contents, 
and the stories between the lines as a kind of remembering into the future. 
Elizabeth’s granddaughter answered back, her own voice, presence, and 
searches countering the erasure Canton Asylum inflicted on them both. “We 
won’t forget you,” O’Neil assured her ancestor, “we’re trying to make things 
better for you.”15 She has often wondered what loved ones called her grand-
mother during her lifetime. In the silence wrought by institutionalization, 
O’Neil has offered a new Dakota name: Mićaŋté (“my heart”).16 Smiling at 
Elizabeth, at the belonging between them, O’Neil affirmed, “I am so happy 
to be your granddaughter.”17

Faith O’Neil has continued to seek Faribault family history—her history. As 
she described it, the search for kin and memories of them has been both “in-
tense” and “incomplete.” “I went looking for David,” his sister explained, “and 
I found out about Grandma. Elizabeth.”18 Remembering for this family has 
pulled to many places: the Sisseton Reservation, Canton, Fort Defiance, a scat-
tering of marked and unmarked gravesites. Searching for her grandmother’s 
remains, trying to find out what happened to her at Canton and how she died, 
has continued to infuse O’Neil’s life. “She’s always with me in spirit,” O’Neil 
said, her eyes flashing as she nodded. “I’ll never quit searching.”19

Many descendants have shared the reality of living with unanswered 
and unanswerable questions, and, even so, they have continued seeking. 
Fari bault’s kin looked for connections to their ancestors beyond the walled 
perimeters of Canton Asylum and state and national archives. For others, in-
cluding the family of O-Zoush-Quah, many of the stories were close to home.

Jack Jensen (Prairie Band Potawatomi) stood at a distance, taking in the 
landscape of calico fabric and embroidered names of his kin on the quilt. 
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Surrounding sky blue medallions, small pink and peach daisies unfurl 
alongside other plants in burnt yellow, bright red, and soft green. Names 
and patterned petals spread across the squares like a family garden. Some 
call the quilt pattern Dresden Plate, but a slightly older name seems more 
apt: Grandmother’s Sunburst.20 Caught like a cotton skyscape in midmove-
ment, the four-foot-by-six-foot span of swirling colors and names appears 
animated, like planets rotating, orbiting one another, continuing beyond the 
fabric edges of their universe.

The family quilt’s story extends far beyond the current edges too. Like 
many Native American women who came of age in the late nineteenth cen-
tury, Jensen’s great-grandmother O-Zoush-Quah had honed her beading 
and sewing skills under the watchful gaze of her female elders, their crafts-
manship and stories intermingling with her own.21 In subsequent decades, 
O-Zoush-Quah’s own daughters likely swayed in baby hammocks made 
from their relatives’ piecework.22 As the girls grew up, they would watch their 
mother transform scraps of fabric into new shapes, absorbing lessons about 
family and quilting.23

Shortly after the BIA forcibly removed O-Zoush-Quah to Canton in 1908, 
her daughters drew on these memories to sustain themselves and to sup-
port their mother. On behalf of the family, Shack-To-Quah (Nettie Hale Tork) 
wrote to the Canton staff, registering their desire for O-Zoush-Quah’s re-
turn. Explaining that “of late years she’s not worked on beads, but did piece 
quilts,” her children asked that she be given supplies to do patchwork as 
a means of passing the infinite time and loneliness of her detention.24 In 
letters referenced but not preserved, O-Zoush-Quah’s daughters may have 
explicitly conveyed, too, that they wanted her quilt pieces sent to them. It 
is likely that the Potawatomi elder intuitively knew this to be true. Daughter 
Pah-Kish-Ko-Quah kept her mother’s hand-sewn sunbursts all of the years 
of her exile.25

At her home on the Potawatomi Reservation, Pah-Kish-Ko-Quah cre-
ated additional quilt squares. Filling hours marked by fabric strips, worn 
scissors, thread, and imagination, Mary Hale Jensen—as she was known 
to many of her neighbors—rounded out additional medallions and petals, 
penciling names of family members on the backs of flour sacks before 
stitching them on the top layer.26 In all likelihood, she began with her 
mother’s English name—Maggie Hale—adding herself and her siblings 
around the central plate. Fingers running across cloth and thread, the 
mother and daughter left traces for others to find and follow generations 
later.
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For O-Zoush-Quah’s descendants, the quilt is a storyteller, an archive, medi-
cine.27 As Jack Jensen explained, imagining is an act of healing. In her hands, 
the institutionalized Potawatomi woman grew a quilt that could cloak or hold 
her children, her grandchildren, her great-grandchildren, and beyond. Jensen 
imagined his grandmother Mary visiting with the quilt pieces, layering them 
in a cardboard box in the 1920s, imagined her son Francis quietly looking at 
the family portrait of O-Zoush-Quah that hung on the living room wall.28 He 
wondered: Did Mary resist sewing the squares together as she waited, hop-
ing that her mother would still return to assist in this final assembling? After 
both women had died (O-Zoush-Quah in 1943, Pah-Kish-Ko-Quah in 1968), 
the box remained untouched for nearly five decades. Jensen could picture 
the quilt squares passing down from attics to younger hands until the fall of 
2017, when he inherited them.29

Looking at the contents of the box spread across the dining room table 
and considering the possibility of assembling different patterns brought him 
back to haunting questions. Like his father, Francis, Jack Jensen had long 
wondered about O-Zoush-Quah, “what she had done to be taken away.”30

An awareness of the violence common within asylums troubled him as well. 
What had she endured? From his ancestor’s vantage point, institutionaliza-
tion had meant something completely different than the archival reports Jen-
sen had read.31 He realized that his elders never forgot the Potawatomi healer 
and never accepted that the U.S. government knew better than they what was 
best and right. O-Zoush-Quah’s present absence shifted, her challenges to 
asylum staff and locked wards becoming legible everyday acts of defiance, 
refusal.32 Nodding at the revelation, Jensen stated plainly, “the problem was 
never the person—O-Zoush-Quah—or being Potawatomi.”33 In the name of 
Western medicine and care, he recognized, the BIA had taken O-Zoush-Quah 
away from her family and tribe.

Like his great-grandmother before him, Jack Jensen was drawn to work 
as a healer. For most of his adult life, he pursued a career in orthopedic 
surgery away from Potawatomi lands, people, and traditions. Returning 
to Indigenous practices as an older adult created new spaces to address 
cross-generational wounds. Jensen’s father, Francis, had shared with his el-
dest son O-Zoush-Quah’s healing eagle feathers. The plumes—dark tips and 
dappled vanes—fanned outward; soft leather strands wrapping the quills 
draped downward, swaying gently in Jensen’s hand. In a vision quest, his 
connection with his great-grandmother strengthened. She welcomed him, 
claimed him, and remembered him.34 Since then, Jensen has continued to 
meet O-Zoush-Quah in dreams, in stories, in family photographs, and in her 
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healing feathers that he stewards now. Through remembering, Jensen has 
remained engaged in a healing process that includes his ancestors past and 
others yet to come.35

The choice to compose a full quilt from the inherited pieces extended 
this family’s story. A half-sunburst anchoring the top portion of the quilt 
now explicitly names the ancestor around whom the patchwork has grown: 
orange needlepointing spells out “O-Zoush-Quah.” Rising from the bottom 
hem, a half-sunburst answers, completing the circle pattern. In pink embroi-
dery, “Pah-Kish-Ko-Quah” / “Mary Hale Jensen” is honored.36 The threaded 
tributes and their placement in the design tie O-Zoush-Quah closely to her 
 family, countering what years of institutionalization had wrought. Incorpo-
rated into one of the medallions, Jensen also had added “Bodewadmi” as 
well as its English translation, “Keepers of the Fire.” Explicitly connecting 
ancestors with the name Potawatomi call themselves, the assembled quilt 
expands, telling new stories within older ones.37

Ellen Lofland and Jack Jensen exhibit the brightly colored piecework made 

by Jensen’s ancestors and assembled into a quilt by Lofland. Photograph 

taken by Alexanderportraits.com, 2019. Courtesy of Jack Jensen.

http://Alexanderportraits.com
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On a fall weekend in 2019, Jack Jensen invited others to join him in cele-
brating the quilt and its story. He displayed what he has called the “ancestry 
project” at his ranch outside of Houston, an invitation to seek connections 
with sacred spaces, dreams, ancestors, and history.38 As with many cere-
monies honoring Indigenous relations, stories join people across families, 
communities, generations, and nations.

Thirty years earlier and hundreds of miles away, Lakota activist- journalist 
Harold Iron Shield, hand outstretched, welcomed other ceremony 
attendees.39 Familiar faces nodded their recognition or smiled invitations 
to newcomers. The group then turned, walking slowly toward the unmarked 
graves.40 An inscription on a modest bronze plaque nearby registered 120 
names of  American Indians buried in the Canton Asylum cemetery.41 Iron 
Shield and the others began to pray. Many people shared stories. Elders 
recalled spiritual men and women they had known who were exiled to the 
Asylum’s locked wards, individuals who never returned. Some offered 
memories passed down to them about young people being taken away 
to the Indian Asylum. Others remembered teachers at boarding schools 
wielding the specter of Canton in the face of resistant children.42 Seeking 
to restore “a spiritual connection to our relatives who died,” the journalist 
from Standing Rock and the others who had joined him affirmed, “These 
ancestors know they are not forgotten, that their memories are cherished 
and held up, that what happened to them will no longer be hidden from 
view.”43 Surrounding the cemetery, manicured hills and putting greens re-
flected the afterlife of the Indian Asylum: in 1948, the town converted the 
property into the Hiawatha Golf Course.44 Over the two decades that Iron 
Shield coordinated  ceremonies—from 1987 until 2007—on the former 
campus of the Asylum, Native kin from across the United States, along 
with their supporters, gathered to remember the people buried between 
the fourth and fifth holes.

For many kin, this kind of remembering is a returning—to stories, to peo-
ple, and to places that hold both. Some descendants have described their 
first visit to the Asylum grounds as “a return.” They followed the traces of 
their ancestors’ lives and presence at Canton, threads that tie them also to 
this site. It is a fraught reunion.

As many family members have experienced it, the Indian Asylum was 
“more of a prison atmosphere for Indian people who resisted living on the 
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reservation,” a place “erected to imprison spiritual leaders and students of 
government boarding schools who did not conform to government policies 
of the early 1900’s.”45 In Canton Asylum, one relative asserted, the BIA had 
“a place to send their troublemakers, and cemented their omnipotent power 
over our Nations.”46 It followed a familiar pattern: “This is a classic example 
of what the government did to Indians,” Harold Iron Shield remarked.47 Kin 
mourned that “many of those who are incarcerated suffered from beatings, 
sexual abuse and inhumane conditions.”48 Standing on the site where her 
Mandan, Hidatsa, and Arikara Nation ancestors had been forcibly detained, 
Pemina Yellow Bird imagined them crossing the threshold into the Main 
Building. “They must have been frightened, deeply traumatized, at finding 
themselves locked up in such a cold, hateful and foreign place, so far from 
home and family.”49 Looking across the graves and noting that “a lot of peo-
ple from different tribes are buried here,” Ivan Looking Horse (Cheyenne 
River Sioux Tribe) added, “A lot of them died horrible deaths.”50 Story by story, 
the legacy of institutionalization at Canton extended beyond tribal and tem-
poral boundaries, cascading into the present day. As Iron Shield explained at 
the tenth annual ceremony he facilitated, “Many of the family members still 
are living in pain and grief over this unjust situation.”51

Standing on the former asylum grounds, Harold Iron Shield (second from left) addresses a 

group in 1998 about Native people’s lived experiences there. Through educational events 

such as this, honoring ceremonies, and his many newspaper articles, the activist-journalist 

sought to reaffirm “a spiritual connection to our relatives who died” at the Canton Asylum. 

For Iron Shield and others, reclaiming the cemetery has remained an active expression 

of Native self-determination. Photograph by Lloyd Cunningham. Courtesy of the Argus 

Leader. Relatives of Harold Iron Shield granted permission for use of this image.
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When repatriation and psychiatric survivor activist Pemina Yellow Bird 
accepted Iron Shield’s invitation to attend an honoring ceremony in 2000, 
she carried with her ties to broader social movements and overlapping com-
munities targeted by settler interventions.52 Cemeteries like Canton’s, Yellow 
Bird claimed, laid bare the damaging impact of wide-ranging U.S. institu-
tions, including those that specifically targeted American Indians (such as 
boarding schools and orphanages) as well as psychiatric hospitals in whose 
walled campuses Native and non-Native people had long struggled and 
often perished.53 The human rights advocate from Fort Berthold recognized 
the Indian Asylum’s unmarked gravesites surrounded by a golf course as 
the material and symbolic process of elimination and replacement. Yellow 
Bird’s collaborator Pat Deegan, a national leader in state hospital ceme-
tery restoration and reclamation work, similarly viewed the harms perpet-
uated by institutionalization at Canton as distinctive but also familiar. She 
joined her colleague at the ceremony in support of the “collective recovery 
as devalued people.”54 For Pemina Yellow Bird, a commitment to Native 
self- determination guides the path forward. “We must then tell our stories 
of loss, of violation, of what happened to us, and we must at long last grieve 
those things; we must determine how the past informs us, is part of who 
we are, and how it walks with us every day of our lives as Native people.” 
She added pointedly, “We must determine for ourselves, based on our own 
original teachings and instructions, what we must do to care for ourselves.”55

As a living process, rituals commemorating the people institutionalized at 
Canton continue to take different forms. Organized walks, drumming and 
prayers, and visits by Native nations delegations have marked important kin-
ship connections over the years.56 In the wake of Harold Iron Shield’s death 
in 2008, others have planned gatherings in small and large scale. For several 
years, Lavanah Judah, whose relatives were confined at both Canton Asylum 
and St. Elizabeths Hospital, coordinated ceremonies at the South Dakota 
cemetery.57 Reaching across differences and trying to build strong and en-
during cross-tribal ties has been at times, according to the Yankton advo-
cate, “painful, hard work.”58 As Judah and others acknowledge, the honoring 
events have not included everyone with shared Indigenous connections to 
the Indian Asylum.59 As is often the case with social movement efforts, orga-
nizing remains a work in progress. Still, observances honoring the hundreds 
of people involuntarily committed to Canton and the thousands more im-
pacted by institutionalization have provided focal points to fortify community 
relations that had been frayed or broken. For American Indian historians Kay 
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Davis and Anne Gregory, who met at one of the Canton gatherings, practices 
of remembering have generated new kinship ties as well as new ways to un-
derstand their Indigenous pasts and possible futures.

Anne Gregory attended the 2013 honoring ceremony in Canton longing to 
know more about her ancestor, feeling heartbroken by some of what she had 
already found, and keenly aware that the story was incomplete.60 She lingered 
at the gravesite of Emma Gregory, hoping to close the distance that violence, 
time, and geography had placed between them. Joining others afterward, 
Anne Gregory was drawn to Kay Davis’s map, its vectors of colored threads 
spreading out from each reservation that had members forcibly institution-
alized at the federal asylum. Anne traced a line from Creek Nation to Canton, 
marking Emma’s experience. “My great-great-grandmother, Emma Gregory, 
is buried in the cemetery,” the Oregon relative explained, gesturing toward 
the area beyond the split-rail fence behind them. Davis smiled knowingly, a 
quiet invitation. Anne continued, “She has one of the more terrible experi-
ences in Canton.” She added, shaking her head, “Emma Gregory was listed 
in one of the reports for being left in a room with no windows, strapped to a 
bed for very long periods of time, getting no normal sun or fresh air. She re-
ceived not just poor care but also neglect.”61 Anne reflected on the revelation 
of Emma’s institutionalization and the rippling ramifications it has had on 
her own life. They were “echoes that travel through a family over generations 
when something violent happens.”62

Kay Davis nodded in recognition and began sharing details gathered 
during her own genealogical research of Emma Gregory. Discrepancies be-
tween their understandings of the Creek woman’s past surfaced, and the 
two moved closer, as if to bridge the historical fissures. Returning to another 
center on the map, the historian from Nett Lake threaded archival work back 
to her own family story. Learning as a teenager that her father was an enrolled 
member of the Bois Forte Chippewa, Davis was drawn to better understand 
genealogy—her own and her tribe’s. She earned a degree in Native Ameri-
can studies and applied that training to tribal-acknowledgment work.63 The 
process had honed her skills in the archives; it also underscored the distance 
between sources generated and preserved by the U.S. government and the 
lived histories of American Indians.64 Kay Davis’s insights resonated with 
Anne Gregory, who felt that the conversation united both their individual 
stories and their broader Indigenous histories. On the grounds where their 
ancestors had been detained and had perished, a spark passed from elder to 
younger: Anne Gregory headed back to Oregon to pursue an undergraduate 



106 c h a p t e r  s i x

degree in history and Native American studies.65 “I wanted to do what Kay 
had done,” she later reflected. “I wanted to pursue genealogy and research 
to empower Native families.”66

As Anne Gregory and Kay Davis experienced it on that spring day in 2013, 
remembering is a practice that creates new connections across geogra-
phies and generations.67 In this genealogy of learning, reciprocity, and self- 
determination, Gregory now claims kinship not only to her Creek ancestor 
detained at Canton Asylum but also to Harold Iron Shield, Pemina Yellow 
Bird, Kay Davis, and countless other Indigenous witnesses, survivors, and 
storytellers. “It’s like a circling,” she explained in conversation, her voice 
trailing off.68 Native ancestors past, present, and emerging fill the quiet.69

Their active presence attests that the ongoing settler project of erasure and 
replacement, while profoundly destructive, has not fully succeeded.

Davis, Gregory, and numerous other Indigenous people directly affected 
by Canton Asylum and institutionalization know that theirs is a story of 
violence, trauma, and tragedy. It is also necessarily a story of survival, resis-
tance, and transformation, a living process that Anishinaabe scholar-author 
Gerald Vizenor calls “survivance.” He writes, “Survivance is the continuance 
of stories, not a mere reaction, however pertinent. . . . Survivance stories are 
renunciations of dominance, detractions, obtrusions, the unbearable sen-
timents of tragedy, and the legacy of victimry.”70 Many relatives of people 
incarcerated at the Indian Asylum have described their continued existence 
as the counterstory to institutionalization’s sustained violence. Writing to 
other Bois Forte Chippewa Tribe members, Davis once detailed her day- 
to-day practice of survivance through her role as their historian: “So life is 
busy, doing the work of love, history of our people, and meeting with many 
of you.” Kinship sustained this lifework. “I appreciate your help, your encour-
agement, and most of all, your desire to maintain the records of our Tribe,” 
she declared.71

Gregory’s dreamscape ahead has led to the classroom. The entangled 
history of institutionalization and settler colonialism is an axis along which 
her teaching of Indigenous North American history travels. “What I usually  
do . . . is bring to class a postcard that used to get handed out,” she explained. 
The iconic early twentieth-century image has “white scratch- writing on the 
bottom” identifying the Canton Asylum for Insane Indians.72 “I  introduce it as 
a physical place, I ground it in the history of the place,” Gregory continued, 
“and then introduce the people and the dynamics.”73 She tells the students 
about her great-great-grandmother Emma, the world she inhabited in the 
locked wards, and her unsurprising and horrifying death from tuberculosis. 
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Connecting history to the present day, Gregory shares the challenges in piec-
ing together her family’s story—“the practical implications of genocide.”74

For her, remembering Emma Gregory immediately brings to mind surviv-
ance. “I think about this a lot,” she noted, her voice picking up tempo. “As 
a teacher and mentor . . . I end up taking it forward.” She paused before 
adding, “Some days I think it’s the only thing you can do.”75
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Epilogue: Telling

Indigenous survival as people is due to centuries of 
resistance and storytelling passed through the generations. 
. . . This survival is dynamic, not passive. Surviving 
genocide, by whatever means, is resistance: non-Indians 
must know this in order to more accurately understand the 
history of the United States.
—Roxanne Dunbar-Ortiz, An Indigenous Peoples History 
of the United States

In the summer of 2016, Faith O’Neil accepted the invitation of Mary Garcia  
(Tohono O’odham Nation) to come to Arizona and share her family’s story with 
Gila River Indian Community leaders. Mentored by Tohono O’odham elders 
in traditional healing, Garcia had been collaborating with educators, health 
advocates, environmentalists, and Native leaders across the United States to 
foster sustainable healing practices for communities harmed by violence.1 The 
two women had met a year earlier, in 2015, at an honoring ceremony at Canton.2

Unaccustomed to public speaking, O’Neil expressed concern that she might 
disappoint or that she might not be believed.3 Garcia assured and clarified, not-
ing that Tohono O’odham Nation and Gila River Indian Community members 
also had kin forcibly institutionalized at Canton Asylum. Telling stories, teach-
ing others about their lived pasts, was fundamental to promoting community 
well-being, Garcia emphasized. “We need this information to identify what 
happened to us—to our relations,” the traditional singer and healer continued, 
“and through those shared events . . . that will support . . . healing efforts.”4

On a clear day in June, the two women sat waiting before the meeting, 
awash in the stories that had carried them there. Feeling Elizabeth Fari-
bault’s presence, Garcia began to tell O’Neil: “Your grandmother, Elizabeth, 
is standing right near you. She’s in a long dress. And she wants you to know 
that you are where you need to be.” Faith locked eyes with Mary, nodding with 
recognition. More words tumbled forth. Garcia later recounted that Elizabeth 
Faribault “gave Faith the name ‘Shining Star, my Bright Star.’” The Dakota an-
cestor also reminded her granddaughter of her purpose. “Never ever forget. 
. . . You’re put together so that you can share and be able to do this, because 
it needs to be done.”5 The message echoed in their mutual tears, longing, 
and gratitude. Faith O’Neil and Mary Garcia breathed deeply, feeling to their 
bones that stories bind them across generations with ancestors.6
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A few minutes later, inside a brightly lit meeting room flanked by tables, 
Garcia introduced O’Neil to the cultural council members.7 Faith O’Neil 
began her story. “I told the elders about my mother being born at Canton. 
My grandmother spending most of her life there,” she later recalled. “Some-
one said that they had relatives there, too,” she added. Like her, “They want 
their loved ones back.”8 As she offered more details about her family and 
the impact the Indian Asylum had on all of them, O’Neil felt enveloped with 
memories and feelings. “It’s very emotional for me to talk about it to others,” 

In this close-up portrait from 2015, Faith O’Neil wears a deerskin dress 

and dangling rose-beaded earrings, her windblown hair brushing her right 

shoulder, a resolute expression on her face. For O’Neil, this image captures 

her commitment to finding her grandmother, Elizabeth Faribault, who was 

forcibly taken to Canton Asylum in 1915. Courtesy of Faith O’Neil.
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she explained. Some elders sought guidance on how they could find their an-
cestors’ stories. Others wondered aloud how O’Neil carried the responsibil-
ities inherent in knowing these histories. Faribault’s granddaughter nodded 
as she described how learning about Elizabeth’s life now propels her own 
story. Mary Garcia and the others thanked her, explicitly recognizing Faith 
O’Neil’s story as a gift that contributed to Gila River Indian Community’s 
own self-determination and healing work. “It’s like a healing for me, too, I 
believe,” Faith O’Neil concluded.9

Mary Garcia, wearing a bright orange-red dress with black-and-white ribbon trim,  

stands in front of a monument in Botachee, Saskatchewan, Canada, 2019.  

She visited the Metis Reserve for the Missing and Murdered Women’s 

Tribute as part of her work supporting sustainable healing practices for 

communities harmed by violence. Courtesy of Mary Garcia.
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As many people impacted by institutionalization see it, their storytell-
ing is a component of medicine, of regeneration, and of enduring kinship. 
Narrating these stories—what Mary Garcia also has called “truth-telling”— 
counters the structures and cycles of violence that settler colonialism 
maintains. “When I talk to Faith,” Garcia added, collective understanding 
strengthens their insights and their sense of kinship. “She’s from that expe-
rience” and “still carries that . . . the memories, the effects . . . knowing that 
these individuals did that to her grandmother, her mother.”10

Learning more about the people who lived side by side with their kin at 
the Indian Asylum, descendants frequently report, makes each story bigger 
than they had been in isolation. In this expanding shared history, heartbreak, 
recognition, and comfort stitch memories and families tightly together. Re-
calling her visit to the Canton Asylum cemetery, Mary Garcia remembered the 
graves of Indigenous healers from many nations and bearing witness to the 
incarcerated children who still haunted her dreams and visions. She thought 
of Faith O’Neil and others standing nearby, their pasts and present intertwin-
ing. Recognizing the many others tied to this story has reminded Garcia and 
O’Neil of the humanity denied, claimed, and carried across time and space.

Storytelling by the people whom institutionalization has harmed under-
scores another truth: the violence of Canton Asylum was collective as well 
as individual. “This story is not the only one,” Mary Garcia has insisted. The 
institution’s reach then and now is propelled by the ongoing structures of 
settler colonialism. Other relatives of Canton’s institutionalized people have 
repeated similar refrains: what happened to their kin at the Indian Asylum 
is inextricably tied to other forms of settler efforts to eliminate Indigenous 
people, lifeways, and histories, including the widespread abuses and deaths 
of boarding-school children, missing and murdered Indigenous women and 
girls, and the disproportionately high rates of incarcerated Native people.11

Canton Asylum is one point along an arc of Native people’s history marked 
by living and dying and surviving amid settler colonialism. “I want to get 
people together to realize that it’s not just our tribe but it’s every single Indig-
enous person,” Mary Garcia explained, her voice rising, “It’s all connected.”12

It is also unfolding. There is ongoing work to name, to heal, and to enable 
future tellings. This adds urgency to Garcia’s truth-telling. As she has under-
stood it, “these stories are kind of a key to everything”: to counter erasure, to 
honor ancestors, to be self-determining people.13 As many Indigenous elders 
have underscored, once stories are shared, it is up to the readers and listen-
ers to respond—to feel the stories, grasp them, and allow them to guide us 
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into action.14 As Pemina Yellow Bird has affirmed, “I, for one, also prayed for 
the strength and guidance I would need to tell the story . . . tell it again and 
again, so that our people could empower and heal ourselves through the 
telling and that we would use the memory . . . as a rallying point.”15 In her 
dreamscape, and in those of many other descendants, this telling-healing 
galvanizes Native communities and nations and imagines pathways into 
Indigenous futures.16
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